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America

Brazil

Canada

Mexico

USA

Asia / Oceania

Australia

Indonesia

Japan

Singapore 

Europe

Germany

France

United Kingdom

Italy

Poland

Portugal

Russia

Sweden

Spain

Czech Republic

Turkey

22 production and sales locations

16 additional assembly and sales locations

Profitability indicators in % 2017 2018 2019

Return on sales 4.8 3.8 2.4

Return on equity 7.8 5.5 2.7

Total return on equity 5.0 4.1 3.0

At a 
glance...

[ € million ] 2017 2018 2019 ∆ 18-19 in %

Sales revenues 689.7 699.0 675.3 -3

Foreign sales ratio in % 75 76 75

EBITDA 83.1 72.8 66.3 -9

EBITDA margin in % 12.0 10.4 9.8

Depreciation and amortization -38.4 -40.6 -45.2

EBIT 44.7 32.2 21.1 -34

EBIT margin in % 6.5 4.6 3.1

Financial result -11.2 -5.1 -4.9

EBT 33.5 27.1 16.2 -40

Consolidated net profit 26.2 18.6 9.4 -49

Earnings per share in € 1.69 1.20 0.61 -49

Number of shares 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731

Additions to fixed assets 42.7 47.5 36.4

Balance sheet total 842.6 844.5 780.3 -8

Equity 349.2 353.2 354.6 -

Equity ratio in % 41.4 41.8 45.4 +3.6 pts

Net financial debt at 31 December 190.0 197.5 179.9 -9

Gearing (level of debt) at 31 December in % 54 56 51 -5 pts

Average number of employees for the year 3,091 3,329 3,217 -3

Number of employees on 31 December 3,295 3,304 3,174 -4
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Group structure

The operating management of the Group 

is based on a cross-product sector ap-

proach. The Business Unit DECORATIVES 

offers a holistic approach for the wood-

based and furniture industry while the 

Business Unit PROFILES with its skirt-

ings and technical plastic profiles con-

centrates on the interior furnishing sec-

tor. The companies for individual special 

applications are grouped in the Business 

Unit TECHNICALS.

Technicals

Profiles

Decoratives

Impregnated products
Plastic foils
Hybrid and genuine metal foils

Skirtings
Technical extrusions
LED Strips

Edgebandings based on paper and plastic
Finish foils based on paper
Decorative printing 
Release papers

SURTECO GmbH

Decoratives

SURTECO 
 Beteiligungen

Technicals

BauschLinnemann 
North America

SURTECO 
Australia

Kröning

SURTECO 
UK

SURTECO 
Asia

DAKOR Döllken
Czechia

Döllken
Poland

SURTECO 
Italy

SURTECO 
France

Gislaved Folie Nenplas-Gruppe
UK

SURTECO 
USA

SURTECO 
Turkey

SURTECO Art

Döllken Profiles

Profiles

Canplast
Mexico

50 %

85 %

SURTECO Group SE

SURTECO 
USA/Canada

SURTECO 
Russia

Proadec
UK

Proadec
Brazil

Chapacinta
Mexico

SURTECO 
Spain

Probos 
Portugal

Business Units
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Business Unit

Decoratives
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The Business Unit Decoratives comprises 
SURTECO GmbH and its subsidiaries and 
offers a holistic system and a product 
portfolio supplying professional solutions 
from a single source that is unique in the 
world.

Sectors
Wood-based materials, household and 

office furniture, flooring, caravan fittings, 

doors

Products 
•	 �Edgebandings based on paper and 

plastic for narrow-sided coating of 

wood-based materials

•	 Finish foils based on paper for lami-

nating wood-based materials. 

•	 Decorative prints for intra-Group 

refinement of finish foils or for further 

processing of melamine surfaces

•	 Release papers/release foils as 

surface-styling tools for melamine 

surfaces
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Technicals
Business Unit
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As a specialist supplier, Kröning GmbH 
markets styling elements for interior 
design. Technically sophisticated position 
prints, patina designs and strass effects 
(rhinestone) based on paper, plastics or 
genuine metal are examples of the power-
ful product range. 

Sectors
Caravan, household furniture

Products 
•	 Multilayer hybrid foils made of genuine 

metal and PVC for unusual accents in 

furniture design

•	 Position prints for finish foils or 

melamine edgings as a special styling 

element
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The thermoplastic foils from  
Gislaved are found in a wide range of 
different sectors. They may be used as 
technical foils for medical or industrial 
products, in ship’s cabins or woven into 
plastic carpets. The products of the 
specialist provider Gislaved are found on 
every ocean and on every continent. 

Sectors
Flooring, interior furniture and fittings 

for ships, domestic furniture

Products
•	 Plastic foils for hard-wearing sur-

faces, technical applications and for 

further processing to form plastic 

carpets

•	 Customer-specific industrial and med-

ical applications

•	 Fire-retardant decor foils
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As one of the leading manufacturers of 
surface refinements, Dakor completes 
the Business Unit Technicals. Melamine 
overlays, and printed flooring decor and 
furniture decor films provide premium and 
hard-wearing surfaces. Balancing and 
core-layer papers complete the product 
range as a full-service provider.

Sectors
Flooring, household furniture

Products 
•	 Impregnates and overlays for mela-

mine surfaces

•	 Balancing materials

•	 Core-material paper
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Profiles
Business Unit
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The Business Unit Profiles combines the 
manufacture of plastic-based skirtings, 
extruded LED tapes and technical plastic 
extrusions (profiles). The supplied sectors 
are as diverse as the product and design 
selection.   

Sectors
Interior design, craft trade, industry, 

caravan, flooring

Products
•	 Skirtings

•	 Technical extrusions (profiles)

•	 LED tapes
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Foreword by the Management Board
Dear Shareholders and Friends of our Company,

We have generated Group sales of € 675 million and 

thus achieved our projected result for the business 

year 2019. Against the backdrop of restrained de-

velopment in our core sectors – the furniture and 

wood-based industry – and taking account of the 

fact that we sold our North American impregnating 

operations with an annual volume of approximately 

€ 33 million in July 2019, we achieved satisfactory 

sales development. 

Operating EBIT of € 40.5 million is also in the fore-

cast corridor. However, we are significantly adrift of 

our medium-term target of € 55 to 65 million with 

this result. 

New alignment of the Group

With this background in mind, we decided to make 

some wide-ranging structural adjustments at the end 

of 2019. These are directed towards further stream-

lining of Group structures while also driving forward 

comprehensive investments in some future-oriented 

projects. We want to serve the markets in Spain and 

Turkey directly and this will further streamline our 

the decision on the proposal to the Annual General 

Meeting relating to the net profit in the amount of  

€ 6.2 million (this would amount to a dividend of  

€ 0.40 per share). The date of the next ordinary An-

nual General Meeting is also currently being reviewed. 

Outlook

Although the structural adjustments will lead to a 

lower result in 2019, together with the strategic in-

vestments they will form the foundation for our fu-

ture growth. The full-width digital printing system is 

particularly worthy of mention among the ground-

breaking investments. We have been using digital 

printing intensively for a long time now and we have 

gathered a great deal of experience. We now have 

the know-how to launch a dedicated concept for 

full width. In conjunction with other investments in 

surface refinement – one of our core competences 

– our objective with these measures is to increase 

EBIT to between € 55 and 65 million over the medi-

um term. Unfortunately, the dynamic development of 

the ubiquitous coronavirus pandemic renders a con-

crete forecast for the business year 2020 impossible. 

corporate structure. The reduction of approximately 

175 jobs in the overhead area of SURTECO GmbH will 

serve to improve competitiveness at the German lo-

cations. These measures and additional necessary 

depreciation of stocks and unscheduled write-downs 

on machinery led to one-off expenses totalling € 19.4 

million in the business year 2019. 

New management structure

In future, the Management Board will operate within 

the framework of a functional organization. For this 

purpose, we have strengthened our organization with 

the appointment of Dr. Manfred Bracher, an experi-

enced specialist in the area of plastic and laminate 

production. Dr. Bracher will take on the role of Chief 

Operating Officer (COO) and will move us forward rap-

idly in the realignment. 

Appropriation of the net profit

Since we are currently unable to reliably assess the 

effects of the Coronavirus Crisis, the Supervisory 

Board and the Management Board want to postpone 

We are well prepared for the anticipated downturn in 

demand and our robust balance sheet structure pro-

vides us with adequate liquidity.

We are confident of being able to meet the challenges 

of this difficult situation successfully and we want to 

take off at full power once we have got through this 

crisis. We would be delighted if you were to contin-

ue to accompany us on our journey with your confi-

dence and trust.

Regards

WOLFGANG MOYSES

Chairman of the Management Board

24 25



Report of the Supervisory Board
Dear Shareholders,

In the business year 2019, the Supervisory Board car-

ried out all the functions allocated to it under stat-

utory regulations and the Articles of Association. 

We advised the Management Board regularly on the 

management of the company and monitored the 

measures it took. In this process, we were involved 

in all the fundamental decisions taken. The Manage-

ment Board regularly kept us informed in compre-

hensive written and verbal reports. We were notified 

promptly about the key aspects of the performance 

of the business and about significant business trans-

actions. We were also given detailed information 

about the current income situation and planning, as 

well as the risks and risk management. The econom-

ic situation presented in the reports by the Manage-

ment Board and the development perspectives of the 

Group, the individual business areas and important 

participations in Germany and abroad, as well as the 

general economic environment were the subject of 

careful and detailed discussion in the Supervisory 

Board. Resolutions were adopted as far as this was 

necessary in compliance with statutory regulations 

or the Articles of Association. 

The Supervisory Board convened for a total of five 

meetings during the course of the business year 

2019. The Members of the Supervisory Board took 

part in the meetings of the Supervisory Board and 

the meetings of its committees as follows in the 

business year 2019.

The Presiding Board of the Supervisory Board did not 

need to convene in the business year 2019.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board furthermore 

remained in regular contact with the Management 

Board outside these meetings.

Plenary Supervisory 
Board

Audit Committee Personnel Committee

Meeting participation /  
Total number of meetings

Number In % Number In % Number In %

Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Großmann
Chairman

5/5 100 5/7 71 3/3 100

Björn Ahrenkiel 
until 27 June 2019

1/1 100 2/2 100 1/1 100

Dr. Markus Miele
until 27 June 2019

1/1 100 - - 1/1 100

Dr. Christoph Amberger
Vice Chairman

5/5 100 - - 3/3 100

Andreas Engelhardt
Deputy Chairman

5/5 100 5/5 100 2/2 100

Tim Fiedler
from 14 October 2019

2/2 100 - - - -

Jens Krazeisen 5/5 100 - - - -

Wolfgang Moyses
until 30 September 2019

3/3 100 2/2 100 - -

Tobias Pott
from 27 June 2019

4/4 100 5/5 100 2/2 100

Udo Sadlowski
until 21 January 2019

- - - - - -

Thomas Stockhausen 5/5 100 - - - -

Heinz-Dieter Stöckler
from 5 February 2019

5/5 100 - - - -

Jörg Wissemann
from 27 June 2019

4/4 100 5/5 100 - -
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Focuses of advice
 
In the business year 2019, the Supervisory Board in-

tensively addressed the reporting of the Management 

Board in detail and discussed the position of the com-

pany and the business strategy on the basis of the 

latest business figures available for the company. The 

most recent relevant indicators of the SURTECO Group 

and the subsidiary companies and participations were 

presented by the Management Board at the meetings 

of the Supervisory Board, where they were analyzed 

and compared with the projected figures. 

The economic environment in which the company 

is operating was subject to particularly intensive 

discussion. These deliberations continued with the 

themes of raw material prices and the availability of 

raw materials, as well as exchange rates. The situ-

ation with the most important customers, the divi-

sions of the foreign companies, and the conduct of 

the key competitors in the market were also consid-

ered, along with the impacts of digitalization on the 

business model of the company. 

The Supervisory Board engaged intensively with the 

“Alpha” project in the course of a number of meetings 

and agreed to the relevant implementation measures 

as necessary. A report on the progress of the pro-

ject and the implementation measures was regularly 

submitted to the Supervisory Board at each meeting.

In 2019, the Supervisory Board engaged intensive-

ly with the sale of the facility at East Longmeadow 

(Massachusetts, USA) of Süddekor LLC at a number 

of meetings and approved the sale. The sale was suc-

cessfully completed in 2019. 

At its meeting held on 19 December 2019, the Super-

visory Board deliberated on a programme of com-

prehensive structural adjustments. The core of this 

project is the restructuring of SURTECO GmbH as the 

a former member of the Management Board pursu-

ant to § 93 Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The nec-

essary resolutions were adopted pursuant to the 

ruling handed down by the Federal Supreme Court 

and steps were taken to enforce the claims result-

ing from this judgement.

The plans (budget and investment plan) submitted by 

the Management Board for the business year 2020 

were discussed, reviewed and adopted by the Su-

pervisory Board at its meeting held on 19 December 

2019, and the capital expenditure put forward by 

the Management Board was approved with a total 

volume of around EUR 32.3 million. 

At its meeting held on 29 April 2019, the Supervisory 

Board adopted the proposals for the agenda of the 

ordinary Annual General Meeting 2019. 

At its meeting held on 27 June 2019, the Supervi-

sory Board amended the version of the Articles of  

Association of the company in § 3 (capital stock) 

since the Authorized Capital I and II had previous-

ly expired and the corresponding provisions in the 

Articles of Association had been rendered obsolete.

Compensation for the Management Board

The Supervisory Board approved the variable com-

pensation elements for the Members of the Manage-

ment Board for the business year 2018 at its meet-

ing held on 29 April 2019. 

On account of the resignation from the Management 

Board of Dr. Herbert Müller on 30 September 2019 

and the agreement reached with him, the variable 

remuneration for Dr. Müller was fixed for the first 

half year of 2019 at the meeting of the Supervisory 

Board held on 28 October 2019.

biggest domestic operating subsidiary company at 

its locations of Sassenberg, Gladbeck, Laichingen 

and Buttenwiesen. This involves corresponding ad-

justments to the workforce involving 175 employees, 

and additional structural and cost adjustments di-

rected towards increasing efficiency, profitability and 

competitiveness. The Supervisory Board approved 

the restructuring concept submitted to it with a re-

structuring requirement of up to € 19 million. The Su-

pervisory Board also approved the associated future 

personnel concept for the executive management of 

SURTECO GmbH and the other Group companies, as 

well as approving the takeover of executive manage-

ment functions at SURTECO GmbH by the Members of 

the Management Board of SURTECO GROUP SE. 

At its meeting on 19 December 2019, the Supervisory 

Board decided to exercise the acquisition option for 

the non-controlling interests in the British Nenplas 

Group, for which a majority shareholding was already 

purchased in 2016. The option has meanwhile been 

exercised. Other acquisition projects were presented 

by the Management Board to the Supervisory Board 

in 2019 and these were discussed. However, these 

projects have either not yet been pursued or not yet 

been brought to a conclusion.

These included the expansion of the production ar-

eas at Döllken Profiles GmbH at the location Bönen 

(logistics centre, expansion of production floorspace) 

with a volume of around EUR 10.6 million, the restruc-

turing of an impregnating plant at SURTECO GmbH 

at the location, Sassenberg, with a volume of around 

EUR 3.8 million and other investments at the location 

Gladbeck in the amount of around EUR 1.5 million. A 

number of significant measures were approved at the 

meeting of the Supervisory Board on 28 October 2019.

At its meetings on 28 October 2019 and 19 December 

2019, the Supervisory Board engaged with poten-

tial claims for compensation for damages against 

Personnel decisions by the  
Supervisory Board

Already at the end of 2018, the Supervisory Board 

agreed with the Chairman of the Management Board 

of the company, Dr.-Ing. Herbert Müller, that he would 

prematurely end his contract of service scheduled to 

end on 30 June 2021 in the course of the year 2019, 

and further agreed the important key points for such 

a termination. Accordingly, a termination agreement 

was concluded with Dr. Müller on 7 March 2019, which 

the Supervisory Board established and agreed in writ-

ing. On the basis of this agreement, Dr. Müller stepped 

down as Chairman of the Management Board of the 

company with effect from midnight on 30 September 

2019 and left the Management Board.

The Supervisory Board of the company had also ap-

proved the conclusion of a contract of service for 

the Management Board with Mr. Wolfgang Moyses at 

its meeting on 19 December 2018. At its meeting on  

27 September 2019, the Supervisory Board accord-

ingly appointed Mr. Moyses as a Member and Chair-

man of the Management Board of SURTECO Group SE 

for a period of office of five years with effect from  

1 October 2019. 

At its meeting held on 19 December 2019, the Super-

visory Board approved the conclusion of a contract of 

service for the Management Board with Dr. Manfred 

Bracher, who is to be appointed as Chief Operating 

Officer (COO) of the company. The appointment of  

Dr. Bracher as Member of the Management Board was 

concluded in writing for a period of office of three 

years in January 2020. Dr. Bracher took up his post 

on 1 February 2020.

At the meeting held on 19 December 2019, Mr. Andreas 

Riedl requested the Supervisory Board not to extend 

his contract, which was due to expire on 30 June 

2020. The Supervisory Board thanked Mr. Riedl for 
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his many years of successful activity in the SURTECO 

Group and expressed its regret concerning Mr. Riedl’s 

decision. 

Establishment of the compensation 
for the Audit Committee

At its meeting on 19 December 2019, the Supervisory 

Board defined the compensation for the members of 

its Audit Committee pursuant to § 12 (3) of the Articles 

of Association at a total amount of € 39,500.00 plus 

sales tax, which does not breach the upper limit of  

€ 40,000.00 defined in the Articles of Association. 

The amount of € 39,500.00 was allocated to the indi-

vidual members of the Audit Committee on the basis 

of their respective time commitment.

Personnel changes in the Supervisory 
Board

The period of office of the Member of the Supervisory 

Board Mr. Björn Ahrenkiel, Vice Chairman of the Su-

pervisory Board, finished at the end of the ordinary 

Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2019. Dr. Markus 

Miele, similarly a Member of the Supervisory Board 

and Deputy Chairman, had resigned from his office 

with effect from the end of the Annual General Meet-

ing on 27 June 2019.

The Annual General Meeting for 2019, elected Mr. Jörg 

Wisseman, businessman, resident in Schlossborn, to 

replace Mr. Björn Ahrenkiel on the Supervisory Board, 

and elected Mr. Tobias Pott, businessman (BA), resi-

dent in Gütersloh, to replace Dr. Markus Miele.

Mr. Wolfgang Moyses resigned from his office as 

Member of the Supervisory Board with effect from 

midnight on 30 September 2019 prior to taking up 

his period of office as Chairman of the Management 

Board. On application by the Management Board and 

with the consent of the Supervisory Board, the Local 

olutions for the meetings of the Supervisory Board. 

There is also a Presiding Board in accordance with 

the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board. 

The Presiding Board of the Supervisory Board pre-

pares the resolutions of the Supervisory Board if they 

relate to measures requiring the consent of the Su-

pervisory Board. In urgent cases, the Rules of Proce-

dure permit the Presiding Board to take the place of 

the Supervisory Board and grant consent to specific 

measures and transactions requiring approval. The 

Presiding Board did not need to make any decisions 

in the reporting period.

The Audit Committee addressed issues relating to ac-

counting and risk management, the Annual Financial 

Statements and the quarterly figures, the mandato-

ry independence of the auditor, the appointment of 

the auditor to carry out the audit, the determination 

of the focuses of the audit and the agreement of the 

fee. The Chairman of the Audit Committee and from 

time to time the other members of the committee 

were in regular contact with the Management Board 

and the auditors. The Chairman of the Audit Commit-

tee kept the other Members of the Audit Committee 

informed about individual issues in writing. The Au-

dit Committee was convened seven times during the 

course of the business year, and held one of these 

meetings at which the auditors carrying out the audit 

on the consolidated financial statements were pres-

ent and reported on the result of their audit.

The Personnel Committee held three meetings during 

the year under review. At these meetings, the Person-

nel Committee addressed the proposal to calculate 

the variable compensation elements of the Members 

of the Management Board for the business year 2018, 

and (in the case of Dr. Müller also 2019) the proposal 

relating to an agreement in regard to the premature 

ending of the contract of service of Dr. Müller, and an 

addendum to the contract of service with Mr. Wolf-

Court Augsburg (Amtsgericht Augsburg) appointed 

by a resolution on 14 October 2019 Mr. Tim Fiedler, 

economist, resident in Düsseldorf, as Member of the 

Supervisory Board pursuant to § 104 (2) Sentence 1 

and 2 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

The office of Supervisory Board Member Mr. Udo 

Sadlowski as employee representative ended at 

midnight on 21 January 2019. With effect from  

5 February 2019, Mr. Heinz-Dieter Stöckler was ap-

pointed as a Member of the Supervisory Board to re-

place Mr. Sadlowski as an employee representative 

in accordance with the provisions of the agreement 

dated 13 February 2007 relating to the participation 

of the employees in SURTECO GROUP SE.

In order to take account of the changes on the Super-

visory Board with respect to the Supervisory Board 

Committees, the Supervisory Board at its meeting 

held on 27 June 2019 elected Mr. Andreas Engelhar-

dt and Mr. Tobias Pott as Members of the Presiding 

Board of the Supervisory Board and as Members of 

the Personnel Committee. Furthermore, the Supervi-

sory Board elected Mr. Andreas Engelhardt, Mr. Tobi-

as Pott and Mr. Jörg Wissemann as Members of the 

Audit Committee, and Mr. Engelhardt simultaneously 

as the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Finally, the 

Supervisory Board at the same meeting elected Dr. 

Christoph Amberger as the Vice Chairman of the Su-

pervisory Board and Mr. Andreas Engelhardt as Dep-

uty Chairman.

No other personnel changes took place on the Super-

visory Board during the period under review. 

Work of the committees

The Supervisory Board formed an Audit Committee 

and a Personnel Committee whose members are list-

ed in the Notes of the Annual Report. The committees 

have the function of preparing issues, topics and res-

gang Moyses, who stepped down from his position 

on the Supervisory Board on 27 September 2019. 

The Personnel Committee drew up appropriate pro-

posals for resolutions, and the relevant resolution 

were passed by the plenary Supervisory Board at the 

meetings of the Supervisory Board. 

Reports on the meetings convened by the commit-

tees were submitted to the plenary session of the  

Supervisory Board.

Corporate Governance

The Supervisory Board continued to address the de-

velopment of the corporate governance principles in 

the company in 2019 and also took account of the 

regulations of the German Corporate Governance 

Code established on 7 February 2017. Furthermore, 

the Supervisory Board took note of the amendments 

in the new version of the Corporate Governance Code 

and requested the Audit Committee to make corre-

sponding proposals for the future after the Act on the 

Implementation of the Shareholders’ Rights Directive 

(Gesetz zur Umsetzung der Aktionärsrechterichtlinie, 

ARUG II) comes into force. A remuneration system is 

to be submitted to the ordinary Annual General Meet-

ing in 2021. In parallel, the Rules of Procedure for the 

Management Board are to be amended in order to 

meet the provisions of the Act on the Implementation 

of the Shareholders’ Rights Directive (ARUG II).

Within the scope of the efficiency audit, the Supervi-

sory Board regularly carries out a self-assessment of 

its members and discusses the results in the plenary 

session of the Supervisory Board. In view of only slight 

deviations in the individual self-assessments during 

previous years, the self-assessment will be carried out 

in a two-year cycle, most recently in December 2019 

for the business years 2018 and 2019. The results of 

this self-assessment were presented and discussed 

at the first meeting of the Supervisory Board in 2020.
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On 19 December 2019, the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board submitted a new Declaration 

of Compliance, which was included in the Declaration 

on Corporate Governance pursuant to § 289a German 

Commercial Code (HGB) and may be viewed on the 

Internet site of the company.

Annual Financial Statements and Consol-
idated Financial Statements, auditing

The Annual Financial Statements of the company 

were drawn up in accordance with German account-

ing principles. The Consolidated Financial State-

ments for the business year 2019 were prepared on 

the basis of the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS). The Management Board submit-

ted to the Supervisory Board the Annual Financial 

Statements, and the Consolidated Financial State-

ments and the Management Report and the Consol-

idated Management Report, and the Sustainability 

Report with its recommendation for the appropria-

tion of the net profit to be submitted to the Annu-

al General Meeting. The professional services firm, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, Munich, audited 

the Consolidated Financial Statements and the An-

nual Financial Statements of SURTECO GROUP SE, 

as well as the Management Report and the Consol-

idated Management Report, and the Sustainability 

Report and granted each of the documents an un-

qualified audit opinion. The Annual Financial State-

ments and Management Report, and the Consoli-

dated Financial Statements and the Consolidated 

Management Report, and the Sustainability Report, 

and the audit reports of the auditor, and the rec-

ommendation for the appropriation of the net prof-

it were submitted punctually to all the Members of 

the Supervisory Board. Intensive discussions on the 

financial statements were carried out in the Audit 

Committee meeting and at the Balance Sheet Meet-

ing of the Supervisory Board held on 28 April 2020 

in the presence of the auditor and following a report 

by the auditor pursuant to § 171 (1) sentences 2 and 

3 Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

We examined the submitted documents. Further-

more, we took note of the report by the auditor. We 

have no objections. We therefore concur with the re-

sult of the audit. The Supervisory Board approves the 

Annual Financial Statements and the Consolidated 

Financial Statements prepared by the Management 

Board. The Annual Financial Statements have there-

fore been adopted. We are in agreement with the 

Management Reports and in particular with the as-

sessment of the ongoing development of the compa-

ny and the Sustainability Report. On the basis of the 

current coronavirus situation, we agree with the pro-

posal by the Management Board to reach a decision 

on the appropriation of net profit later on in the year.

The Audit Committee submitted a proposal for the 

appointment of the auditor of the accounts for the 

business year 2020 and the Supervisory Board also 

accepted this proposal.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Man-

agement Board, the executive managers, the mem-

bers of the Works Councils, and all the members of 

staff for the work they have carried out and for their 

commitment during the business year 2019.

Buttenwiesen, April 2020.

The Supervisory Board

Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Großmann

Chairman 
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COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT
SURTECO Group and SURTECO GROUP SE, BUTTENWIESEN
FOR THE BUSINESS YEAR 2019

Basic principles of the Group

Overview

The SURTECO Group is a Group of mutually comple-

mentary companies operating on the global stage. It 

has primarily specialized in the manufacture of dec-

orative surface coatings for furniture, flooring and 

interior design. SURTECO GROUP SE serves within this 

structure as the holding company with a controlling 

function. 

The manufactured products of the SURTECO Group 

are mainly used in the international flooring, wood-

based, caravan and furniture industries, as well as by 

carpenters and artisan businesses. The products are 

generally used to coat wood-based materials such 

as chipboard and fibreboard. These materials there-

by gain their final surface with appealing visual and 

haptic properties. These coated wood-based mate-

rials serve as the starting material for the manufac-

ture of furniture, doors, laminated flooring and oth-

er products used for interior furniture and fittings. 

The Group also offers an appropriate complementary 

product for flooring requirements, with skirtings for 

The SURTECO Group is also a producer of decorative 

papers (printed decorative designs). These specialist 

papers are printed with wood, stone or fantasy de-

cors and they are used as a material for providing a 

decorative finish. These papers are used within the 

Group for the manufacture of finish foils and impreg-

nates. They are also supplied directly to customers 

from the flooring, furniture and wood-based mate-

rials industry. Decor development takes place at the 

Group’s in-house design studio, which also produces 

the printing cylinders necessary for production.

Similar to finish foils, impregnates from SURTECO 

are used to refine large areas of wood-based mate-

rials. The base is formed by the printed or single-col-

our decor paper, overlay or release paper, which is 

impregnated, dried and cut in formats. The product 

range is mainly deployed for surfaces subject to par-

ticularly heavy-duty usage, such as laminate flooring 

or worktops. 

The skirtings produced by the SURTECO Group are 

either manufactured entirely of plastic or they are 

wrapped with a wood-fibre core in a special three-

part extrusion process. These products are mainly 

processed by trade floorlayers. Plastic skirtings are 

trade floorlayers, and for the commercial and indus-

trial sectors of the interior-design industry. Technical 

extrusions (profiles) made of plastic for all industrial 

sectors and roller-shutter systems are also included 

in the product range.

Paper and plastic-based edgebandings constitute the 

product group produced by the SURTECO Group gen-

erating the strongest sales. These products are used 

to refine the narrow edges and the cut edges of wood-

based boards. The offering ranges from paper-based 

edgebandings – also known as melamine edgeband-

ings – in different versions through to thermoplastic 

edgebandings which are manufactured from a range 

of different plastics tailored to the area of application. 

The finish foils of SURTECO are used for coating large 

areas of wood-based materials and consequently in-

fluence the visual and haptic appraisal of finished 

products such as items of furniture or panelling. Just 

as in the case of edgebandings, the finish foils are 

based on specialist technical papers and on plastics. 

also produced especially for trade and industry in the 

interior design sector. They are then marketed togeth-

er with commercial products as a complete product 

range. The Group also has a long track record in the 

manufacture of a wide range of extrusion products 

for interior design, for roller-shutter systems and for 

a broad spectrum of industrial applications. 

The Group believes that the comprehensive product 

range gives it a unique selling proposition in the mar-

ketplace. The products are either marketed by direct 

sales or shipped to customers through the Group’s 

own sales locations, and through dealers and agents 

on all continents of the world. The Group is increas-

ingly using e-commerce as a sales channel. The most 

important sales markets for the Group include Ger-

many, Europe, and North and South America. Produc-

tion and sales facilities in Europe, North and South 

America, and Australia and Asia ensure fast delivery 

tailored to the target market.
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Internal corporate controlling system

Central controlling for the Group is carried out by 

the holding company SURTECO GROUP SE with reg-

istered office in Buttenwiesen, Bavaria, Germany. The 

holding company implements strategic planning and 

controlling, group-wide finance, investment and risk 

management, human resources strategy, Group ac-

counting, IT management and investor relations ac-

tivities. The individual subsidiary companies of the 

Group manage their business on the basis of group-

wide parameters. Up until the business year 2018, the 

subsidiaries were organized in the Strategic Business 

Units (SBU) Paper and Plastics in line with the base 

materials used. 

Owing to the restructuring of the Group and rea-

lignment from a product to a sector orientation, the 

management of the company and hence the segment 

reporting from 1 January 2019 will be carried out 

through the new segments also known as Business 

Units) Decoratives, Profiles and Technicals, which 

are replacing the previous Paper and Plastics Stra-

tegic Business Units. SURTECO GmbH is positioned 

in the Segment Decoratives including its subsidiary 

companies and it primarily serves the wood-based, 

flooring, door and furniture industries, and the car-

avan sector. The Segment Profiles comprises Döllk-

en Profiles GmbH including its subsidiary companies 

and supplies trade floorlayers and the interior-de-

sign industry. Technical extrusions (profiles) are also 

manufactured in this segment by the same type of 

production processes. They are used for a wide range 

of applications such as mobile homes or commercial 

vehicles. The activities as a specialist manufacturer 

in the niche markets of the companies Kröning GmbH, 

Dakor Melamin Imprägnierungen GmbH and Gislaved 

Folie AB, alongside the North American impregnating 

business until 19 July 2019 are bundled in the Tech-

nicals Segment.

Sales revenues and earnings before financial result 

and income tax (EBIT) are the most important finan-

Pty Limited, Sydney) and Indonesia (PT Doellken Bintan 

Edgings & Profiles, Batam). The Probos Group pro-

duces plastic edgebandings at its head office in 

Portugal (Probos - Plásticos, S. A., Mindelo) and in 

Brazil (Proadec Brasil Ltda., São José dos Pinhais). 

Sales companies operated by the Probos Group are 

located in Germany (Proadec Deutschland GmbH, 

Bad Oeynhausen), in the United Kingdom (Proadec 

UK Ltd., Greenhithe), and in Mexico (Chapacinta, S. A. 

de C. V., Tultitlán). Another sales location of SURTECO 

Canada Ltd. in Mexico (Canplast Mexico S.A. de C.V.,  

Chihuahua) additionally supports as a joint venture 

the market in Mexico. Furthermore, the subsidiary 

companies of SURTECO GmbH act as sales compa-

nies for global delivery in Singapore (SURTECO PTE 

Ltd.), France (SURTECO France S.A.S., Beaucouzé), 

Spain (SURTECO Iberia S.L., Madrid) and Turkey 

(SURTECO DEKOR A. Ş., Istanbul). 

SURTECO art GmbH in Willich is responsible for the 

development of new decorative designs and engrav-

ing new print cylinders. 

Segment Profiles

Döllken Profiles GmbH based in Bönen* and its sub-

sidiary in Nohra manufacture floor strips and skirt-

ings as well as wall edging systems for trade floorlay-

ers, and for trade and industry in the interior design 

sector. The accessories and other products required 

for laying the products relating to all aspects of floor-

ing are also supplied as product ranges for resale. The 

company maintains sales locations in Poland (Döllken 

Sp. z o.o., Sosnowiec) and the Czech Republic (Döllken 

CZ s.r.o., Prague) and a production business for tech-

nical extrusions in Dunningen. Nenplas Ltd., includ-

ing its subsidiary company Polyplas Extrusions Ltd., 

both located in Ashbourne, UK, (Nenplas Group) also 

manufacture technical extrusions (profiles) for a wide 

range of industrial applications. 

cial controlling parameters for the SURTECO Group. 

A summarized true and fair view of a number of in-

dicators, the covenants, is also used as key financial 

controlling parameters. These are comprised of the 

indicators equity ratio, level of debt (gearing) and in-

terest cover factor. The covenants define threshold 

values which the Group does not intend to exceed 

or fall short of. Compliance or non-compliance with 

these covenants is monitored, and reports are regu-

larly submitted. Non-financial controlling parameters 

are not used as key controlling parameters at Group 

level or within the holding company. 

For SURTECO GROUP SE as an individual company, 

financial and non-financial performance indicators 

and hence also their forecast play a subordinate role. 

Compliance with statutory requirements under cor-

porate law is not affected.

Segment Decoratives

Decoratives comprises SURTECO GmbH, including 

its subsidiary companies*. At its registered office in 

Buttenwiesen, SURTECO GmbH has focused on the 

manufacture of decorative papers and finish foils. At 

the production facility in Sassenberg, SURTECO GmbH 

produces paper edgebandings and finish foils, and at 

the production location of Laichingen finish foils are 

manufactured. Plastic edgebandings are produced 

at the production site in Gladbeck. 

In the USA, the subsidiary company, BauschLinne-

mann North America, Inc., Myrtle Beach, SC, produc-

es and sells finish foils specially tailored to the North 

American market, while SÜDDEKOR LLC, Agawam, pro-

duces decorative papers for the USA. Semi-finished 

products are delivered to the sales companies located 

in the United Kingdom (SURTECO UK Ltd., Burnley) and 

in Italy (SURTECO Italia s.r.l., Martellago) and Russia 

(SURTECO OOO, Moscow). The manufacture of plastic 

edgebandings abroad in the USA (SURTECO USA Inc., 

Greensboro, NC), in Canada (SURTECO Canada Ltd., 

Brampton, Ontario), in Australia (SURTECO Australia  

Segment Technicals

The manufacture and sale of impregnated products 

in Germany is carried out through Dakor Melamin Im-

prägnierungen GmbH in Heroldstatt*. The production 

location for impregnated products of SÜDDEKOR LLC, 

USA, in East Longmeadow was all grouped under the 

Business Unit Technicals, but it was sold on 19 July 

2019. Gislaved Folie AB in Gislaved, Sweden, produc-

es finish foils based on plastic and technical plastic 

foils for further processing to form carpets and for 

other industrial sectors. Kröning GmbH in Hüllhorst is 

a specialist provider for surface coatings with indi-

vidual, customer-specific requirements. The product 

portfolio comprises edgebandings, finish foils and 

multilayer hybrid foils made of genuine metals, pa-

per and plastic. 

Management and controlling

As laid down in the rules and regulations applicable 

to a Societas Europaea (SE) – European Company, 

the ordinary Annual General Meeting of the compa-

ny is held during the first six months after the end 

of a business year. Any amendments to the Articles 

of Association can only be made with legal effect 

following consent by the shareholders at the Annual 

General Meeting and subsequent entry in the Com-

pany Register.

The Supervisory Board monitors and advises the 

Management Board on the running of the company. 

It is made up of nine members. Six members are ap-

pointed by the Annual General Meeting as represent-

atives of the shareholders. Three members are ap-

pointed by the Works Councils of the three domestic 

companies with the largest number of employees as 

representatives of the workforce.

The management of the SURTECO Group operates on 

the basis of the dual management and controlling sys-

tem in which the Members of the Management Board 

are appointed by the Supervisory Board and manage 
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the affairs of the company in accordance with the 

statutory regulations, the Articles of Association, and 

the rules of procedure governing the Management 

Board and the Supervisory Board. The Management 

Board and the Supervisory Board gear their actions 

and their decisions to the interests of the company. 

They are committed to the objective of increasing the 

value of the company in accordance with the interests 

of the shareholders, the business partners, the em-

ployees and the general collectivity of stakeholders.

ECONOMIC REPORT

Macroeconomic framework conditions

Since economic growth exerts an impact on the pur-

chasing and investment affinity of consumers, and 

this in turn drives the demand for our products and 

solution packages, the general economic develop-

ment across all countries provides a good indicator 

for the operating business activity of the SURTECO 

Group. The lion’s share of Group sales is generated in 

Europe, North and South America, and in Australia. As 

far as customer industries are concerned, demand 

from the furniture, flooring, door and wood-based 

industries continues to dominate as in previous years, 

while the Group also serves customers in the interior 

design industry, the caravan industry and as a sup-

plier to cruise ships.

According to estimates by the International Monetary 

Fund (IMF) in its publication of April 2020 entitled 

“World Economic Outlook”, the global economy ex-

panded by 2.9 % in 2019 (2018: +3.6 %). At the begin-

ning of the reporting year, experts at the IMF had a 

more optimist outlook with plus 3.5 % for 2019. Neg-

ative impacts arising from the trade war between 

China and the USA, uncertainties owing to the Brex-

it discussions and a slowdown of growth in some 

emerging markets and developing countries resulted 

in a number of downward revisions of forecasts as the 

cals fell significantly more than forecast owing to the 

disposal and for operational reasons. Conversely, the 

Segment Profiles was even able to exceed sales ex-

pectations after a small increase in sales on account 

of the wide sector differentiation. Across the Group, 

sales in the domestic market gave way by 1 % and in 

the rest of Europe fell by 3 %. The fall of 6 % in North 

year progressed. A review over the previous twelve 

months revealed that the growth in the advanced 

economies was 1.7 % (2018: +2.2 %), while growth in 

the emerging markets and developing countries was 

3.7 % (2018: +4.5 %). 

The US economy posted a moderate increase in growth 

of 2.3 % (2018: +2.9 %). In the eurozone, growth at 1.2 %  

(2018; +1.9) was significantly weaker. In particular, 

growth in Germany (+ 0.6 % after +1.5 % in 2018) re-

mained below the values for the previous year, as 

was the case in France (+1.3 % after +1.7 %), Italy 

(+0.3 % after +0.8 %) and Spain (+2.0 % after +2.4 %). 

Although Brexit remained problematic, the United 

Kingdom achieved comparatively stable growth of 

1.4 % (2018: +1.3 %). The upswing in emerging and 

developing Europe at +2.1 % was significantly below 

the year-earlier value of +3.2 %. Dynamic growth in 

China as the driving powerhouse in Asia continued 

on a downward trend and fell by 60 basis points in a 

year-on-year comparison to +6.1 %. The economies 

of the other BRIC countries Brazil (+1.1 % after +1.3 % 

in 2018), Russia (+1.3 % after +2.5 %) and India +4.2 %  

(2018: 6.1 %) also underwent development below the 

original expectations.1

 

Sales and business performance for the 
Group

Even after the sale of the North American impreg-

nating business in July 2019, sales of the Group at  

€ 675.3 million (2018: € 699.0 million) were within 

the sales forecast of € 670 million to € 700 million 

communicated in the Combined Management Report 

from the previous year. Taking into account the fact 

that the divested business was still included in the 

forecast with approximately € 33 million for the entire 

year, the Group achieved the upper end of the range 

after adjustment for the divested business. In line 

with expectations, the business development in the 

Segment Decoratives was slightly below the previous 

year, while sales development in the Segment Techni-

America and South America is almost exclusively due 

to the divested impregnating business. In Asia, the 

slide in economic performance and increased pres-

sure on prices was evident in a fall in sales of 16 %, 

whereas in Australia business increased by 2 %. The 

proportion of foreign sales was 75 % in the business 

year under review after 76 % in the previous year.
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Economic growth for 2019 in %1

1 Source: International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Economic Outlook, April 2020.  
The previous year‘s figures may have changed compared to the combined management report of the previous year due to updated data.

World +2.9

Germany +0.6

Eurozone +1.2

United Kingdom +1.4

USA +2.3

Central and Eastern Europe +2.1

Latin America +0.1

Asia +5.5

Germany           Abroad

300

400

500

600

700

200

100

2019

50
7.

1

´18´15 ´16 ´17

16
8.

2
67

5.
3

51
4.

0

4
6

5.
5

17
4.

3

4
6

0
.6

17
7.

8

63
9.

8

17
5.

7

52
9.

0
17

0
.0

69
9.

0

68
9.

7

63
8.

4

SURTECO Group
Sales revenues  
in € million

1 Source: International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Economic Outlook, April 2020.  
The previous year‘s figures may have changed compared to the combined management report of the previous year due to updated data.

38 39



Decoratives

The products in the Segment Decoratives primarily 

undergo further refinement by the wood-based sec-

tor, the household, office and kitchen industries, and 

the door, flooring and caravan industries. According 

to the Federal Statistical Office, sales in Germany for 

wood-based materials manufacturers fell by approx-

imately 4 % in 2019 by comparison with the previous 

year, while manufacturers of office, shop, kitchen 

and other furniture experienced a slight drop in sales 

over this period. This correlates with the global weak-

ening of economic growth since the experience of the 

company indicates that the procurement affinity for 

long-life products such as furniture declines as eco-

nomic performance drops. Furthermore, the sales 

volume for laminate flooring once again came under 

pressure in 2019. According to the Association of 

European Laminate Flooring Manufacturers (EPLF), 

members of the association sold a volume 1.5 %  

below that of the previous year worldwide in 2019. 

Against this background, external sales (business ad-

justed by internal sales within the Group) of the Seg-

ment Decoratives eased slightly in 2019, in line with 

the expectations of the previous Annual Report, and 

achieved € 495.9 million after € 502.6 million in 2018 

(the pro-forma sales for 2018 in the previous Annual 

Report of € 519.1 million were calculated including 

Group domestic sales). The fall was most notable in 

finish foils (-5 %) and in edgebandings (-3 %). Sales 

from decorative printing remained at the year-earlier 

level. A sales increase of 13 % was achieved with  

other products and commercial products. 

Technicals

The sales revenues of the Segment Technicals in 

the business year 2019 were influenced primarily by 

the sale of the North American impregnating busi-

ness in July 2019 and by the sustained decline in 

demand for laminate flooring. Up until the sale in 

July, the divested North American impregnating busi-

ness generated sales in the amount of € 16.9 million 

in the business year 2019. The sale was carried out 

against the background of a planned streamlining 

of the Group structures. The segment continues to 

produce impregnated products in Germany, although 

these continued to suffer from a steady decline in de-

mand in the laminate flooring market in the business 

year 2019. Sales with impregnates came down by 

33 %, and adjusted by the divested business fell back 

by 23 % compared with the previous year. Business 

with finish foils was 7 % below the previous year in 

Profiles

The Segment Profiles supplies the flooring market 

with skirtings for trade floorlayers and supplies for 

home improvement and do-it-yourself stores and 

with laminate, parquet, carpet and elastic floor cov-

erings. The segment also supplies virtually all indus-

trial sectors and the construction sector with tech-

nical plastic extrusions (profiles). In this respect, the 

Segment Profiles has a more broadly-based sector 

diversity than the other segments especially with 

regard to technical extrusions. As a result of focus-

sing on individual growth areas of the relevant sales 

regions, a further penetration of markets in the skirt-

ing sector was achieved in the business year 2019. 

As a result of enhanced sales activities, sales with 

skirtings went up by 11 % compared with the previous 

year. Business with commercial goods offered along-

side skirtings increased by 7 % in the business year 

2019 by comparison with 2018. A fall in demand for 

technical extrusions, particularly in the British car-

avan and construction industries, was compensat-

ed by acquisition of new customers in other sectors. 

As a consequence of this, total sales with technical 

extrusions rose by 2 % compared with the previous 

year. Overall, the Segment Profiles generated ex-

ternal sales in the amount of € 92.7 million in the 

business year 2019 after € 86.3 million in the pre-

vious year. The forecast from the previous year was 

therefore exceeded after a modest upward trend in 

sales revenues. 

the business year 2019. The edgings business of the 

segment for niche markets in the furniture industry 

rose by 8 % in 2019 compared with the previous year. 

Overall, external sales of the Segment Technicals 

therefore dropped by 21  % to € 86.7 million (2018:  

€ 110.1 million). Based on the continuing operations, 

sales were still significantly below the previous year 

and they were therefore below the forecast in the 

Combined Management Report for the previous year 

(slight fall in sales).
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Net assets, financial position 
and results of operations

Cash flow statement

On the basis of earnings before income tax (EBT) in 

the amount of € 16.2 million (2018: € 27.1 million) 

the internal financing of the Group in the amount of 

€ 55.6 million in the business year 2019 was € 2.2 

million below the year-earlier value of € 57.8 mil-

lion. In particular, lower payments for income tax  

(€ -12.1 million after € -14.8 million in the previous year), 

the change in long-term provisions (€ 1.1 million after 

€ 0.1 million in the previous year) and other expenses 

with no effect on liquidity in the amount of € -1.2 mil-

lion after € -3.7 million in the previous year resulted in 

this value. The change in other assets rose primari-

ly owing to the disposal from € 3.1 million in 2018 to  

€ 14.9 million in 2019, while the change in trade ac-

counts payable was € -2.2 million (2018: € 1.9 million). 

Overall, the change in net assets and liabilities amount-

ed to € 28.4 million in the business year 2019 after € 2.9 

million in the previous year. Insofar, the cash flow from 

current business operations rose from € 60.7 million 

in the previous year to € 84.0 million in 2019. A lower 

addition from property, plant and equipment (€ -33.6 

million after € -45.0 million in the previous year) and 

a loss from the disposal of property, plant and equip-

ment in the amount of € -0.4 million after € -2.5 million 

in the previous year led to cash flow from investment 

activities of € -36.1 million (2018: € -49.5 million). Ac-

cordingly, free cash flow increased from € 11.2 million 

in 2018 to € 47.9 million during the period under review. 

On account of the settlement of the last tranche from 

the US Private Placement in the amount of € 60 million, 

cash flow from financial activities was € -84.7 million 

after € -24.2 million in 2018.

Balance sheet performance

At 31 December 2019, the balance sheet total of 

the Group was reduced by 8  % to €  780.3 million  

(31 December 2018: € 844.5 million). The key factor for 

this was the announced repayment of the last tranche 

of a US Private Placement (USPP) in August 2019 with 

a volume of € 60 million. As a result of this repayment, 

cash and cash equivalents on the assets side of the  
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Change in financial resources at 31 December

€ million  2018            2019

Cash flow from current  
business operations

84.0

60.7

Cash flow from  
investment activities

-36.1

-49.5

Cash flow from  
financial activities

-84.7

-24.2

Change in cash and  
cash equivalents

-36.8

-12.9

Calculation of free cash flow

€ million 1/1/-31/12/2018 1/1/- 31/12/2019

Cash flow from current business operations 60.7 84.0

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -45.0 -33.6

Purchase of intangible assets -2.5 -2.8

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment -2.5 -0.4

Share of profit of companies accounted for using  
the equity method 0.5 0.7

Cash flow from investment activities -49.5 -36.1

Free cash flow 11.2 47.9

Balance sheet structure of the SURTECO company

€ million 31/12/2018
Percentage of 

the balance sheet 
total in %

31/12/2019
Percentage of 

the balance sheet 
total in %

Assets

Current assets 343.7 40.7 281.8 36.1

Non-current assets 500.8 59.3 498.5 63.9

Balance sheet total 844.5 100.0 780.3 100.0

Liabilities

Current liabilities 177.9 21.1 123.4 15.8

Non-current liabilities 313.4 37.1 302.3 38.8

Equity 353.2 41.8 354.6 45.4

Balance sheet total 844.5 100.0 780.3 100.0

Balance sheet indicators of the SURTECO Group

2018 2019

Equity ratio in % 41.8 45.4

Level of debt in % 56 51

Working capital in € million 119.4 112.8

Interest cover factor 12.0 9.6

Debt-service coverage ratio in % 30.0 30.4
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balance sheet came down to € 83.6 million after € 120.9 

million on the balance sheet date in 2018. Owing to the 

completed sale of the North American impregnating 

business, the assets held for sale were derecognized. 

Consequently, the current assets in the amount of  

€ 343.7 million at the balance sheet date in the previous 

year fell to € 281.8 million at 31 December 2019. The re-

duction in non-current assets from € 500.8 million to  

€ 498.5 million is primarily due to a lower value for  

property, plant and equipment of € 236.9 million  

(2018: € 255.8 million) in the previous year and de-

ferred taxes of € 8.8 million (2018: € 18.3 million). 

On the liabilities side, short-term financial liabilities 

came down as a result of repayment of the USPP 

from € 65.9 million to € 8.9 million on the balance 

sheet date 2019. The restructuring expenses for the 

planned reduction of approximately 175 jobs resulted 

in the increase of short-term provisions from € 11.6 

million to € 20.0 million. Cumulatively, current liabil-

ities decreased to € 123.4 million (2018: € 177.9 mil-

lion) on the balance sheet date for 2019. Non-current 

liabilities at € 302.3 million were below the year-ear-

lier value of € 313.4 million.

Equity increased from € 353.2 million at year-end 

2018 to € 354.6 million at 31 December 2019. In con-

junction with the reduced balance sheet total, the 

equity ratio went up from 41.8 % to the current level 

of 45.4 %. Net financial debt eased significantly and 

was € 179.9 million at year-end after € 197.5 million in 

the previous year. Working capital also improved from 

€ 119.4 million in the previous year to € 112.8 million 

on the balance sheet date for 2019. In the business 

year 2019, the covenants (-> internal corporate con-

trolling system) were complied with. On 31 December 

2019, the Group had external credit lines amounting 

to € 34.5 million. At this point, € 0.6 million had been 

drawn on these lines.

total output. In the case of Technicals, the sale of 

the North American impregnating business exerted 

a positive impact on costs. Adjusted by expenses 

for the formation of provisions for personnel meas-

ures (€ 12.6 million for the business year 2019 and  

€ 6.1 million for 2018), the personnel expenses of the 

Group gave way slightly on account of the reduction 

in personnel numbers. 

Other operating expenses were impacted negatively 

in the business year 2019 by unscheduled provisions 

for adjustments to the company structure, but nev-

ertheless they still fell from € 103.5 million in the 

previous year to € 102.7 million in 2019 as a result 

of strict cost discipline. However, the corresponding 

ratio in relation to total output at 15.2 % was slightly 

above the year-earlier level (14.7 %).  

Investments

In 2019, the Group invested a total of € 36.4 million 

(2018: € 47.5 million) in fixed assets. An addition of 

€ 33.6 million (2018: € 45.0 million) was attributable 

to property, plant and equipment and an addition of  

€ 2.7 million (2018: € 2.5 million) to intangible assets. 

In the Segment Decoratives, the additions of fixed 

assets amounted to € 24.3 million after € 36.8 million 

in the previous year. Apart from replacement invest-

ments, the biggest payments and advance payments 

were made for the procurement of printing cylinders, 

new production plants and technical expansions of 

existing plants.

The additions in the Segment Profiles were essen-

tially used for the expansion of a logistics centre 

with an extension of the production area and capital 

expenditure on extensions of production facilities, 

and they amounted to € 9.0 million (2018: € 7.0 mil-

lion). € 3.0 million were attributable to the Segment 

Technicals after € 3.6 million in 2018, the majority 

of this expenditure being made for replacement and 

expansion investments, and for investments in build-

ing technology.

Expenses

Production requires extremely intensive use of mate-

rials and the cost of materials is therefore the most 

critical expense item for all segments of the Group. 

The Segments Decoratives and Technicals mainly 

process technical raw papers, various plastics and 

chemical additives. The Segment Profiles primar-

ily consumes plastics. In the business year 2019, 

some of the plastics purchasing prices for the Group 

underwent significant falls by comparison with the 

previous year. Although technical raw papers experi-

enced some relaxation in procurement, owing to the 

so-called tanker effect arising from the production 

and delivery times of the papers, the falling prices are 

only reflected in the cost of materials with a time lag. 

As a consequence, average paper prices remained at 

the high year-earlier price level in 2019. The purchase 

prices for chemical additives were not uniform. While 

impregnating resins remained below the price levels 

of the previous year, the costs for varnishes and raw 

materials for paints rose slightly. In addition, energy 

costs also went up considerably by comparison with 

the previous year. Particularly at the German produc-

tion plants, the expenses for electricity and gas rose 

in spite of lower consumption. Nevertheless, the cost 

of materials ratio (cost of materials / total output) 

in the Group eased compared with the previous year 

and fell from 49.5 % in the previous year to 48.2 % in 

the business year 2019. Taking the divested impreg-

nating business into account, the cost of materials 

for the Group fell significantly from € 349.6 million 

in the previous year to € 326.5 million in the busi-

ness year 2019. 

The main reason for the increase in personnel ex-

penses from € 185.3 million in the previous year to 

€ 186.2 million lies in the provisions for a planned 

reduction of approximately 175 jobs. While the pro-

visions essentially related to the Segment Decora-

tives, the personnel expenses at Profiles were above 

the level of the previous year owing to the increased 

Group results

Against the background of divested impregnating 

activities in July 2019, a slight decline in operating 

business development and one-off inventory write-

downs, the total output of the Group came down from 

€ 706.5 million in the previous year to € 676.8 million 

in the business year 2019. In spite of restructuring 

expenses for personnel adjustments, the expense 

items overall fell to € 615.4 million compared with 

€ 638.4 million in the previous year owing to divest-

ments. Including other operating income amounting 

to € 4.8 million (2018: € 4.3 million), earnings before 

financial result, income tax and depreciation and 

amortization (EBITDA) amounted to € 66.3 million 

(2018: € 72.8 million). Depreciation and amortization 

amounting to € 45.2 million (2018: € 40.6 million) in 

the business year 2019 were driven by higher invest-

ments in the previous years, negative impacts in the 

amount of € 3.6 million of the newly applicable ac-

counting standard IFRS 16 and by unscheduled de-

preciation of production facilities. As a consequence, 

earnings before financial result and income tax (EBIT) 

fell to € 21.1 million after € 32.2 million in the previ-

ous year. Adjusted by the one-off restructuring pro-

vision and other one-off unscheduled effects total-

ling € 19.4 million, EBIT amounted to € 40.5 million 

and hence reached the earnings forecast from the 

previous year. The financial result in the amount of 

€ -4.9 million (2018: € -5.1 million) was influenced 

by the repayment of the final tranche from the USPP 

in August 2019 and by currency effects and one-off 

expenses for adjustment of the company structure. 

Earnings before income tax (EBT) in the business year 

2019 were consequently € 16.2 million after € 27.1 

million in the previous year. Deducting income tax 

in the amount of € 6.5 million (2018: € 8.2 million) 

and taking into account the non-controlling inter-

ests (€ 0.3 million in 2018 and 2019), a consolidated 

net profit of € 9.4 million (2018: € 18.6 million) was 

achieved. The number of shares issued remained 
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constant at 15.5 million no-par-value shares. As a 

result, earnings per share amounted to € 0.61 after 

€ 1.20 in the previous year.

Result of the segments

The restructuring and extraordinary expenses set out 

above for the business year 2019 primarily relate to 

the Segment Decoratives. Insofar, EBIT of the seg-

ment fell from € 25.5 million in the previous year to 

€ 14.3 million in the business year 2019. Adjusted 

by the one-off negative impacts in the amount of  

€ 19.0 million, the segment achieved the year-ear-

lier forecast. 

On account of the decline in business development 

in the continuing operations of the Segment Tech-

nicals, the result from the previous year fell back 

significantly compared to the expectations from the 

previous year and amounted to € 2.3 million in the 

business year 2019 (2018: € 3.9 million). EBIT for the 

Segment Profiles at € 9.5 million was slightly above 

the year-earlier value of € 9.3 million in line with ex-

pectations.

 

HGB (German Commercial Code) financial 
statements for SURTECO GROUP SE

The financial statements of the holding company 

SURTECO GROUP SE were prepared on the basis of the 

accounting principles in accordance with the Third 

Book of the German Commercial Code (§§ 242 ff. 

and 264 ff. German HGB) in the version of the Bal-

ance Sheet Directive Implementation Act (Bilanz-

richtlinie-Umsetzungsgesetz, BiLRUG) for large joint-

stock companies and the Stock Corporation Act  

(Aktiengesetz, AktG). 

The balance sheet total of SURTECO GROUP SE fell 

back from € 647.0 million in the previous year to  

€ 575.0 million on 31 December 2019. On the assets 

side of the balance sheet, fixed assets at € 314.3 mil-

lion remained approximately at the level of the previ-

ous year (2018: € 314.7 million). The repayment of the 

last tranche from the USPP led to a reduction of cash 

in hand from € 102.1 million in the previous year to  

€ 59.8 million. Receivables from affiliated enterpris-

es came down from € 221.4 million on the year-earli-

er balance sheet date to € 191.7 million. Insofar, the 

current assets fell from € 331.6 million in the previ-

ous year to € 260.0 million on 31 December 2019. On 

the liabilities side, liabilities at € 279.5 million were 

below the year-earlier value of € 343.3 million pri-

marily owing to the repayment of the tranche from 

the USPP. Equity decreased to € 293.5 million after 

€ 297.6 million at year-end 2018. In conjunction with 

the reduction in balance sheet total, the equity ratio 

improved to 51.0 % after 46.0 % in the previous year.

The sales revenues of SURTECO GROUP SE in the 

amount of € 1.6 million (2018: € 2.2 million) entirely 

reflect intragroup reallocations. Income from profit 

and loss transfer agreements fell from € 14.7 million 

in the previous year to € 13.8 million in the business 

year 2019. Personnel expenses of € 6.6 million in 

the previous year were negatively impacted by pro-

visions for the change on the Management Board. 

Consequently, the personnel expenses of SURTECO 

GROUP SE fell to € 3.9 million in the business year 

2019. Interest income improved on account of the re-

payment of the tranche from the USPP in the amount 

of € -5.2 million in 2018 to € -4.1 million in the period 

under review. After the deduction of income tax in the 

amount of € -0.3 million (2018: € -1.6 million), net in-

come of € 4.4 million remained after € 0.8 million in 

the previous year. 

Overall statement on the economic  
situation

The operating development of the SURTECO Group 

was defined in the business year 2019 by the on-

going decline in demand from the laminate floor-

ing industry and by a generally saturated market in 

the European furniture sector. More business in the  
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Employees by regions

Location 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 Change

Germany 1,847 1,782 -65

Portugal 268 253 -15

Brazil 154 183 +29

United Kingdom 178 173 -5

USA 247 161 -86

Canada 130 126 -4

Sweden 108 120 +12

Asia 115 113 -2

Australia 99 102 +3

Poland 41 42 +1

Mexico 32 35 +3

Italy 28 26 -2

France 24 22 -2

Russia 13 13 -

Czech Republic 9 13 +4

Turkey 11 10 -1

3,304 3,174 -130

Segment Profiles was unable to compensate for this 

development trend so that after adjustment for all 

the one-off effects, sales were below the level of the 

previous year. Against this background, provisions 

were formed for personnel adjustments which exert-

ed a negative impact of € 12.6 million on the result 

in 2019. Associated with a focus on growth areas 

and corresponding investments, the restructuring 

is intended as a preventive measure in order to pre-

empt a gradual erosion of profits. Furthermore, in the 

business year 2019 one-off write-downs of invento-

ries and extraordinary depreciation on fixed assets 

totalling € 6.8 million were incurred. On account of 

the continuing robust balance sheet indicators and 

the positive cash flows, the company nevertheless 

continues to be well positioned. 

Research and development

The comprehensive product range of the SURTECO 

Group requires manufacturing concepts with appro-

priate centres of competence. Each production loca-

tion has therefore specialized in the manufacture of a 

specific product or group of products. The Research 

and Development Departments (R&D) therefore work 

locally in order to strategically meet the special re-

quirements for each application. The main functions 

of R&D Departments are geared to advanced devel-

opment of the technical characteristics of the prod-

ucts and a further advance in their resilience and 

long service life, new surface variations with optical 

and haptic effects, and a further improvement in 

their processing capability. 

The allocation of R&D employees was adjusted to 

take account of the restructuring of the segments. 

The employees working in quality control have been 

allocated to production since the business year 2019. 

Accordingly, an average of 168 employees (2018: 

212) were working in the R&D Departments in 2019. 

The personnel and non-personnel expenses for re-

Risk and opportunities report

Risk Management System

The SURTECO Group with its individual subsidiary 

companies is exposed to a large number of risks on 

account of global activities and intense competition. 

A risk is deemed to be any event or circumstance that 

can lead to a negative deviation for the SURTECO 

Group now and/or in future from the planned corpo-

rate goals. The Group deliberately enters into risks 

with the aim of ensuring sustainable growth and 

increasing the corporate value, but avoids unrea-

sonable risks. The remaining risks are reduced and 

managed by taking adequate measures. Foreseea-

ble risks are covered by taking out insurance policies 

and deploying derivative financial instruments, if 

this is feasible at reasonable commercial conditions. 

However, it is not possible to exclude the possibility 

that insurance cover or hedging with financial in-

search and development amounted to € 3.6 million 

after € 4.7 million in the previous year. The person-

nel expenses for R&D employees are included in the 

personnel expenses for the Group.

People and training

The number of employees decreased from 3,304 at 

year-end 2018 to 3,174 as at 31 December 2019. This 

is primarily due to an optimization programme for ad-

justing the processes and structures to the changed 

market conditions and to the divestment of the North 

American impregnating business in July 2019. Con-

sequently, an analysis over the period of the year re-

vealed that the number of people employed on aver-

age fell from 3,329 in 2018 to 3,217 in 2019. Since the 

optimization programme was primarily focused in the 

Segment Decoratives, the number of employees here 

came down to 2,408 after 2,563 in the previous year. 

In the Segment Technicals, the number of employees 

in the workforce came down from 277 on average in 

the previous year to 271 after adjustment for the di-

vested impregnating business. Conversely, the num-

ber of employees working in the Segment Profiles 

rose from 468 in 2018 to 491 in 2019. An average of 

19 employees were employed in the holding company 

SURTECO GROUP SE in 2019 after 20 in the previous 

year. The average age of employees decreased to 

41.9 years (2018: 42.5) compared with the previous 

year, while the average length of service decreased 

to 12.3 years (2018: 12.7). In line with the fall in the 

number of employees in Germany, the number of ap-

prentices also came down from 124 in the previous 

year to an average of 103 in the business year 2019. 

The training ratio as a function of the number of ap-

prentices in relation to the number of employees in 

Germany fell from 6.7 % in the previous year to 5.8 % 

in the year under review. 

struments is inadequate in individual cases or that 

appropriate protection cannot be obtained for spe-

cific risks.

The Risk Management System is an integral element 

within the Group’s strategy and planning process. It is 

made up of a number of modules which are integrat-

ed in the entire structural and workflow organiza-

tion. The Management Board of the SURTECO Group 

is responsible for policy relating to risks and for the 

internal management and controlling system. The 

Management Board works together with the man-

agement of the subsidiaries to identify risks. The 

management of the subsidiary companies imple-

ments the instructions of the Management Board 

and is responsible within this framework for risks 

that it enters into during the course of its business 

activities. The management includes the employees 

in the Risk Management Department in the frame-

work of exercising their management functions. The 

Risk Management Manual applicable throughout the 
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Group defines binding rules and conditions for the 

risk management process. This ensures that the 

identified individual risks are classified into damage 

and probability classes on the basis of their antici-

pated gross financial burden on EBT with respect to 

the current and subsequent years using the following 

tables. Overcoming individual risks up to € 1.0 million 

is deemed to be the responsibility of the individual 

companies.

The identified individual risks are also allocated to 

risk categories to which the SURTECO Group is fun-

damentally exposed. The following risk and opportu-

nities report explains these risk categories in general 

terms and provides information about the recorded 

individual risks in each category.

Appropriate measures for reducing and overcoming 

the risks are defined and implemented with mini-

mum costs for purposes of risk control and risk man-

agement. This may involve, for example, the tools 

of risk avoidance, risk limitation, risk transfer and 

the creation of adequate potential coverage. Since 

ACCOUNTING-BASED INTERNAL CON-
TROLLING AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
(ICS) – report in accordance with § 289 (4) 
and § 315 (4) GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE 
(HGB)

The ICS comprises the accounting-based processes 

and controls which are significant for consolidat-

ed financial statements. The SURTECO Group bases 

the structure of its internal controlling system on 

the relevant publications of the Institute of Auditors 

(Institute der Wirtschaftsprüfer, IDW). There were no 

significant amendments to the accounting-based ICS 

between the balance sheet date and the preparation 

of the management report.

The preparation of the accounts and the financial 

statements is primarily carried out locally and in 

accordance with local standards. The consolidated 

financial statements are drawn up in accordance 

with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and the application of accounting guidelines. 

A uniform chart of accounts and the use of account-

ing policies form the basis for these documents. The 

Group holding company supports the companies on 

issues relating to accounting and manages the con-

solidated accounting process.

The subsidiary companies are included in the consol-

idated financial statements using a partly integrat-

ed accounting and consolidation system, and on the 

basis of reporting packages. Consolidation is initially 

carried out as a multistage process at the level of the 

subsidiary companies, then at the level of segments 

and finally at Group level. The consolidated financial 

statements are prepared using a permanent struc-

tured process based on a calendar for the financial 

statements.

The plausibility of the figures is ensured at every 

level by manual and systematic checks. Transpar-

ent responsibilities and access rules for IT systems 

relevant to the financial statements are significant 

elements in this process. The controlling principles 

risks are continuously changing over time, the Risk 

Management System is also subject to continuous 

implementation of monitoring, documentation and 

reporting of the risks. Apart from regular report-

ing to the Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board, managers have a duty to report risks that oc-

cur unexpectedly without delay. The usefulness and 

efficiency of risk management and the controlling 

systems are monitored at regular intervals by the 

Management Board and the management of the sub-

sidiary companies. The Group is continually develop-

ing measures directed towards risk avoidance, risk 

reduction and risk hedging while also taking advan-

tage of any business opportunities that arise.

Opportunities essentially arise on account of positive 

developments from outside influences of the kind 

that are described in the risk categories. Any oppor-

tunities identified are also recorded and documented, 

although they are not allocated to classes.

of separation of functions, double-check principle 

and approval and release procedures are applied to 

the annual financial statements and the consolidat-

ed financial statements. Information from external 

service providers is checked for plausibility.

The risks and opportunities presented below apply 

equally to SURTECO GROUP SE and the SURTECO 

Group.

Strategic corporate risks and opportunities

MACROECONOMIC RISKS, MARKET RISKS AND  

MARKET OPPORTUNITIES

The business development of the SURTECO Group 

depends significantly on macroeconomic conditions 

due to the Group’s global activities and the high pro-

portion of foreign sales. The economic development 

of the relevant countries is therefore analyzed as an 

indicator for the business performance of the com-

pany since the manufactured products are primarily 

processed to create durable goods, such as furniture 

and flooring. Experience tells us that the inclination 

of consumers to purchase these goods correlates 

with economic development. Furthermore, the per-

formance of the flooring, furniture and wood-based 

industries, in the individual countries and markets is 

important for the business development of the Group. 

The Group has production sites and additional sales 

locations on four continents, and this places the 

Group in the position of being able to supply its cus-

tomers worldwide quickly, as well as in a position 

to identify trends in regional markets at an early 

stage. This gives the company an opportunity to gain 

first-mover advantage when participating in trends. 

The qualitative and quantitative data from the mar-

kets and the subsidiary companies are recorded and 

evaluated in a differentiated system of internal re-

porting. This highlights and analyses any deviations 

from budgets, compliance with plans, and the emer-

gence of new monetary and non-monetary risks. The 
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Damage classes Qualitative Quantitative

1 Minor > € 1.0 million - € 2.0 million

2 Moderate > € 2.0 million - € 3.0 million

3 Major > € 3.0 million - € 4.5 million

4 Threat to existence as a going concern > € 4.5 million

Probability class Qualitative Quantitative

1 Slight   0 % - 24 %

2 Moderate 25 % - 49 % 

3 Likely 50 % - 74 %

4 Very Likely 75 % - 100 %
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business is then managed on the basis of the infor-

mation gathered. The most relevant geographical 

markets are located in Europe, in North and South 

America, and Australia. The Group may be able to 

benefit from an economic upswing in individual mar-

kets that stimulates demand for furniture. This would 

enable the companies to participate indirectly in the 

upturn as a supplier. On the other hand, a global or 

local recession could result in consumers refraining 

from making investments in durable goods such as 

furniture, which could entail a drop in orders at the 

SURTECO Group.

Similar to the development of geographical markets, 

the Group also monitors the dynamic performance 

of relevant sectors. The focus of this analysis is es-

sentially on the flooring, furniture and wood-based 

industries. The Group will also be able to benefit from 

an upswing in sector development but equally will al-

so be affected by an adverse development.

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group.

COMPETITIVE RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

An increased production depth has been observed in 

the market over recent years. This may lead to ex-

cess capacities and tougher competition. New local 

competitors may also enter the market at any time, 

particularly in the plastics sector. Conversely, the 

barriers to entry in the paper segment are relatively 

high on account of the investment sums required. 

The Group is countering the high level of competitive 

pressure by expansion and reinforcement of existing 

business, innovative products, and not least a further 

increase in efficiency and productivity.

Since the SURTECO Group is represented worldwide 

through its network of sales companies and already 

holds a strong market position in its most important 

divisions, there is an opportunity to achieve further 

market penetration, for example on the back of inte-

gration of sales and marketing activities of the indi-

vidual subsidiary companies. There is also an oppor-

on increasing integration of computer-supported 

business processes in communication between the 

Group companies and in communication with cus-

tomers, suppliers and business partners, ongoing 

development of the measures used to make infor-

mation secure are a top priority. Risks relating to 

the availability, dependability and efficiency of in-

formation technology systems are limited by making 

strategic investments and as appropriate by com-

missioning specialist companies. The Group reacts 

selectively to increased demands placed on the se-

curity of our systems within the scope of compre-

hensive security management. These include, for 

example, investment in current firewall, antivirus 

and high-availability systems. Potential risks can 

also be avoided through implementation of uniform 

software systems where all aspects relating to pro-

duction and business administration are integrated 

and efficiently processed.

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group. 

PERSONNEL RISKS

The success of the company is dependent on having 

a workforce of qualified personnel at all levels. Short-

er innovation cycles and increasingly international 

links place ever more stringent demands on the skills 

of technical specialists and managers. Employees 

receive regular basic and advanced training inside 

the company and with external providers in order to 

ensure staff have the appropriate qualifications in 

the relevant functions and countries. 

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group. 

PRODUCTION RISKS/ TECHNOLOGY OPPORTUNITIES

An efficient and smooth-running production pro-

cess is the enabler for the delivery capability of the 

companies. This entails the risk that machines or 

equipment may break down or the production work-

flow may be disrupted in some other way. To a cer-

tunity to play a proactive role in future consolidation 

within the sector.

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group.  

Operational risks

PROCUREMENT RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

The Group is dependent on outsourcing from suppli-

ers and partners for the procurement of semi-fin-

ished products and services. Inclusion of third parties 

in the equation creates risks, for example unexpected 

supply difficulties or unforeseeable price increases 

resulting from market consolidation, market bottle-

necks or currency effects which could impact neg-

atively on results. The Group meets risks associated 

with supply by a process of continuous material and 

supplier management. The measures involve ana-

lyzing the market intensively, carrying out in-depth 

quality inspection on the basis of jointly agreed spec-

ifications, arranging supply contracts, and detailed 

research into alternative raw materials. 

An individual risk (procurement of semi-finished 

products) in damage class 1 and probability class 

3 was identified in the Segment Decoratives in this 

risk class. 

The company will be presented with opportunities if 

there is an unexpected reduction in the price of raw 

materials since this would exert a significantly pos-

itive impact on the earnings situation. The research 

and development departments have a rolling pro-

gramme of continuously carrying out research into 

alternative raw materials and additives so that there 

is a possibility of identifying cheaper or higher quality 

substitute products.

IT RISKS

Ensuring secure operation of all business processes 

requires constant monitoring and adaptation of the 

information technologies used in the Group. Against 

the background of a growing potential for risk based 

tain extent, the companies of the Group are able to 

distribute production over several sites and thereby 

effectively minimize the risk of downtime. Produc-

tion processes that cannot be distributed, or this can 

only be done with difficulty, are protected against 

production outage with standard measures such as 

subdivision into different fire zones. Furthermore, the 

production procedures, manufacturing technologies, 

machinery used and processes are continuously de-

veloped and optimized, the systems and equipment 

are carefully maintained, and the employees receive 

intensive training. If there are any complaints, ex-

tensive investigations are carried out in order to as-

certain the causes. It is not possible to exclude the 

possibility that complaints may actually be traced to 

intermediate products, and when this is the case it is 

not always effective to seek recourse with the sup-

plier. Environmental officers apply defined standards 

and regulations to monitor the environmental safety 

of products and production.

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group. 

The production area also offers opportunities. A con-

tinuous improvement process was implemented to 

identify and continuously realize any established 

potential for efficiency increases. The development 

of new production techniques and improvements in 

the existing processes also offer the opportunity of 

further improving the profitability of the company. 

For example, the Group makes investments such as 

a digital printing system for full-width decorative 

papers and production operation on this facility is 

expected to be launched already in 2020. This print-

ing technology offers the opportunity to complement 

conventional printing technology with new decorative 

variants and economical small-batch production. 
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Financial risks

INTEREST AND CURRENCY RISKS, CURRENCY OP-

PORTUNITIES

The global nature of the business activities of the 

SURTECO Group results in delivery and payment flows 

in different currencies. Conversion of business fig-

ures and balance sheets from foreign subsidiaries in-

to euros may entail currency risks (translation risks). 

For example, the Probos Group generates around one 

third of its sales revenues in Brazil denominated in 

the historically volatile currency of the Brazilian real. 

The biggest proportion of sales in a foreign currency 

within the SURTECO Group was represented by the 

US dollar with approximately 14 % in 2019. The trans-

lation risk is not hedged because the influences are 

non-cash. Conversely, transaction risks arise as a re-

sult of the procurement or sale of goods in different 

currencies and from foreign-currency loans, which 

are given out to Group companies for financing. 

Interest risks are mainly incurred for short-term fi-

nancial liabilities. The majority of long-term financial 

liabilities are structured with fixed-interest rates. The 

company meets the remaining interest and currency 

risks by hedging positions with derivative financial 

instruments, and regular and intensive analysis of a 

range of early-warning indicators. 

Hedging of individual risks is discussed and decided 

by the central Treasury Department with the Manage-

ment Board and the responsible Managing Directors. 

Where possible, currency fluctuations are balanced 

through natural hedging. 

Opportunities are possible if there are appropriate 

positive developments of the currencies.

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group.

sary. If the indicators are breached, the lenders have 

the right to serve notice on the loan agreements. The 

financial indicators were complied with during the 

business year 2019. From today’s perspective, the 

financial indicators can also be complied with in the 

business year 2020.

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group. 

FLUCTUATIONS IN VALUE FOR PARITICPATIONS

The SURTECO Group recognizes goodwill in the balance 

sheet. The values in use for the cash generating units 

of the Group were assessed as being higher than the 

net asset values within the scope of the impairment 

test for the business year 2019. As a consequence, 

no impairments were carried out. There was also no 

requirement for adjustments in any of the participa-

tions of SURTECO GROUP SE. However, the possibility 

that planned targets may not be reached in the future 

cannot be excluded; there may also be a requirement 

to carry out an impairment.

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group.

Legal and regulatory risks / opportunities 

Changes in supervisory requirements, customs reg-

ulations or other barriers to trade, as well as possible 

restrictions on price or foreign currency could impact 

negatively on the sales and the profitability.

The companies in the Group have formed adequate 

provisions to meet warranty claims. Part of the war-

ranty risks have been covered by commercially ef-

fective insurance policies. Risks are reduced by the 

high level of production certainty, and the outstand-

ing quality standard for the manufactured products 

reduce risk. 

Risks can also arise from compliance breaches. The 

Management Board has implemented a Compliance 

Management System in order to prevent this from 

happening. It is based on the company’s Code of 

LIQUIDITY RISKS

The Corporate Treasury Department in the holding 

company SURTECO GROUP SE is responsible for mon-

itoring and controlling the liquidity of the Group and 

the major subsidiary companies. This provides an up-

to-date picture of liquidity development at any time. 

The high levels of operating cash flow and the short 

payment targets mean that the companies have ad-

equate liquid funds continuously available. There is 

also the option of drawing on open credit lines and on 

factoring agreements.

Nevertheless, there is a risk that earnings and liquid-

ity can be compromised by default on customer ac-

counts receivable and non-compliance with payment 

targets. The Group counters this risk by regularly re-

viewing the credit ratings of contracting parties and 

carefully monitoring default with customers. The risk 

arising from debit balances in accounts payable is low 

on account of the broadly-based customer structure 

and cover provided by appropriate trade credit insur-

ance policies.

No individual risks above the threshold of € 1.0 mil-

lion were identified in this risk class within the Group. 

FINANCING RISKS AND FINANCING OPPORTUNITIES

The refinancing of the Group and the subsidiary com-

panies is generally carried out centrally by SURTECO 

GROUP SE. The majority of the financial liabilities 

of the Group have residual terms of up to five years  

(-> maturity structure in item 34.3 of the Notes to 

the Consolidated Financial Statements) and primarily 

have fixed interest rates. The Group operates with a 

wide base of lenders comprising insurance companies 

and banks. Financial indicators were agreed with the 

lenders at standard market conditions in loan agree-

ments, for example the ratio of EBITDA to interest 

income, and these have to be complied with. These 

indicators are continuously monitored by the Man-

agement Board and the Supervisory Board. If there is 

an impending breach of any of the indicators, consul-

tations on individual measures take place as neces-

Conduct. Compliance with the Code is monitored by 

Internal Auditing. Nevertheless, the possibility of be-

coming involved in court or arbitration proceedings 

cannot be excluded. 

When business activities are carried out in third-par-

ty countries and at foreign locations of the Group, 

there are risks of social unrest and economic and 

political instability. This may also involve national-

ization proceedings relating to private assets. Fur-

thermore, there is a general risk that unexpected 

fiscal risks may occur on account of the interna-

tional alignment of the Group and the large number 

of subsidiaries. 

An individual legal risk in damage class 2 and proba-

bility class 1 was identified in this risk class.  

Risks from the coronavirus pandemic

After the balance sheet date, the novel coronavirus, as 

a result of which the respiratory disease COVID-19 can 

be triggered, quickly spread across the world with a 

significant number of infections. There is the general 

risk that the coronavirus pandemic may tangibly im-

pact on supply chains, sales markets and production 

processes. Consequently, the procurement of goods 

may be fundamentally negatively impacted. Against 

this background, the company is examining options 

of being able to take countermeasures as appropri-

ate by sourcing goods from other suppliers. A similar 

situation exists in relation to the sales markets of the 

SURTECO Group, although it is important to note that 

in important markets public life including the sale 

and production of furniture has been locked down 

and this will undoubtedly be reflected in the sales 

situation. The Group is meeting production outages 

at its German plants with short-time working, and 

at foreign locations, it is taking up any aid packages 

available in the individual countries outside Germany. 

A decline in business activity or bad debts may exert 

a negative impact on the liquidity of the Group. The 

Group has already made use of available credit lines 
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in order to secure liquidity, and the liquidity status is 

regularly checked. Investments are being reviewed 

and postponed as necessary. If sales and earnings 

fall significantly, there is a risk that the covenants 

will be negatively impacted.

In order to ensure that business processes are main-

tained, the Group has taken appropriate measures 

such as home-office workplaces social distancing 

and regularly updating the workforce with informa-

tion from the crisis staff that has been set up.

Overall risk assessments

The Group regularly monitors the attainment of busi-

ness targets and the risks and risk-limiting meas-

ures. The Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board are informed of risks at an early stage. There 

are no risks which alone or in combination with other 

risks could pose a threat to the continued existence 

of the company as a going concern. Even taking the 

coronavirus pandemic into account, future risks pos-

ing a threat to the continued existence of the compa-

ny as a going concern cannot currently be identified.

The analysis of all risks and opportunities leads to 

the conclusion that the material influencing factors 

for the business operations of the SURTECO Group 

come from the procurement markets and arise from 

the framework conditions for the global economy and 

the relevant sectors. Consequently, the main poten-

tial for risk relates to an unexpected price increase or 

shortage of raw materials, and in a recession in the 

global economy or in individual markets and sectors 

relevant for the Group. By the same token, an eco-

nomic upswing or more favourable purchasing con-

ditions also offer the most significant opportunities 

for more positive business development.

The opportunities and risks described can exert a sig-

nificant effect on the net assets, financial position 

and results of the Group’s operations. Additional risks 

that are unknown at the moment could also impact 

negatively on business activities.

paper prices during 2019 should at least exert a pos-

itive impact on the beginning of 2020. 

The following sales and earnings forecasts take ac-

count of facts and events that were known on the 

date when the financial statements were prepared. In 

particular, the impacts of the coronavirus pandemic 

on the SURTECO Group cannot yet be quantified on 

account of the exceptionally high level of uncertainty 

involved. A forecast is therefore provided as originally 

planned without the effects of the pandemic, sup-

plemented by the expected qualitative development 

in conjunction with the coronavirus pandemic. The 

forecast period is the business year 2020.  

Sales forecast for the Group  
and segments

Without the effects of the coronavirus pandemic, the 

company is anticipating a slight increase in sales rev-

enues for the Segment Decoratives compared with 

the previous year. Adjusted by the absence of sales 

from the divested impregnating business, the sales 

of the Segment Technicals are also likely to be slight-

ly above the value for 2019, without the effects of 

the coronavirus pandemic. Without the effects of the 

coronavirus pandemic, the management is assuming 

that a significant increase in sales for the Segment 

Profiles will take place by comparison with the pre-

vious year. In spite of the absence of the divested 

impregnating business in North America (included 

for seven months in 2019), the company is expecting 

sales in the segment at Group level to be in the corri-

dor between € 675 million and € 700 million, without 

the effects of the coronavirus pandemic.  

Outlook report

Macroeconomic framework conditions

At the beginning of 2020, the IMF was still assuming 

a modest upswing in the global economy by 40 ba-

sis points to 3.3 % over the course of 2020 in spite 

of the sustained geopolitical uncertainties and the 

ongoing unresolved concerns about the trade con-

flicts between the USA and China on the one hand 

and the eurozone on the other hand. In view of the 

corona pandemic, the IMF however drastically re-

duced its forecast in April 2020. The IMF now expects 

a downturn of 3.0 % for the global economy. A decline 

of 6.1 % is expected in advanced economies, with a 

decline of 5.9 % in the US and 7.5 % in the euro area. 

In emerging and developing Europe, the IMF forecasts 

a decline of 5.2 % and in the emerging and developing 

Economies of 1.0 %, while China is expected to post 

slight growth of 1.2 %.1

Framework conditions for the  
SURTECO Group

Even before the effects of the coronavirus pandemic 

emerged, the Association of the German Furniture 

Industry (VDM) was only expecting a slight increase 

of approximately one percent for the German furni-

ture industry in 2020 and SURTECO was not expect-

ing any significant momentum for demand from the 

laminate flooring market. However, the Group is also 

operating in sectors with more potential for growth 

than in the furniture sector, for example with the 

caravan industry and interior design for ships, and 

SURTECO is supplying virtually all industrial sectors 

with technical extrusions (profiles). 

A key factor for the profit margins is in development 

on procurement markets. After purchase prices for 

the most important plastics fell back in the business 

year 2019, further development is currently still in-

fluenced by a lot of uncertainty factors. The fall in 

Earnings forecast for the Group  
and segments

Compared with 2019, the company is forecasting a 

substantial increase in EBIT in the Segment Deco-

ratives, without the effects of the coronavirus pan-

demic. However, a significant increase in EBIT is also 

anticipated in the Segments Technicals and Profiles, 

without the effects of the coronavirus pandemic. 

Without the effects of the coronavirus pandemic, 

Group EBIT is projected to rise to between € 40 mil-

lion and € 45 million. 

Overall statement on expected  
performance
 

The impacts of the coronavirus pandemic cannot 

currently be estimated due to the exceptionally high 

level of uncertainty associated with this issue. Ow-

ing to the wide-ranging government measures intro-

duced to stop the spread of the pandemic, a global 

recession should be anticipated together with sales 

that are likely to be substantially below the forecast 

of between € 675 million and € 700 million. A sub-

stantial drop in Group earnings below the forecast 

of between € 40 million and € 45 million should also 

be anticipated. If sales and earnings fall significantly 

lower, there is a risk that the covenants will be neg-

atively impacted.
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Compensation report	

This report describes the compensation system for 

the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, 

as well as explaining the structure and the level of 

compensation for individual executive officers in the 

business year 2019. It takes into account the recom-

mendations of the German Corporate Governance 

Code in the version dated 7 February 2017 with the 

exception of the deviations published in the Decla-

ration of Compliance and observes the applicable 

requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB), 

and the Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

Compensation of the Management Board

Definition and review of the compensation 

structure

The compensation structure and the level of com-

pensation for the Members of the Management Board 

are defined on the basis of the proposal of the Su-

pervisory Board’s Personnel Committee and are reg-

ularly reviewed. The existing compensation system 

guarantees a level of remuneration appropriate to 

the activity and responsibility of the Members of 

the Management Board. Alongside the functions of 

the individual Members of the Management Board 

and their personal performance, further factors tak-

en into account include the economic situation, the 

success and future prospects of the company, and 

the commensurate nature of the compensation in 

view of the comparative environment and the com-

pensation structure otherwise applicable within the 

SURTECO Group.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the compensation 

system with the assistance of external expert con-

sultants, and has come to the conclusion that it com-

plies with the applicable statutory regulations and 

the recommendations of the German Corporate Gov-

ernance Code with the exception of the deviations 

published in the Declaration of Conformity.

they are decreased or increased proportionately as a 

percentage if the average bonuses of the last three 

business years fall short of, or exceed, the bonuses 

of the third last business year. The retention cannot 

be a negative value. If a loss in the previous year 

has already reduced the basis of assessment, no re-

tention is made. The maximum bonus for the Chair-

man of the Management Board, Mr. Wolfgang Moyses,  

totals € 1,500,000 p.a. The contract of service for the 

Member of the Management Board Mr. Andreas Riedl 

has no upper limit for bonuses. If a Board Member 

steps down from their office, the contracts of ser-

vice make provision that the Board Member either (i) 

waits for the regular calculation of the retention af-

ter expiry of the reference period or (ii) the retention 

can be paid out with a flat-rate deduction of 10  % 

– the latter with the provision that the amount paid 

out may not be higher than the amount which was 

calculated for the last reference period. The retained 

25 % of the retention will be paid out after expiry  

of the reference period for the former Members of 

the Management Board Dr.-Ing Herbert Müller (until  

30 September 2019) and Dr.-Ing. Gereon Schäfer  

(until 31 March 2018) through the regular payment 

process. 

Non-cash benefits and other payments

The Members of the Management Board receive 

fringe benefits in the form of non-cash benefits that 

fundamentally entail values to be recognized from 

the tax guidelines for use of a company car and var-

ious insurance premiums. Mr. Wolfgang Moyses also 

receives a time limited supplement for accommo-

dation in Buttenwiesen. He additionally receives an 

allowance amounting to € 000s 300 p.a. for his re-

tirement provision.

Ex-gratia compensation for post-contractual 

competition prohibition

The former Member of the Management Board Dr.-Ing. 

Gereon Schäfer, whose appointment and contract of 

The compensation system is described below for the 

reporting year.

Compensation elements

The total cash compensation is comprised of a fixed 

compensation (basic salary) that is independent of 

any performance element and a performance-based 

variable component (bonus). The compensation for 

Members of the Management Board also includes 

non-cash benefits and other payments.

Basic salary

The relevant basic salary of the Members of the Man-

agement Board is paid in equal monthly instalments. 

For the Members of the Management Board, it amounts 

to € 550,000 p.a. for Mr. Wolfgang Moyses (Chairman 

of the Management Board from 1 October 2019) and to 

€ 360,000 p.a. (2018: € 280,000 p.a.) for Mr. Andreas 

Riedl. The annual basic salary for Dr. Ing. Herbert Müller 

(Chairman of the Management Board until 30 Septem-

ber 2019) amounted to € 360,000 p.a.

None of the Members of the Management Board has un-

dertaken separately remunerated functions as execu-

tive officers at the consolidated subsidiary companies.

Bonuses

The applicable compensation system provides for 

variable remuneration (bonuses), which the Super-

visory Board defines at its discretion on the basis 

of the consolidated result before tax (EBT) – adjust-

ed by additions/curtailments to be carried out as 

appropriate – in accordance with IFRS taking ac-

count of the return on sales. The correlation with a 

sustainable company performance and a basis of 

assessment over several years pursuant to § 87 (1) 

sentences 2 and 3 Stock Corporation Act (AktG) are 

guaranteed by the fact that 75 % of the bonus for the 

affected business year are paid in the following year 

and 25 % are retained without payment of interest. 

The retained 25 % are paid out after three years, and 

service came to an end on 31 March 2018, receives 

half of the fixed salary paid in 2017 and half of the 

variable compensation received in the last twelve 

months prior to the ending of his contract of service 

each year for a period of 24 months after ending his 

employment relationship, in respect of his post-con-

tractual competition prohibition. For the business 

year 2019, the ex-gratia compensation amounted to 

a total of € 000s 600. 

Premature termination of the contract of 

service with the Chairman of the Management 

Board Dr.-Ing. Herbert Müller

In March 2019, the company and Dr.-Ing. Herbert 

Müller reached an agreement to terminate the con-

tract of service of Dr. Müller as Chairman of the Man-

agement Board with effect from 30 September 2019. 

The agreement provides for continuation of the pay-

ment of the fixed salary of Dr. Müller (€ 000s 360 p.a. 

gross) as previously in monthly instalments until the 

end of the contract. A bonus for 2018 was also de-

fined in accordance with the previously applicable 

principles and paid out in order to safeguard sus-

tainable corporate governance. The provisions de-

fined in the contract of service will continue to apply 

unchanged in respect of the retentions for previous 

years. The option of paying the retentions prema-

turely with a flat-rate deduction of 10 % was not tak-

en up. Diverging from this, a bonus for the business 

year 2019 was defined on the basis of the half-year 

financial statements for the first half of 2019 in the 

amount of € 520,000.00 gross and it was agreed that 

retentions for safeguarding sustainability on it will 

not be made. This amount was not previously paid out 

to Dr. Müller. Furthermore, Dr. Müller received a one-

off payment of € 2.45 million gross in compensation 

for the remaining period of his contract of service. 

This was paid in 2019. The payment and other ben-

efits under the agreement also cover an ex-gratia 

compensation for the post-contractual competition 

prohibition relating to Dr. Müller, which applies until 
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30 June 2021. The other contractual fringe benefits 

(insurance policies, reimbursement of expenses, con-

tributions to private pension funds, etc.) came to an 

end when the employment relationship ceased, with 

the exception of the transfer of the company car, 

which Dr. Müller will be able to use up until the regular 

end of his appointment on 30 June 2021. 

D&O insurance

A Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance (“D&O” 

insurance) is provided for the Members of the Man-

agement Board. Pursuant to the requirements of § 93 

(2) Sentence 3 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG), 

the excess (deductible) amounts to 10 % of the loss 

or damage up to an amount of one and a half times 

the fixed annual compensation of the Board Member.

Payments by third parties

During the business year under review, no Member of 

the Management Board received payments or equiv-

alent plan benefits from third parties (including com-

panies with which the SURTECO Group maintains 

business relations) in relation to their activity as a 

Member of the Management Board.

Loans to Members of the Management Board

During the period under review, no advances or loans 

were granted to Members of the Management Board 

of SURTECO GROUP SE.

Benefits for preliminary termination of  

employment

The contracts of service for the Members of the  

Management Board automatically come to an end 

when the period of appointment for the relevant Mem-

ber of the Management Board is concluded. If the ap-

pointment of a Member of the Management Board is 

revoked during the term of their contract of service, 

the Board Member affected can be placed on admin-

istrative leave for the remaining term of the contract 

and the compensation will continue to be paid. In each 
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Awarded allowances Dr.-Ing. Herbert Müller Wolfgang Moyses Andreas Riedl

Chairman
until 30 September 2019

Chairman
from 1 October 2019

Chief Financial Officer

€ 000s 2018 2019 2019 
(Min)

2019 
(Max)

2018 2019 2019 
(Min)

2019 
(Max)

2018 2019 2019 
(Min)

2019 
(Max)

Fixed compensation 360 270 270 270 - 137 137 137 280 360 360 360

Fringe benefits 48 32 0 1 - 7 0 2 39 40 0 1

Total 408 302 270 1 - 144 137 2 319 400 360 1

Variable compensation  
for one year

220 520 0 1 - 0 0 1,125 158 0 0 1

Variable compensation over several years
(target attainment on the average bonuses of the 
past three years)

74 0 0 1 - 0 0 375 53 0 0 1

Total 702 822 270 1 - 144 0 1,500 530 400 360 1

Pension expenses 100 75 100 100 - 75 75 75 - - - -

Total compensation 802 897 370 1 - 219 212 2 530 400 360 1

1 The fringe benefits as well as the variable compensation for the year and several years, and consequently total compensation do not have an upper 
limit for the amount.
2 The fringe benefits and consequently total compensation do not have an upper limit for the amount.

Cash inflow Dr.-Ing. Herbert Müller Wolfgang Moyses Andreas Riedl

Chairman
until 30 September 2019

Chairman
from 1 October 2019

Chief Financial Officer

€ 000s 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Fixed compensation 270 360 137 - 360 280

Fringe benefits 32 48 7 - 40 39

Total 302 408 144 - 400 319

Variable compensation 
for one year

220 679 0 - 158 222

Variable compensation over several years
(target attainment on the average bonuses of the 
past three years)

187 192 1 - 1 1

Miscellaneous 2,4502 - - - - -

Total 3,159 1,279 144 - 558 541

Pension expenses 75 100 75 - - -

Total compensation 3,234 1,379 219 - 558 541
1 In accordance with the compensation system applicable since 2015, compensation payable over several years will only be paid out after three 
years. See section on “Bonuses” in the Compensation Report for more information on this..
2 An agreement on a one-time payment of € 000s 2,450 was concluded with Dr.-Ing. Herbert Müller (see section “Premature termination of the  
contract of service with the Chairman of the Management Board Dr.-Ing. Herbert Müller” in this report).

The following table shows the inflow (amount paid out) for the business years 2018 and 2019 from fixed 
remuneration, fringe benefits, variable compensation for the year and pension expenses. 

The following tables show compensation for the Members of the Management Board in accordance with 
the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code as amended on 7 February 2017:
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case, notice of termination can be served on the con-

tracts of service by both sides for good cause. If a 

Member of the Management Board is temporarily in-

capacitated and unable to work, the basic salary will 

be paid in the case of Dr. Wolfgang Moyses for a peri-

od of up to twelve months and in the case of Mr. Riedl 

up to six months. If death occurs during the period of 

the employment relationship, the heirs of the relevant 

Board Member have the right to continued payment of 

the basic salary for the month in which death occurs 

Compensation for the Supervisory Board

Compensation elements

The compensation for Members of the Supervisory 

Board is regulated in § 12 of the Articles of Associ-

ation. Accordingly, the Members of the Supervisory 

Board receive, apart from reimbursement of their ex-

penses, compensation payable after the business year 

has come to an end and after the resolution on the 

appropriation of the profit has been passed by the An-

nual General Meeting. The compensation is € 400.00 

per eurocent dividend per share for the year for which 

compensation is paid, but a minimum of € 18,000.00. 

If the dividend exceeds 90 eurocents per share, the 

compensation per eurocent shall only be € 200.00 

for the part of the dividend which exceeds 90 euro-

cents. The compensation increases by a factor of two 

times for the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and 

by one and a half times for each substitute chairman. 

The members of the Audit Committee also receive a 

further remuneration amounting to a total of up to  

€ 40,000.00 annually. The Supervisory Board decides 

on the amount and allocation of this further remuner-

ation based on the proposal by the Audit Committee, at 

their discretion taking into account the time taken by 

each of the members of the Audit Committee to carry 

out their functions.

D&O insurance

A Directors’ & Officers’ liability insurance for pure-

ly financial losses (“D&O” insurance) is provided for 

Members of the Supervisory Board. The excess (de-

ductible) amounts to € 50,000 for each insurance 

claim and year.

Other benefits

Members of the Supervisory Board receive no other 

amounts in remuneration above the compensation 

presented above or any other benefits for personal-

ly provided services, in particular for consultancy or 

mediation services.

and for a further six months. The contracts of service 

for the Members of the Management Board do not 

include any benefits for the eventuality of a prema-

ture termination in the event of a change of control 

(Change of Control clause). 

Loans to Members of the Supervisory Board

During the period under review, no advances or loans 

were granted to Members of the Supervisory Board 

of SURTECO GROUP SE.

Information pursuant to  
§ 289a and § 315a German 
Commercial Code (HGB)

Capital stock

The subscribed capital (capital stock) of SURTECO 

GROUP SE is € 15,505,731.00 and is fully paid up. it 

is divided into 15,505,731 no-par-value bearer shares 

(ordinary shares) corresponding to a proportion of the 

capital stock of € 1.00 in each case. Each share guar-

antees one vote at the Annual General Meeting of the 

company. Apart from the statutory restrictions in cer-

tain cases, there are no restrictions on the voting right. 

There are no different categories of voting rights.

Restrictions on voting rights and  
share transfers

The Management Board is aware that shareholders 

of SURTECO GROUP SE have joined together to form 

an association under civil law entitled “Share pool 

SURTECO SE”. The objective of this pool is to jointly 

exercise the voting rights of 5,406,475 no-par-value 

shares in SURTECO GROUP SE (status 31 December 

2019). Dispositions over shares in SURTECO GROUP 

SE in the share pool are only permissible in accord-

ance with the conditions of the pool agreement or 

with the consent of the other pool members.
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Compensation for the Supervisory Board 2019:

in € Total 
compensation

2018

Total 
compensation

2019

Basic salary Compensation 
for work carried 
out on the Audit 

Committee

Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Großmann  
Chairman

52,000 45,000 36,000 9,000

Björn Ahrenkiel  
until 27 June 2019

49,000 19,700 13,200 6,500

Dr. Markus Miele  
until 27 June 2019

33,000 13,200 13,200 -

Dr. Christoph Amberger  
Vice Chairman

22,000 27,000 27,000 -

Andreas Engelhardt
Deputy Chairman 
since 28 June 2018

11,200 34,000 27,000 7,000

Tim Fiedler  
since 14 October 2019

- 3,900 3,900 -

Jens Krazeisen 22,000 18,000 18,000 -

Wolfgang Moyses
until 30 September 2019

31,000 17,500 13,500 4,000

Tobias Pott
since 27 June 2019

- 15,700 9,200 6,500

Udo Sadlowski
until 21 January 2019

22,000 1,000 1,000 -

Dr.-Ing. Walter Schlebusch  
until 28 June 2018

15,300 - - -

Thomas Stockhausen 22,000 18,000 18,000 -

Heinz-Dieter Stöckler
since 5 February 2019

- 16,300 16,300 -

Jörg Wissemann
since 27 June 2019

- 15,700 9,200 6,500

Total 279,500 245,000 205,500 39,500

|   Information pursuant to § 289a and § 315a German Commercial Code (HGB)   |   
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Direct or indirect participations greater 
than 10 % of the voting rights

The following shareholders have notified us of a di-

rect or indirect participation in our company that is 

greater than 10 % of the voting rights:

Appointment and dismissal of Member 
of the Management Board

The appointment and dismissal of Members of the 

Management Board is carried out pursuant to §§ 84 

ff. Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Changes to the Arti-

cles of Association are made in accordance with the 

regulations of §§ 179 ff. Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

Separate Non-financial Group Report

The Non-financial Group Report for the business year 

2019 pursuant to § 315b German Commercial Code 

(HGB) is published on the Internet portal age of the 

company at www.surteco-group.com.

Follow-up report

We refer to our explanations in the sections “Risks 

from the coronavirus pandemic” and “Overall state-

ment on expected performance” in this report as well 

as the appendix for information on events after the 

balance sheet date.

Declaration on
corporate governance

The Declaration on Corporate Management pursuant 

to § 289f and § 315d German Commercial Code (HGB) 

in the form of the Corporate Governance Report in-

cluding details on defining the promotion of women 

in management positions in accordance with § 76 (4) 

and § 111 (5) Stock Corporation Act, the description of 

the diversity concept in relation to the composition 

of the body authorized to represent the company and 

the Supervisory Board, the Declaration of Compliance 

with justification and archive, the information on the 

practices of company management, the composition 

and working methods of the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board including its committees, the 

Articles of Association (statutes), and the auditor 

for 2019, can be accessed on the home page of the 

company by going to www.surteco-group.com and 

clicking on the menu item “Corporate Governance”. 

Appropriation of the net profit

The Management Board in consultation with the Su-

pervisory Board of SURTECO GROUP SE will submit 

a proposal on the appropriation of the net profit of 

SURTECO GROUP SE in the amount of € 6.2 million at 

a later date owing to the current uncertain situation 

in relation to the coronavirus pandemic.

For computational reasons, rounding differences of 

+/- one unit can occur.
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Calculation of indicators
Cost of materials ratio in % Cost of materials/Total output

Debt -service coverage ratio in % (Consolidated net profit + Depreciation and amortization)/Net debt

EBIT margin in % EBIT/Sales revenues

EBITDA margin in % EBITDA/Sales revenues

Equity ratio in % Equity/Total equity (= balance sheet total)

Earnings per share in € Consolidated net profit/Weighted average of the issued shares

Free cash flow in € Cash flow from current business operations - (Acquisition of property, 
plant and equipment + Acquisition of intangible assets + Acquisition of 
companies + Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 
+ Dividends received)

Interest cover factor EBITDA/Interest (net) (Interest income – Interest expenses)

Level of debt in % Net debt/Equity

Net debt in € Short-term financial liabilities + Long-term financial liabilities –  
Cash and cash equivalents

Personnel expense ratio in % Personnel expenses/Total output

Working capital in € (Trade accounts receivable + Inventories) – Trade accounts payable 

Name, place Voting rights in %

Klöpfer & Königer Verwaltungs-
GmbH, Garching, Germany

15.00

ECCM Bank plc, Malta 12.28
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THE SURTECO SHARE

SURTECO share with weak 
performance in the second 
half year

Up until the middle of 2019, the share of SURTECO 

GROUP SE was able to benefit from a generally pos-

itive stock-market environment. Communication of 

the business figures for 2018 and robust development 

in the first quarter ensured that the share certificates 

climbed from € 22.30 at the end of 2018 to a high for 

the year of € 27.50 on 10 May. Profit-taking and pay-

out of the dividend took the share price back to below 

€ 26 at the end of June. An emerging trend in the third 

quarter for above-average selling pressure relating 

to small-cap shares led to significant price erosion 

through to a low for the year of € 19.60 in November. 

The stabilization of business and positive respons-

es of the company’s financial analysts resulted in a 

price rise to more than € 24 in the period to Decem-

ber. However, owing to the comprehensive measures  

directed towards improving efficiency communicat-

ed on 19 December, it was not possible to maintain 

this position in entirety up to the end of the year. 

SURTECO GROUP SE ended the stock market year on 

30 December with a closing price of € 22.65. Hence, 

the share posted a small price increase of 2 % in 2019 

and 4 % taking into account the dividend payment in 

2019. The turbulence in the stock market caused by 

the Coronavirus Crisis also engulfed the SURTECO 

share and the share price fell to approximately € 19 

by the editorial closing date of this Annual Report. 

Share price performance 
2019 in €

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

20.00

25.00

200 day moving average
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Market capitalization undergoes modest 
increase to more than € 350 million

Owing to the slight increase in share price, the market 

capitalization of SURTECO GROUP SE also rose from  

€ 346 million at year-end 2018 to around € 351 million 

on 31 December 2019. The reason for this was an un-

changed number of shares amounting to 15,505,731 

million no-par-value shares. The free float came 

down further from 26.5 % to 23.5 %. Whereas 58.5 % 

of the shares remain in the hands of the founding 

shareholders of SURTECO GROUP SE, ECCM Bank plc 

continued to hold 12.3 % at the end of 2019 while the 

Rudolf Ostermann Stiftung held 5.7%.

Investor Relations as the central 
function of the Management Board

In 2019, the Management Board of SURTECO GROUP SE  

once again sought to engage in a close dialogue with 

institutional and private investors in an atmosphere 

of trust. During the course of the reporting year, 

SURTECO was regularly analyzed and evaluated by 

the equity research analysts of Hauck & Aufhäuser, 

Pareto Securities and Sphene Capital. Alongside ex-

change through the Investor Relations Department 

on a daily basis, an important highpoint of commu-

nication with private investors was undoubtedly the 

Annual General Meeting held on 27 June 2019. The 

company also continues to maintain regular com-

munication with the financial media. 

All information on the company can be found on the 

Internet pages of SURTECO GROUP SE (www.surteco- 

group.com). Furthermore, you are always very wel-

come to contact the Investor Relations Department 

of the company directly if you have any questions or 

ideas you may wish to discuss:

Investor Relations and Press Office

Johan-Viktor-Bausch-Str. 2 

86647 Buttenwiesen 

Germany

Phone: +49 82 74/99 88-508 

Fax: +49 82 74/99 88-515 

E-Mail: ir@surteco-group.com
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SURTECO shares (Close price XETRA)

€ 2018 2019

Number of shares at 31 December 15,505,731 15,505,731

Price at start of year 26.40 22.30

Year-end price 22.30 22.65

Price per share (high) 28.55 27.50

Price per share (low) 19.56 19.60

Stock-market turnover in shares per month 426,214 136,302

Market capitalization at year-end in € million 345.8 351.2

Free float in % 26.5 23.5

Shareholder indicators for the SURTECO Group

€ million 2018 2019

Sales 699.0 675.3

EBITDA 72.8 66.3

EBIT 32.2 21.1

EBT 27.1 16.2

Consolidated net profit 18.6 9.4

Earnings per share 1.20 0.61

Indicators of the share
Type of security No-par-value share
Market segment Official market, Prime Standard
WKN 517690
ISIN DE0005176903
Ticker symbol SUR
Reuters’ ticker symbol SURG.D
Bloomberg´s ticker symbol SUR
Date of first listing 2/11/1999
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€ 000s 1/1/-31/12/ 
2018

1/1/-31/12/ 
2019

Net income 18,929 9,755

Components of other comprehensive income  
not to be reclassified to the income statement

Remeasurements of defined benefit obligations -168 -969

of which included deferred tax -57 333

-225 -636

Components of other comprehensive income  
that may be reclassified to the income statement

Net gains/losses from hedging of net investment  
in a foreign operation -712 -305

of which included deferred tax 214 92

Exchange differences translation of foreign operations -408 1,050

-906 837

Other comprehensive -1,131 201

Comprehensive income 17,798 9,956

Owners of the parent (consolidated net profit) 17,499 9,629

Non-controlling interests 299 327

€ 000s Notes 1/1/-31/12/
2018

1/1/-31/12/
2019

Sales revenues (1) 698,977 675,272

Changes in inventories (2) 2,347 -3,713

Other own work capitalized (3) 5,162 5,194

Total output 706,486 676,753

Cost of materials (4) -349,622 -326,492

Personnel expenses (5) -185,347 -186,186

Other operating expenses (6) -103,506 -102,718

Income/Expenses due to impairments under IFRS 9 (7) 508 186

Other operating income (9) 4,260 4,751

EBITDA 72,779 66,294

Depreciation and amortization (19) -40,577 -45,175

EBIT 32,202 21,119

    Interest income 1,432 459

    Interest expenses -7,490 -7,345

    Other financial expenses and income 1,019 1,711

    Income/Expenses due to impairments under IFRS 9 -570 -414

    Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method 540 688

Financial result (10) -5,069 -4,901

EBT 27,133 16,218

Income tax (11) -8,204 -6,463

Net income 18,929 9,755

    Of which:

    Owners of the parent (Konzerngewinn) 18,630 9,428

    (consolidated net profit) 299 327

Basic and diluted earnings per share (€) (12) 1.20 0.61

Number of shares at 31 December 15,505,731 15,505,731

Consolidated Income Statement Statement of Comprehensive Income
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€ 000s Notes 31/12/2018 31/12/2019

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents (13) 120,954 83,579

Trade accounts receivable (14) 57,519 52,630

Receivables from affiliated enterprises 676 172

Inventories (15) 126,969 123,060

Current income tax assets (16) 5,442 5,187

Other current non-financial assets (17) 7,690 8,281

Other current financial assets (17) 7,378 8,871

Assets held for sale (18) 17,124 0

Current assets 343,752 281,780

Property, plant and equipment (20) 255,751 236,875

Intangible assets (21) 59,329 53,767

Rights of use (22) 0 31,473

Goodwill (23) 162,864 162,844

Investments accounted for using the equity method (24) 2,378 2,516

Financial assets (24) 30 30

Other non-current non-financial assets 54 81

Other non-current financial assets 2,098 2,188

Deferred taxes (11) 18,285 8,771

Non-current assets 500,789 498,545

844,541 780,325

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Short-term financial liabilities (28) 65,905 8,928

Trade accounts payable 65,078 62,905

Contract assets under IFRS 15 165 4

Income tax liabilities (25) 3,096 1,593

Short-term provisions (26) 11,598 20,023

Other current non-financial liabilities (27) 2,468 2,410

Other current financial liabilities (27) 29,578 27,505

Current liabilities 177,888 123,368

Long-term financial liabilities (28) 252,584 254,535

Pensions and other personnel-related obligations (29) 12,828 13,765

Long term provisions 5 126

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 18 113

Deferred taxes (11) 48,013 33,785

Non-current liabilities 313,448 302,324

Capital stock 15,506 15,506

Capital reserve 122,755 122,755

Retained earnings 193,093 203,396

Consolidated net profit 18,630 9,428

Capital attributable to owners of the parent 349,984 351,085

Non-controlling interests 3,221 3,548

Equity (30) 353,205 354,633

844,541 780,325

€ 000s Notes 1/1/-31/12/  
2018

1/1/-31/12/  
2019

Earnings before income tax 27,133 16,218

Payments for income tax -14,753 -12,085

Reconciliation to cash flow from current business operations:

- Depreciation and amortization on property, plant and equipment (19) 40,577 45,175

- Interest income and result for investments (10) 5,518 6,198

- Gains/losses from the disposal of fixed assets 3,027 234

- Change in long-term provisions 19 1,058

- Other expenses/income with no effect on liquidity -3,733 -1,205

Internal financing 57,788 55,593

Increase/decrease in

- Trade accounts receivable (14) 362 5,392

- Other assets 3,078 14,925

- Inventories (15) -7,237 3,908

- Accrued expenses 7,632 8,425

- Trade accounts payable 1,901 -2,172

- Other liabilities -2,825 -2,035

Change in assets and liabilities (net) 2,911 28,443

CASH FLOW FROM CURRENT BUSINESS OPERATIONS (35) 60,699 84,036

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (20) -45,017 -33,619

Purchase of intangible assets (21) -2,520 -2,747

Proceeds/losses from the disposal of property, plant and equipment -2,463 -442

Dividends received from investments accounted for using the equity method 540 688

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (35) -49,460 -36,120

Dividend paid to shareholders (30) -12,405 -8,528

Proceed of long-term financial liabilities (34) 897 109

Repayment of lease obligations -1,919 -5,461

Changes in short-term financial liabilities (34) -3,806 -63,943

Interest received (10) 539 460

Interest paid (10) -7,490 -7,345

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (35) -24,184 -84,708

Change in cash and cash equivalents -12,945 -36,792

Cash and cash equivalents 

1 January 133,373 120,954

Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 526 -583

31 December (13) 120,954 83,579

Consolidated Balance Sheet Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
€ 000s Capital

stock
Capital
reserve

Retained earnings Consoli-
dated 

net profit

Non-con-
trolling 

interests

Total

Other 
compre-
hensive 
income

Currency 
trans-
lation 

adjust-
ments

Other 
retrained 
earnings

1 January 2018 15,506 122,755 -1,923 -8,768 192,552 26,192 2,922 349,236
Net income 0 0 0 0 0 18,630 299 18,929

Other comprehensive 
income 0 0 -225 -906 0 0 0 -1,131

Comprehensive income 0 0 -225 -906 0 18,630 299 17,798

Dividend payout  
SURTECO GROUP SE 0 0 0 0 -12,405 0 0 -12,405

Allocation to retained 
earnings 0 0 0 0 26,192 -26,192 0 0

Adjustments due to new 
accounting standards 0 0 0 0 -1,424 0 0 -1,424

Changes in equity 0 0 0 0 12,363 -26,192 0 -13,829

31 December 2018 15,506 122,755 -2,148 -9,674 204,915 18,630 3,221 353,205

1 January 2019 15,506 122,755 -2,148 -9,674 204,915 18,630 3,221 353,205
Net income 0 0 0 0 0 9,428 327 9,755

Other comprehensive 
income 0 0 -636 837 0 0 0 201

Comprehensive income 0 0 -636 837 0 9,428 327 9,956

Dividend payout  
SURTECO GROUP SE 0 0 0 0 -8,528 0 0 -8,528

Allocation to retained 
earnings 0 0 0 0 18,630 -18,630 0 0

Changes in equity 0 0 0 0 10,102 -18,630 0 -8,528

31 December 2019 15,506 122,755 -2,784 -8,837 215,017 9,428 3,548 354,633

I. Accounting Principles

SURTECO GROUP SE is a company listed on the stock exchange under European law. The company is based in 

Buttenwiesen, Germany and is registered in the Company Register of the Local Augsburg Court (Amtsgericht 

Augsburg) under HRB 23000. The purpose of the companies consolidated in the SURTECO Group is the devel-

opment, production and sale of coated surface materials based on paper and plastic.

The consolidated financial statements of SURTECO GROUP SE and its subsidiaries for the fiscal year 2019 have 

been prepared in accordance with the regulations of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) applicable on the balance-sheet date, as they were adopt-

ed by the EU, taking into account the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) and the regulations to be applied in addition pursuant to § 315e (1) German Commercial Code 

(HGB). New standards adopted by the IASB will be applied after they have been adopted by the EU from the 

date on which they are first mandatory. Application and change to the valuation and accounting methods will 

be explained under the appropriate items in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as necessary.

Pursuant to § 315e German Commercial Code (HGB), the consolidated financial statements have been drawn up 

in accordance with Clause 4 of Directive (EU) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and the Council dat-

ed 19 July 2002 relating to application of the International Accounting Standards in accordance with the Inter-

national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) and were supplemented by specific information and the consolidated management report, and were ad-

justed in conjunction with § 315e German Commercial Code (HGB).

The consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in the reporting currency euros (€). Unless other-

wise indicated, all amounts have been given in thousand euros (€ 000).

We refer to that fact that differences may occur when rounded amounts and percentages are used on account 

of commercial rounding.

The reporting date of SURTECO GROUP SE and the consolidated subsidiaries is 31 December 2019.

The consolidated financial statements and the consolidated management report for 2019 will be published in 

the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

Some items in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated balance sheet for the Group have been 

combined and stated separately in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. This is intended to im-

Notes the Consolidated  
Financial Statements 
SURTECO GROUP SE, BUTTENWIESEN
for the Business Year 2019
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prove the clarity and informative nature of presentation. The income statement has been drawn up in accord-

ance with the cost of production method.

The professional services firm PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft and other ap-

pointed auditing firms have essentially audited the financial statements or the sub-groups that form part of 

the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of SURTECO GROUP SE for the fiscal year 2019 were prepared on 15 April 

2020 and forwarded to the Supervisory Board for auditing. The Supervisory Board has the function of audit-

ing the consolidated financial statements and declaring whether it approves the consolidated financial state-

ments. The Supervisory Board is to approve the consolidated financial statements at the meeting on 28 April 

2020. The Management Board will then release the statements for publication. 

II. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE  
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Change in accounting and valuation methods

With the exception of the changes presented below, the accounting and valuation methods correspond to 

the methods applied in the previous year.

Accounting standards and interpretations applied

During the business year, revised standards and interpretations were applied for the first time. They give rise to no 

material effects on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group. 

Individual standards were changed in the course of the Annual Improvement Procedure (AIP 2015-2017). 

The accounting standard IFRS 16 Leases published by the IASB is being adopted by the SURTECO Group for 

the first time from 1 January 2019.

First-time adoption of IFRS 16

In January 2016, the IASB published IFRS 16 Leases. IFRS 16 abolishes the existing classification of leasing 

contracts on the lessee side in operating and finance leasing arrangements. IFRS 16 introduces a uniform 

lessee accounting model, according to which the lessee is obliged to recognize assets (for the right of use) 

and leasing liabilities in case there are leasing contracts over a period of more than twelve months. Leasing 

arrangements that have so far not been reported have to be recognized in the balance sheet. 

IFRS 16 applies to business years which start on or after 1 January 2019. The standard will not be adopted 

in advance. 

The SURTECO Group made use of the following simplifications on first-time adoption of IFRS 16: 

•	 Application of a fixed-term interest rate. Country-specific differentiation of the interest rate was not im-

plemented because all the financing for the SURTECO Group is carried out through SURTECO Group SE. 

•	 Application of a single discount rate on a portfolio of leases with a similar structure

•	 Reporting of leases which have a residual term of less than 12 months on 1 January 2019 are presented 

as short-term leases. 

•	 Leases for “small tickets” (low value assets) and “short term” leases are not reported. 

•	 Initial costs are not recognized for the valuation of rights of use on the date of first-time application.

•	 The retrospective determination of the term of leases in the case of contracts with extension or termina-

tion options. 

In the case of leases concluded prior to the transition point, the SURTECO Group has decided not to review 

whether a contract on the date of first-time application is or includes a lease, but to retain the assessments 

previously made under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

The SURTECO Group reports assets for rights of use and corresponding liabilities if in individual cases the 

Group does not make use of the exceptions for short-term leases or small ticket assets (low value) as follows: 

•	 The right of use should be recognized as part of fixed assets and depreciated straight line over the term 

of the contract. 

•	 The liability is capitalized as a liability in the amount of the present value of leasing payments to be made 

in the future and depreciated in accordance with the effective-interest method (see notes below). The lia-

bilities for purposes of IFRS 16 are recognized in accordance with their maturities under financial liabilities.

In the case of finance leases with the SURTECO Group as the lessee, assets and liabilities are already report-

ed in accordance with IAS 17. In these cases, and for leases where the Group acts as a lessor, no substantial 

impacts are expected on the consolidated financial statements. 

Standard/Interpretation Application, ob-
ligation to apply 
for the business 
years on or from

Adoption by 
the EU 

Commission

Expected 
effects on 
SURTECO

IFRS 16 Leases 01/01/2019 yes yes

IAS 19 (A) Amendments relating to employee benefits and their inter-
action, including short-term benefits or a defined contribu-
tion pension plan

01/01/2019 yes none 

IAS 28 (A) Amendments relating to long-term participations in associ-
ates and joint ventures

01/01/2019 yes none

IFRIC 23 Clarification of uncertainties over income tax treatments 01/01/2019 yes none

IFRS 9 (A) Prepayment features with negative compensation payments 01/01/2019 yes none

IFRS 3 (A) 
& IFRS 11 (A)

Amendments relating to changes to revaluation of previous-
ly held shares 

01/01/2019 yes none

IAS 12 (A) Amendments relating to income tax consequences of pay-
ments on financial instruments classified as equity

01/01/2019 yes none

IAS 23 (A) Amendments relating to borrowing costs that can be capitalized 
as assets

01/01/2019 yes none
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The leasing liability as at 1 January is composed as follows:

As at 1 January 2019, calculations were based on a weighted average incremental borrowing rate of interest 

in the amount of 1.1051 %. 

The following items were recognized in the balance sheet in connection with leases: 

€ 000s 2019

As at 31 December 2018, the recognized obligations arising from operate leases: 4,870

less short-term leases which are recorded straight line as expense          -100

less leases on small ticket assets (low value) which are recorded straight line as expense -

less contracts which were reassessed as leasing agreements -

plus adjustments on account of payments arising from service components 1,252

plus/less adjustments on account of differing assessments of extension and termination options 5,776

plus/less adjustments on account of changes to indices or (interest) rates which exert an impact 
on variable payments

Outstanding gross payments for leases to be reported in future in accordance with IFRS 16 11,798

Discounted with the incremental interest rate of the lessor on the date of first-time application  
of IFRS 16 -633 

Leasing liabilities reported on 1 January 2019 11,165 

of which are: 

Short-term leasing liability 3,697

Long-term leasing liability 7,468

€ 000s 31/12/2018 1/1/2019

Property, plant and equipment
   Land and buildings finance lease 21,566 0

   Office equipment 498

22,064 0

Rights of use

   Land and buildings (former finance lease)   21,566

   Land and buildings 0 9,202

   Technical plant and machinery 0 216

   Office equipment 0 227

   Office equipment (formerly finance lease)   498

   Vehicles 0 1,310

   IT and communication 0 210

0 33,230

Net deferred tax liabilities 7

International financial reporting standards and interpretations that have been pub-
lished and have to be applied in the future but are not yet mandatory

The following new and revised standards and interpretations, which were not yet mandatory during the re-

porting period or had not yet been adopted by the European Union, are not being applied in advance.

(A)  Amended 	

(R)  Revised 	

* Date of first-time application in accordance with IASB-IFRS (since these regulations have not yet been adopted in EU law)

III. Consolidated Companies

SURTECO GROUP SE and all significant companies (including special-purpose entities), in which SURTECO 

GROUP SE has a controlling influence, are included in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 

2019. Control exists if SURTECO GROUP SE has a right to receive variable returns based on the relationship 

with a company and possesses power of disposal over the company. The term “power” implies that SURTE-

CO GROUP SE has existing rights enabling it to direct the relevant activities of the company and thus exert a 

significant influence on the variable returns. The ability to control another company generally derives from 

direct or indirect ownership of a majority of the voting rights. Within structured entities, control usually de-

rives from contractual agreements. The financial statements of subsidiary companies are included in the 

consolidated financial statements from the point in time at which control exists until it is no longer possible 

to exercise such control.

Investments in associates in which the SURTECO Group exerts a significant influence (generally through a 

shareholding of 20 % to 50 %) and investments in joint ventures are valued according to the equity method.

Standard/Interpretation Application, ob-
ligation to apply 
for the business 
years on or from

Adoption by 
the EU 

Commission

Expected 
effects on 
SURTECO

IAS 1 /  
IAS 8 (A)

Definition of materiality 01/01/2020 * yes no

IFRS 9, 
IAS 39 &  
IFRS 7 (A)

Effects of the IBOR Reform 01/01/2020 * yes no

Conceptual 
Framework (A)

Changes to the conceptual framework 01/01/2020 * no currently  
being analyzed

IFRS 3 (A) Clarification for definition of a business model 
in company mergers

01/01/2020 * no no

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 01/01/2021 * no currently  
being analyzed
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As of the reporting date, two companies are not included in the consolidated financial statements (2018: two 

companies) as there were only minimal business activities in the course of the year under review and the in-

fluence of their aggregate value on the true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of 

operations of the Group was not significant.

Alongside SURTECO GROUP SE, the following companies are included in the consolidated financial state-

ments for the Group:

The companies included in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2019 and disclosures 

on subsidiaries and participations held directly and indirectly by SURTECO GROUP SE are included in the list 

under “Shareholdings”. The annual financial statements and the management report of SURTECO GROUP 

SE for the business year 2019 are submitted to the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) and published there.

In the business year 2019, the following structural changes were recognized within the SURTECO Group:

•	Restructuring within the Nenplas Group: liquidation of Delta Plastics Ltd., (Wolverhampton), Nenplas Prop-

erties Ltd., (Ashbourne) and Nenplas Properties Holdings Ltd. (Ashbourne)

IV. USE OF § 264 (3) German Commercial Code (HGB)

The exemption clauses pursuant to § 264 (3) German Commercial Code (HGB) were applied for the following 

subsidiary companies included in the consolidated financial statements in order to provide them exemption 

from the requirement to draw up their respective management report and notes, and to audit and to disclose

their annual financial statements:

31/12/2018 Changes Additions Disposals Disposals 31/12/2019
due to IFRS 

standards
Restructuring 

in the Group
Sales / 

Liquidation

Consolidated subsidiaries

 - of which in Germany * 9 0 0 0 0 9

 - of which abroad 28 0 0 0 -3 25

Subsidiaries reported at acquisition costs

 - of which in Germany 0 0 0 0 0 0

 - of which abroad 2 0 0 0 0 2

Companies accounted for using the equity method

 - of which in Germany 0 0 0 0 0 0

 - of which abroad 1 0 0 0 0 1

40 0 0 0 -3 37
* of which 2 special-purpose entities

Name Registered office

SURTECO GmbH Buttenwiesen

SURTECO art GmbH Willich

Dakor Melamin Imprägnierungen GmbH Heroldstatt

Kröning GmbH Hüllhorst

Döllken Profiles GmbH Nohra

SURTECO Beteiligungen GmbH Buttenwiesen

V. Consolidation Principles

The financial statements included in the consolidation process have been prepared on the basis of the ac-

counting and valuation principles, uniformly applicable – which have remained fundamentally unchanged 

by comparison with to the previous year – to the SURTECO Group.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historic acquisition and produc-

tion cost, with the exception of measuring derivative financial instruments and financial assets available for 

sale at their fair value or market value.

The reporting date of the consolidated financial statements coincides with the reporting date of the individ-

ual companies included in the consolidated financial statements (31 December 2019).

The accounting of business combinations is carried out by the acquisition method. The purchase costs of the 

acquisition correspond to the fair value of the assets provided, the equity instruments issued, and the lia-

bilities incurred or taken over on the date of exchange. Assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities identified 

within the course of a first-time business combination were measured at their acquisition-date fair values. 

For each business acquisition, the Group decides on an individual basis whether the non-controlling shares 

in the acquired company should be recognized at their respective fair value or on the basis of their propor-

tion in the net assets of the acquired company. Costs relating to the acquisition are charged to expenses at 

the time they occur.

Any remaining positive netting difference between the purchase price and the identified assets and liabil-

ities is recognized as goodwill. Any remaining negative difference is recognized as profit or loss in the in-

come statement.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary company or business operation are recognized sepa-

rately in the balance sheet.

The shares in equity capital of subsidiary companies not attributable to the parent company are recognized 

in the consolidated equity capital as “non-controlling interests”. Currently existing non-controlling interests 

were measured on the basis of the proportionate net assets.

In accordance with IFRS 3 and in conjunction with IAS 36, goodwill arising from company acquisitions is not 

subject to scheduled amortization, but is subject to an annual impairment test if there are any indications 

of declines in value.

An associated company is a company over which the Group can exert a significant influence by involvement 

in the finance and business policy but where the Group does not exercise control. A significant influence is 

assumed if the Group has a share of the voting rights amounting to 20 % or more. Investments in associated 

companies are measured using the equity method. 

The SURTECO Group has an investment in one company under jointly managed agreements. In accordance 

with IFRS 11, there are two forms of joint agreement: depending on the arrangement of the contractual rights 

and obligations of the individual investments: joint operations and joint ventures.
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A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control have rights and obliga-

tions in respect of the assets and liabilities of the arrangement. The assets, liabilities, income and expenses 

are recognized proportionately.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights in respect of the net assets of the arrangement. Joint ventures are reported in accordance with the 

equity method.

The SURTECO Group has only joint arrangements in the form of joint ventures.

Investments in associated companies and joint venture companies are accounted for with their acquisition 

costs by using the equity method and they are increased or decreased by the proportionate changes in eq-

uity. If impairments exceeding the value of the individual participation occur, any available non-current as-

sets being associated with the participation are written down. If the book value of the participation and these 

assets is reduced to zero, additional losses are accounted for in the appropriate scope and recognized as a 

liability in case the Group has entered into legal or de facto obligations to cover losses, or makes payments 

instead of the associated company or joint venture.

If a Group company carries out significant transactions with an associated company or joint venture, any 

resulting unrealized gains or losses are eliminated in accordance with the share of the Group in the associ-

ated company or joint venture.

Adjustments to uniform consolidated accounting and valuation methods are performed as necessary.

Receivables, liabilities and loans between the Group companies are netted.

Sales, expenses and income within the Group and intercompany profits arising from sales of assets within 

the Group, which have not yet been disposed of to third parties, will be eliminated if they materially affect the 

presentation of the actual relationships of current net assets, financial position and results of operations.

Deferred income tax arising from consolidation measures recognized in the income statement has been ac-

crued.

Intercompany trade accounts are accounted based on market prices and transfer prices that are determined 

according to the principle of “dealing at arm’s length”.

Transactions with non-controlling interests without loss of control are accounted for as transactions with the 

owners of the Group who act in their capacity as owners. A difference between the fair value of the consid-

eration paid and the acquired share in the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary company arising 

from the purchase of a non-controlling interest is recognized in equity. Gains and losses which arise on the 

disposal in respect of non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

VI. Currency Translation

Business transactions in foreign currency are reported at the exchange rate on the date of first-time report-

ing. Exchange gains and losses arising from the valuation of receivables or liabilities up to the reporting date 

are reported at the rate on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising from changes in rates are report-

ed with effect on earnings in the financial result (from non-operating matters) or in other operating income 

or other operating expenses (from operating matters).

The earnings and the balance sheet items of the foreign subsidiary companies included in the consolidated 

financial statements which have a different functional currency to the euro are converted into euros as fol-

lows. Assets and liabilities, as well as contingent obligations and other financial obligations, are therefore 

translated at the rate prevailing on the reporting date, whereas equity capital is translated at historic rates. 

Expenses and income and hence also the profit/loss for the year recognized in the income statement are 

translated at the average rate for the year. Differences arising from currency translation for assets and debts 

compared with translation in the previous year and translation differences between the income statement 

and the balance sheet are reported with no effect on income under shareholders’ equity in retained earnings 

(currency differences). Since all consolidated companies operate their financial, business and organization-

al transactions independently, the relevant national currency is the functional currency.

Translation was based on the following currency exchange rates: 

VII. Accounting and Valuation Principles

Uniform accounting and valuation principles

The consolidated financial statements were drawn up in accordance with uniform accounting and valuation 

principles for similar business transactions and other events in similar circumstances.

Exchange rates in euros       Rate on the reporting date Average rate

31/12/2018 31/12/2019 2018 2019
US dollar USD 0.8733 0.8907 0.8472 0.8932

Canadian dollar CAD 0.6412 0.6840 0.6537 0.6732

Australian dollar AUD 0.6164 0.6247 0.6331 0.6209

Singapore dollar SGD 0.6414 0.6620 0.6279 0.6547

Swedish krone SEK 0.0975 0.0957 0.0975 0.0945

Sterling GBP GBP 1.1151 1.1766 1.1303 1.1403

Turkish lira TRY 0.1651 0.1497 0.1795 0.1574

Polish zloty PLN 0.2327 0.2348 0.2347 0.2327

Russian rouble RUB 0.0125 0.0143 0.0135 0.0138

Czech koruna CZK 0.0389 0.0394 0.0390 0.0390

Mexican peso MXN 0.0444 0.0471 0.0440 0.0464

Brazilian real BRL 0.2251 0.2218 0.2319 0.2270
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Consistency of accounting and valuation principles

The accounting and valuation principles have been complied with, unless defined otherwise below, by com-

parison with the previous year.

Structure of the balance sheet

Assets and liabilities are recognized as non-current in the balance sheet if their residual term is more than one 

year or realization is expected within the normal business cycle. Liabilities are generally recognized as cur-

rent if there is no unrestricted right to fulfil the obligation within the period of the next year. Shorter residual 

terms are recognized as current assets or liabilities. Pension provisions and other personnel-related obliga-

tions, and claims or obligations arising from deferred taxes are reported as non-current assets or liabilities.

Revenue and expense realization

IFRS 15 establishes the principles that an entity shall apply to report useful information about the nature, 

amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. The core 

principle is that a company shall recognize revenues to depict the transfer of promised goods and services 

in an amount that reflects the consideration.

Revenues should be recorded when a performance obligation is satisfied by the transfer of a promised good 

or promised service to a customer. An asset is deemed to have been transferred if the customer is able to 

exert power of disposal over the asset. 

Revenues should be recognized if it is likely that the economic benefit will accrue to the Group and the amount of the 

income can be reliably determined. Income is valued at the fair value of the reciprocal product or service received.

Sales originating from the sale of goods have been recorded if the following conditions are fulfilled:

•	 The Group has the power of disposal over them arising from ownership of the goods to the purchaser.

•	 The level of the sales revenues can be reliably determined.

•	 It is probable that the economic benefit arising from the business will accrue to the Group.

•	 The costs incurred or still to be incurred due to the sale can be reliably determined.

All revenues are realised on a specific date in the SURTECO Group. 

Sales are only defined as the product sales resulting from the ordinary activities of the company. Sales reve-

nues are recorded without value added tax and after sales reductions, such as bonuses, discounts or rebates. 

Provisions for customer price reductions and rebates, as well as returns, other allowances, and warranties 

are recognized in the same period in which the sales were reported.

Volume discounts partly acting retrospectively are agreed for the sale of products. These are based on the 

total sales of a 12-month period. The revenues from these sales are reported in the amount of the price de-

fined in the contract, less the estimated volume discount. The estimate for the provision is based on experi-

ence values. Sales revenues are only reported in the scope in which it is probable that a significant cancel-

lation of the sales is not necessary, insofar as the associated uncertainty no longer exists. 

A receivable is recognized when the goods are dispatched because at this point the claim to a consideration 

is unconditional, i.e. the due date is defined automatically from this point in time. 

Dividend income arising from financial assets available for sale is recognized if the legal right to payment of 

SURTECO as a shareholder has arisen.

Operating expenses are reported as expenses at the point in time at which they are incurred when the ser-

vice is used, insofar as they fall within the reporting year.

Interest income and interest expenses are recorded pro rata. Income from financial assets is recorded when 

the legal right to payment has occurred.

EBITDA

EBITDA is earnings before financial result, income tax and depreciation and amortization.

EBIT

EBIT is earnings before financial result and income.

EBT

EBT is earnings before tax.

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the proportion of the share in the consolidated net 

profit attributable to the shareholders of SURTECO GROUP SE by the weighted average of the issued shares. 

Shares which have been newly issued or bought back during a period are recognized pro rata for the period 

in which they are in free float. There were no dilution effects during the reporting periods referred to.

Determination of the fair value

In accordance with IFRS 13, the fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or 

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction at arm’s length between market participants at the meas-

urement date. This applies independently of whether the price can be observed directly or has been estimat-

ed using a valuation method.  

When applying valuation procedures for calculating the fair value, it is important to use as many (relevant) 

observable input factors as possible and as few non-observable input factors as possible.

A three-level fair value hierarchy is to be applied. The input factors used in the valuation procedures are clas-

sified as follows:
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Classification and valuation 

In accordance with IFRS 9, principle-based regulations are applicable for the classification of financial as-

sets. A distinction is drawn between the following valuation criteria set out below.  

Debt instruments

The valuation of debt instruments depends on the business model of the SURTECO Group for managing the 

asset and the cash flows of the asset. The SURTECO Group classifies its debt instruments as follows: 

•	 At amortized costs: Assets that are held to collect contractual cash flows, and for which payment flows 

are exclusively interest payments and settlement repayments, are measured at amortized costs. Interest 

income from these financial assets are recognized in financial income by applying the effective interest 

method. Profits or losses from derecognition are reported directly in other operating income or expenses. 

Impairments are recognized under impairment expenses or impairment reversal income in accordance 

with IFRS 9. 

•	 At fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets that are held to collect contractual cash flows 

and for the disposal of financial assets, and for which the payment flows are exclusively interest and set-

tlement payments. Changes to the book value are recognized in other comprehensive income, with the 

exception of impairment income/expenses, interest income and foreign-exchange losses/gains. Impair-

ments do not lead to changes in the book value but are also recognized in other comprehensive income. 

When the financial asset is derecognized, the accumulated profit or loss from equity previously recog-

nized in other comprehensive income is reclassified in the income statement and recognized in earnings 

from financial derivatives. Interest income is recognized in financial income using the effective interest 

method. Foreign-exchange gains/losses are shown as exchange-rate effects of the financial result in the 

income statement.

•	 At fair value through profit and loss: Debt instruments that are neither measured at amortized costs nor at 

fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value through profit and loss. Gains 

and losses are offset under other profits/losses in the relevant period in which they arise. 

These regulations are to be applied to a financial asset in entirety, even if this includes an embedded deriv-

ative. The fair value option is not applied in the SURTECO Group. 

In the SURTECO Group, financial instruments are classified in the following categories: 

•	 At amortized costs (AC) for trade accounts receivable and for other assets (loans issued, etc.) 

•	 At fair value through profit and loss for trade accounts receivable which have been assigned in the scope 

of the factoring programm 

The SURTECO Group only reclassifies debt instruments if the business model used to manage such assets changes. 

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are generally measured at fair value through profit and loss. Adjustments to the fair val-

ue are reported in the income statement under the other financial expenses and income. 

The SURTECO Group does not make use of the fair-value OCI option. 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, where the entity draw-

ing up the financial statements must have access to these active markets on the valuation date.

Level 2 – Directly or indirectly observable input factors which cannot be classified under Level 1.

Level 3 – Unobservable input factors.

The scope of IFRS 13 is far-reaching and encompasses non-financial assets and liabilities and equity instru-

ments. IFRS 13 is always used if another IFRS prescribes or permits a valuation at fair value or information 

on the calculation of the fair value is requested.

Financial instruments 

In accordance with IAS 32, a financial instrument is a contract, which simultaneously leads to a financial as-

set for one entity and a financial liability or an equity capital instrument for another entity. Financial instru-

ments comprise primary financial instruments such as trade accounts receivable or trade accounts payable, 

financial receivables, debts and other financial liabilities, as well as derivative financial instruments which 

are used to hedge risks arising from changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates.

First-time recognition and derecognition of financial instruments in the balance sheet are carried out on the 

date of fulfilment. When first-time recognition is carried out, the SURTECO Group measures a financial asset 

at the fair value plus the transaction costs incurred directly on the acquisition of this asset, insofar as the 

asset is subsequently not reported at fair value. In the case of such instruments, the transaction costs are 

recorded immediately in the income statement. The following exception applies to this regulation for trade 

accounts receivable that are first valued at their transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15. Derecogni-

tion of the receivables and other financial assets is carried out if the Group has transferred its contractual 

rights to cash flows from the financial assets, and essentially all opportunities and risks associated with the 

property have been transferred, or alternatively if the power of disposal over the asset has been transferred. 

If the prerequisites for derecognition of the receivables are not fulfilled, the assets are not derecognized.

Financial assets and liabilities are netted and recognized as a net amount in the balance sheet if there is a 

legal entitlement to this and it is intended to bring about a settlement on a net basis or release the associ-

ated liability and realize the relevant asset simultaneously. The legal entitlement to offsetting must not de-

pend on a future event and must be implementable in the course of normal business and in the case of a 

default, an insolvency or a bankruptcy.

The liabilities arising from primary financial instruments can either be recognized at the amortized costs or 

as “liabilities at fair value through profit and loss”. SURTECO measures all financial liabilities at amortized 

costs. Financial obligations with fixed or determined payments, which are neither listed on a market arising 

from financial liabilities, nor derivative financial obligations, are recognized in the balance sheet under oth-

er liabilities in accordance with their remaining term. A financial liability is then derecognized when it is set-

tled, i.e. the obligations defined in the contract have been fulfilled or have been cancelled or have expired.
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Impairments 

IFRS 9 requires expected losses to be reported. The scope of application includes all financial instruments 

which are reported at amortized costs and at fair value through other comprehensive income, and contrac-

tual and leasing assets. Here, a distinction is drawn between the general and simplified model used to de-

termine impairments. 

General impairment model

The level of impairment depends on the allocation of the financial instrument to one of the following levels: 

1.	 Level 1: All financial instruments are allocated to this level when they are first recognized. The expected 

loss corresponds to the amount which can arise from possible default events within the next 12 months 

after the reporting date. An expected loss is already recognized when the item is first reported. In the case 

of financial instruments whose credit risk has not increased significantly since first-time recognition, a 

company must record a risk provision in the amount of the credit defaults, whose occurrence is expected 

within the next twelve months, i.e. 12-month ECL. This should be understood as the cash value of the pay-

ment defaults which arise from possible default events over the next twelve months after the reporting date

2.	Level 2: If, since the first-time recognition, a significant increase of the default risk has been recorded 

for the counterparty, the financial instrument should be transferred to Level 2. The impairment expense 

corresponds to the amount which can arise from possible default events during the residual term of the 

instrument. 

3.	Level 3: If there is an objective indication that an impairment has taken place, the financial asset should be 

transferred to this level. The risk provision to be recorded should be determined using the same approach 

as in Level 2. However, interest can only be collected for these financial instruments by the effective in-

terest method on the basis of the (impaired) net book value. 

Expected losses are a probability weighted estimate of losses. Default probabilities are determined for this 

which are multiplied by the nominal amount for the receivable.  

Simplified impairment model

The simplified approach is distinguished by the fact that there are no differences in the credit risk and the 

expected credit losses are always recorded from the first-time recognition. Instead, a risk provision in the 

amount of the total term ECL must be recorded on first-time recognition and on every subsequent reporting 

date. The simplified approach must be applied mandatorily for trade accounts receivable, for contractual 

assets and for leasing values. 

The SURTECO Group only has trade accounts receivable. The expected credit losses are calculated using a 

provision matrix depending on the overdues of individual receivables. The underlying default rates were es-

tablished on the basis of historical experience data and current expectations, and are updated on each re-

porting date. In addition, future-oriented information (for example forecasts on economic performance indi-

cators) are taken into account if these imply a connection with expected credit defaults on the basis of the 

historical data. Depending on the diversity of the customer base, appropriate groupings (for example on the 

basis of geographical area, product type, etc.) can be used if previous experience with credit losses demon-

strates outcome patterns with significant deviation between different customer segments. The customers 

of the SURTECO Group are allocated within a homogenous portfolio because no special characteristics were 

identified here, for example in relation to the customer’s country of origin.

Derivative instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward exchange contracts and interest/currency 

swaps, in order to hedge risks associated with foreign currency and changes in interest rate which can occur 

in the course of ordinary business activities and with the scope of investment and financial transactions. 

Derivative financial instruments are used exclusively to hedge existing or held underlyings. These derivative 

financial instruments are recognized for the first time in the balance sheet at the fair value on the date at 

which the contract is closed. They are subsequently revalued at market value on the reporting date. Deriva-

tive financial instruments are recognized as assets if their fair value is positive and as liabilities if their fair 

value is negative.

At the beginning of the hedging transaction, the hedge between the underlying transaction and the hedg-

ing transaction and the risk management targets and Group strategy are formally defined and documented 

in relation to hedging. The documentation includes the definition of the hedging instrument, the underlying 

transaction or the hedged transaction, as well as the type of hedged risk and a description of how the com-

pany calculates the effectiveness of the hedging instrument in the compensation of the risks arising from 

changes in the fair value or cash flow of the hedged underlying transaction. 

For purposes of hedge accounting, hedging instruments are classified as follows:

•	 as hedging of the fair value, if the relationship relates to hedging the risk of a change in the fair value of a 

reported asset or a reported liability or a fixed obligation not reported (apart from currency risk), 

•	 as hedging of cash flow, if the relationship relates to hedging the risk of fluctuations in the cash flow, which 

can be assigned to the risk associated with a reported asset, a reported liability or with a future transac-

tion very likely to occur or to the currency risk of a fixed obligation not reported, or

•	 as hedging of a net investment in a foreign business operation.

In the SURTECO Group, cash flow hedges are used exclusively for hedging purposes. The effective part of 

the changes in fair value of derivatives is recorded in the provision for cash flow hedges as a component of 

equity. The profit or loss relating to the ineffective part is recorded directly through profit or loss under the 

other operating income or losses.The accumulated amounts reported in equity are reclassified to the periods 

in which the hedged underlying transaction exerts effects on the profit or loss, as follows: 

•	 If the hedged underlying business leads to the recognition of a non-financial asset, the deferred hedg-

ing gains and losses are included in the original acquisition costs of the asset. Ultimately, the deferred 

amounts are reported in the result for financial derivatives if the hedged underlying transaction exerts an 

effect on the profit/loss. 

•	 The profit or loss from the effective part of the interest swap, which hedges the variable interest borrow-

ings, is recognized under the item financial expenses under profit or loss in the period in which the inter-

est expense is incurred for the hedged borrowings. 

If a hedging instrument expires, is sold or terminated, or the hedging relationship no longer meets the crite-

ria for the reporting of hedging relationships, any accumulated deferred hedging gains/losses at this point 

and the deferred hedging costs remain in equity until the expected transaction occurs and then leads to re-

cording of a non-financial asset. If the transaction is no longer expected to occur, the accumulated hedging 

gains and losses and the deferred hedging costs are reallocated to profit or loss. 
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Development costs for intangible assets produced within the company have been capitalized under income 

at directly attributable acquisition or production cost, if the following criteria are complied with:

•	 The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset is such that it will be available for use.

•	 The management intends to complete the intangible asset and to use or sell it.

•	 There is an ability to use or to sell the intangible asset.

•	 The form and manner in which the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits are 

traceable.

•	 Adequate technical, financial and other resources are available in order to complete the development and 

to use or sell the intangible asset.

•	 The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be reliably measured.

Development costs which do not meet with these criteria are recorded as expenses in the period when they 

were generated. Development costs already recognized as expenses are not subsequently capitalized as assets.

Property, plant and equipment have been recognized at acquisition or production cost, including incidental 

acquisition expenses, less accumulated scheduled depreciation and, if necessary, extraordinary depreciation.

Finance costs have not been capitalized under income as an element of acquisition or production costs because 

no manufacturing processes are involved over an extended period of time. Interest and other borrowing costs 

are recognized as expenses for the period.

The production costs of self-constructed plant include direct costs and an appropriate proportion of the 

overheads and depreciation.

If significant proportions of a non-current asset have varying useful lives, they are reported as separate 

non-current assets under “Property, plant and equipment” and are subject to scheduled depreciation (com-

ponent accounting).

The costs for replacement of part of a fixed asset are included in the book value of the fixed asset (proper-

ty, plant and equipment) at the date on which they were incurred, insofar as the criteria for recognition are 

fulfilled. When a major inspection is carried out, the costs are capitalized in the book value of the fixed asset 

as a replacement, insofar as the criteria for recognition are fulfilled. All other maintenance and repair costs 

are immediately recognized under income.

A fixed asset (property, plant and equipment) is either derecognized on disposal or if no economic benefit 

can be derived from further use or sale of the asset. The resulting gains or losses incurred from derecogni-

tion of the asset are calculated as the difference between the net sale proceeds and the book value of the 

asset and reported in the income statement for the period in which the asset is derecognized.

Receivables with significant overdues on account of the customer structure or receivables for which an in-

solvency or similar proceeding has been opened through their debtor continue to be checked individually for 

an impairment. If it is highly certain that no further incoming cash flow is to be expected, the instruments 

are impaired. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise liquid funds and sight deposits, as well as financial assets that can be 

converted into cash at any time and are only subject to minimal fluctuations in value. For the valuation cat-

egory in accordance with IAS 9, the cash and cash equivalents are classified as “debt instruments at amor-

tized costs (AC)”.

Receivables and other financial assets, apart from derivative financial instruments and any receivable as-

signed under the factoring programme, are reported at amortized costs (AC). Allowances are carried out on 

a case-by-case basis in accordance with the expected default risks through an allowance account. Final 

derecognition is carried out if the receivable is not recoverable. Measurement of the requirement for indi-

vidual allowance adjustments is based on the age structure of the receivable and the findings related to the 

customer-specific credit and default risk. Objective indications for an increased default risk are provided, for 

example, in the case of a pending insolvency, compulsory enforcement proceedings for the customer, one/

several complaints and late payments by customers, an affidavit by the customer, composition proceedings 

or a lawsuit in connection with the customer. The payment targets for the customers are agreed individual-

ly with the customer. No predefined critical overdues are applicable in the SURTECO Group. Critical receiv-

ables are assessed on the basis of the objective evidence available. Trade accounts receivable with stand-

ard payment terms are recognized at amortized costs, reduced by bonuses, discounts and allowances. The 

Group sells trade accounts receivable under factoring agreements. These receivables are reported at fair 

value through profit and loss. The incoming payment from the sale of receivables is recognized under cash. 

Recognition of a short-term financial liability in the same amount is reported under short-term liabilities. 

Inventories comprise raw materials, consumables and supplies, services in progress, purchased merchandise 

and work in progress and finished goods. They are valued at acquisition or production cost or at the lower net 

sale value. The net sale value corresponds to the estimated recoverable proceeds from disposal in normal 

business operations less the necessary variable sales expenses.

Raw materials, consumables and supplies are valued at cost prices or at the lower net sale value of the goods 

to be manufactured. Carrying values have been calculated by the weighted-average method. Downward val-

uation adjustments have been undertaken to reflect obsolescence and technically restricted application.

Finished products and work in progress have been recognized at production cost. These costs include costs 

directly attributable to the manufacturing process and a reasonable proportion of production-related over-

heads. These include production-related depreciation, proportionate administrative expenses, and propor-

tionate social security costs. Inventory risks arising from the storage period or reduced usability have been 

taken into account by write-downs.

In the case of inventories, write-downs on the net sale proceeds are carried out, if the book values of the in-

ventories are too high on the basis of the lower stock-market or market values.

SURTECO Annual Report 2019      SURTECO GROUP   |   Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements   |      

92 93



Rights of use are depreciated straight line over the shorter of the two periods relating to useful life and term 

of the underlying lease agreement. If the exercise of a call option is regarded as sufficiently certain from 

the perspective of the SURTECO Group, depreciation is carried out over the useful life of the underlying as-

set. While the SURTECO Group applies the acquisition cost method of IAS 16 for its land and buildings recog-

nized in property, plant and equipment, it has decided not to apply this principle for rights of use on buildings. 

Owing to the different rules relating to (scheduled) subsequent valuation – the right of use primarily “at cost” 

(IFRS 16.29/30: after the start of the lease, the lessee values the right of use on the basis of a cost model, 

i.e. acquisition costs less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairments, and the liability in ac-

cordance with the “effective interest method”), the recognized items no longer correspond over the term of 

the agreements. 

The following rights of use are categorized in the SURTECO Group: 

•	 Rights of use for land and buildings

•	 Rights of use for technical plant and machinery

•	 Rights of use for office equipment

•	 Rights of use for vehicles

•	 Rights of use for IT and communication

The SURTECO Group rents land and buildings, technical plant and machinery, office equipment, vehicles and 

IT and communications equipment. Rental agreements are generally concluded over fixed periods from six 

months to eight years, but they may also have extension options. Rental conditions are negotiated individu-

ally and include a large number of conditions. Leasing agreements do not include any credit conditions and 

are not used as collateral for drawing on credit lines.

Intangible assets with a limited useful life acquired for a consideration have been capitalized as assets at 

acquisition cost and depreciated over their limited useful life using the straight-line method.

Scheduled depreciation of assets has been carried out exclusively by the straight-line method. The remaining 

useful lives and the method of depreciation are reviewed each year and adjusted to future expectations. De-

preciation is essentially based on the following commercial service lives applied uniformly across the Group:

Leasing activities

Up until 2018, leasing relationships relating to property, plant and equipment were either classified as finance 

or operating leases. Since 1 January 2019, leases have been reported as a right of use and corresponding leas-

ing liability at the date on which the leased item is delivered to the SURTECO Group for use. The right of use 

has to be recognized as part of the fixed assets and is depreciated straight line over the term of the lease/

rental agreement. The liability is capitalized as a liability in the amount of the present value of the lease pay-

ments to be made in the future and depreciated using the effective interest method. 

The SURTECO Group makes use of the following simplifications: 

•	 Application of a fixed-term interest rate

•	 Application of a single interest rate on a portfolio of similarly structured lease agreements

•	 Leases for “small tickets” (low value assets) and “short-term” leases are not reported

•	 Excluding initial costs in the valuation of rights of use at the date of first-time application

•	 The retrospective determination of the term of leases in the case of contracts with extension or termina-

tion options. 

Initial and subsequent valuation 

The starting point is the present value of the obligations for payment of future leasing rates. On 1 January 

2019 (or at the point of taking on a new lease/rental relationship) the amount of the right of use corresponds 

to the amount of the leasing liability. 

The leasing liabilities include the present value of the following leasing payments: 

•	 Fixed payments (incl. de facto fixed payments), less any leasing incentives receivable

•	 Variable lease payments which are linked to an index or (interest) rate, initially valued with the index or 

interest at the delivery date

•	 Expected payments from making use of residual value guarantees

•	 The exercise price of a call option the exercise of which by the SURTECO Group is sufficiently certain

•	 Penalty payments in conjunction with the termination of a leasing relationship as long as the term pro-

vides for the SURTECO Group taking up the relevant termination option

Furthermore, leasing payments arising from adequately certain utilization of extension options should be 

included in the valuation of the leasing liability. 

The interest rates underlying the leasing payments are determined by the SURTECO Group for fixed terms 

and adjusted each year. Country-specific classification of the interest rate is not carried out because the 

important financing for the SURTECO Group is carried out through SURTECO Group SE. 

Rights of use are valued at acquisition costs and they are comprised as follows:

•	 The amount of initial valuation of the leaving liability

•	 All leasing payments made at or before delivery less all/any leasing incentives received

•	 All direct costs initially incurred by the lessee and

•	 Any estimated costs which are likely to be incurred by the lessee on disassembly/disposal of the underly-

ing assets, on reinstatement of the location at which the assets are set up, or for refurbishing the under-

lying asset and returning to the conditions required in the leasing agreement. 
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individual cash generating units are compared with their individual recoverable amount, i.e. the higher value 

from the net sale price and value in use. In the determination of the recoverable amount, the present value 

of the future payments, which are anticipated on the basis of the ongoing use by the Strategic Business Unit, 

are used as the basis. The forecast of the payments is based on the current medium-term plans of SURTECO.

The cash generating units of the Group are identified in consultation with the internal reporting of the man-

agement taking into account customer-centric allocations on the basis of strategic business units. The cash 

generating units of the SBUs are the operating divisions under the reportable segments. The reportable seg-

ments are ‘Decoratives’, ‘Profiles’ and ‘Technicals’. The scope of ‘Technicals’ is comprised of several imma-

terial individual segments which are grouped together owing to clarity. 

In the cases in which the book value of the cash generating unit is higher than their recoverable amount, the 

difference amounts to an impairment loss. The goodwill of the affected Strategic Business Unit is amortized 

in the amount of the allowance thus determined as affecting expenses in the first stage. Any remaining re-

sidual amount is distributed to the other assets of the relevant Strategic Business Unit proportionately to 

the book value. Any allowance carried out as necessary is recognized under other depreciation and amorti-

zation in the income statement. A subsequent write-up of the goodwill as a result of the reasons no longer 

being applicable is not permitted.

The actual income taxes paid or owed for the current and earlier periods are measured with the amount at 

the level at which a rebate from the tax authorities or a payment to the tax authorities is expected. The cal-

culation of the amount is based on the country-specific tax rates and tax regulations which are applicable 

on the reporting date.

The actual income tax liabilities related to the relevant tax year and any obligations arising from the previ-

ous years. The valuations are subject to the applicable statutory regulations taking into account current le-

gal precedents and the prevailing professional opinion.

The reporting of income tax uncertainties is generally based on individual income tax treatment. If it is un-

likely that an income tax treatment will be accepted by the local tax authorities, the SURTECO Group uses 

the amount with the highest probability for determining the taxable profit or the tax base.

Deferred income tax is determined in accordance with IAS 12 on the basis of the liability method. According 

to this method, deferred taxes result from temporary differences between the carrying amount (value) of an 

asset or a liability in the balance sheet and the tax value.

Deferred tax assets are recorded for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax loss carry-forwards 

and unused tax credits to the extent it is probable that taxable earnings will be available against which the 

deductible temporary differences and the unused tax loss carry-forwards and tax credits can be used, with 

the exception of

•	 deductible temporary differences from first-time recognition of an asset or a liability arising from a trans-

action that is not a business combination and at the point in time of the transaction influences neither 

the result for the period in accordance with IFRS nor the taxable earnings.

The shares in unconsolidated companies recorded under financial assets are recognized at acquisition costs 

because fair values are not available and other valuation methods do not yield reliable results. Associated 

companies are recorded with their proportionate equity capital using the equity method. If there are indica-

tions that associated companies will be subject to impairments, an impairment test will be carried out on the 

book value of the affected participation.

On each reporting date, the Group checks the book values of intangible assets and property, plant and equip-

ment to ascertain whether there might be grounds for carrying out an Impairment. If such grounds exist, or 

if an annual impairment test is necessary for an asset, the Group carries out an estimate of the recoverable 

value for the relevant asset. The recoverable value of an asset is the higher of the two values comprising the 

fair value of an asset less the sale costs and the value in use. The recoverable value should be determined 

for each individual asset, unless an asset does not generate cash flows which are largely independent of 

the cash flows of other assets or other groups of assets. In this case, the recoverable amount is determined 

for the cash generating unit to which the asset is allocated. If the book value of an asset exceeds its recov-

erable amount, the asset is impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In order to determine 

the value in use, the expected future cash flows are discounted to their present value based on a discount-

ing rate before taxes, which reflects the current market expectations in relation to the interest effect and 

the specific risks of the asset. The fair value less the sales costs is calculated using a recognized valuation 

method. This method takes into account market data on current transactions available externally and val-

uations of third parties.

A test is carried out for assets, except for goodwill, on every reporting date, to ascertain whether there are 

grounds indicating that a previously recorded impairment expense no longer exists or has been reduced. If 

such grounds exist, the Group estimates the recoverable amount. A previous recorded impairment expense 

is only reversed if a change in the estimates, which were used to determine the recoverable amount, has 

occurred since the last impairment expense was recorded. If this is the case, the book value of the asset is 

increased to its recoverable amount. However, this amount must not exceed the book value which resulted 

after taking into account scheduled depreciation, if no impairment expense would have been recorded for 

the asset in previous years. An impairment reversal is recorded in the result for the period.

Goodwill resulting from company acquisitions is allocated to the identifiable cash generating units which 

are supposed to derive benefit from the synergies arising from the acquisition. Such cash generating units 

are the lowest reporting level in the Group at which the goodwill is monitored by the management for inter-

nal controlling purposes. The recoverable amount of a cash generating unit, which is allocated goodwill, is 

subjected to an annual impairment test. Reference is made to our comments under section (23) in the notes 

to the consolidated financial statements for further details.

The standard IFRS 3 (Business Combinations) and the standard IAS 36 (Impairment of assets) no longer per-

mit goodwill to be subject to scheduled depreciation and amortization, rather a review of the value of these 

assets is carried out at regular intervals in an impairment test and additionally if there is evidence of a po-

tential reduction in value at other points in time.

If goodwill or intangible assets with unlimited useful life are to be allocated to the cash generating unit,  

the impairment test of those assets should be carried out annually or also, if events or changed circum-

stances result which could indicate a possible impairment, more frequently. The net asset values of the  
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Deferred tax liabilities are reported for all taxable temporary differences, with the exception of

•	 temporary differences from the first-time recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability arising from a 

transaction which is not a business combination and at the point in time of the transaction neither influ-

ences the result for the period in accordance with IFRS nor taxable earnings, and

•	 taxable temporary differences which occur in conjunction with shareholdings in subsidiary companies, 

if the temporal reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is likely that the temporary 

differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

The book value of the deferred tax assets is audited on each reporting date and as necessary reduced by 

the amount by which it is no longer likely that an adequate taxable result will be available against which the 

deferred tax assets can be at least partly applied. Unrecognized deferred taxes are audited on each report-

ing date and recognized in the amount at which it has become likely that a future taxable result will be avail-

able to realize the deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured on the basis of the 

tax rates that are likely to be valid during the period in which an asset is realized or a debt liability is fulfilled. 

The tax rates (and tax laws), which are applicable or adopted on the reporting date, are used as the basis for 

calculation. Future changes in tax rates should be considered at the reporting date, insofar as material re-

quirements for effectiveness are fulfilled pursuant to a legislative procedure.

Income and expenses arising from actual and deferred income taxes that relate to the items that are report-

ed directly under equity or in other comprehensive income for the year are not reported in the income state-

ment but are also recorded directly under equity or in other comprehensive income for the year. Deferred tax 

assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if the Group has an enforceable legal claim to netting the ac-

tual tax reimbursement claims against actual tax liabilities and these relate to income tax of the same tax 

subject and are levied by the same tax authority.

In accordance with IAS 1.56, deferred taxes are recognized as long term.

Current non-financial liabilities have been recorded with their repayment or performance amount.

Contractual liabilities correspond to the obligation to transfer goods to a customer for which the SURTECO 

Group has already received a consideration. 

Pension provisions and other personnel-related obligations include obligations arising from regulations re-

lating to company retirement provision, partial retirement and long-service awards.

Obligations arising from regulations relating to company pension provision relate to defined benefit plans 

which essentially cover benefit recipients employed in Germany. The arrangement depends on the legal, tax 

and economic relations pertaining and is generally based on the period of service and pay of the employee. 

The majority of pension obligations in Germany based on contractual conditions relate to life-time pension 

benefits, which are paid out in case of invalidity, death and attaining the age of retirement. 

The pension institutions were closed in the past. New employees will be offered a company pension plan 

through an external welfare fund and pension scheme; they will not receive any direct commitments from 

the company.

Since no further obligations or risks are incurred by the company beyond the payment of the contributions, 

these were classified as defined contribution plans and are therefore not taken account in the determina-

tion of the provision.

The pension obligations of SURTECO are subject to various market risks. The risks essentially related to 

changes in market interest rates, inflation which exerts an effect on the level of pension adjustments, the 

longevity and on general market fluctuations.

Pension provisions are valued using the projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19. This meth-

od recognizes the pensions and projected unit credits acquired on the reporting date. It also takes account 

of the increases in pensions and salaries anticipated in the future with prudent estimation of the relevant 

influencing parameters. The obligation is determined using actuarial methods taking into account biomet-

ric accounting assumptions. The expense of allocating pension accruals, including the interest portion con-

tained therein, is recognized under personnel expenses. Remeasurements (actuarial gains or losses) arising 

from defined-benefit plans are recognized in equity (other comprehensive income for the year) with no effect 

on net income. The standardized income on the plan assets is generated in the amount of the discounting 

rate of the pension obligations at the start of the reporting period. These returns are recognized with net-

ting of the expenses arising from the pension obligations on the basis of a standardized return. Differences 

between the expected income and the actual income based on the standard return on plan assets are to be 

recognized with no effect on net income in equity (other comprehensive income for the year). Furthermore, 

the past service costs are to be recognized immediately at the point of arising with an effect on earnings. 

Provisions for long-service bonuses are calculated on the basis of actuarial methods. The settlement back-

logs and top-up amounts for partial retirement obligations were added pro rata for partial retirement obliga-

tions until the end of the active phase.

The obligations from defined-benefit plans principally exist in Germany and they are calculated taking the 

following actuarial assumptions into account:

The interest rate for the pension obligation is currently a uniform 0.82 % (2018: 1.87 %). Different interest 

rates were applied as necessary for similar other personnel-related obligations with shorter terms.
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Provisions have been formed in accordance with IAS 37, if a legal or de facto obligation arises from a past 

event in respect of a third party, which is likely in the future to lead to an outflow of resources and where it 

can be reliably estimated. If a large number of similar obligations exist – as in the case of statutory warran-

ty – the probability of a charge on assets is calculated on the basis of the group of these obligations. A pro-

vision is recognized under liabilities, if the probability of a charge on assets is lower in relation to an individ-

ual obligation held within this group. Provisions for warranty claims are formed on the basis of previous or 

estimated future claims. The provisions for legal disputes and other provisions have also been recorded in 

accordance with IAS 37 for all recognizable risks and uncertain obligations in the amount of their probable 

occurrence and not recognized with rights of recourse. A provision for restructuring measures is recognized 

as soon as the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and the restructuring measures 

have either commenced or have been announced in the public domain. When a restructuring provision is 

measured, only the direct expenses for the restructuring are entered. This therefore only relates to amounts 

which have been caused by restructuring and are not related to the ongoing business operations of the Group.

Changes in equity without effect on income are also reported under the item Statement of changes in eq-

uity, if they are not based on capital transactions of the shareholders. This includes the difference arising 

from currency translation, accrued actuarial gains and losses arising from the valuation of pensions, and 

unrealized gains and losses arising from the fair valuation of financial assets available for sale and deriva-

tive financial instruments.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations which result from events in the past, whereby their existence 

can only be confirmed through the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more events in the future, which 

are not fully under the control of the SURTECO Group. Furthermore, contingent liabilities arise from current 

obligations which are based on past events, but which cannot yet be reported in the financial statements 

because the outflow of resources is not likely or the level of the obligations cannot be estimated with a suf-

ficient level of reliability.

Segment reporting

Presentation of the business segments is consistent with internal reporting to the main decision-maker. The 

main decision-maker is responsible for decisions on the allocation of resources to the operating segments 

and for reviewing their earnings power. The Management Board of SURTECO was defined as the main deci-

sion-maker.

Decisions of judgement and estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires up to a certain level 

decisions of judgement, estimates and assumptions of the management which exert effects on the recogni-

tion, measurement and reporting of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and contingent assets and lia-

bilities. The significant facts which are affected by such decisions of judgement and estimates relate to the 

definition of the period of use of fixed assets, the determination of discounted cash flows within the scope 

of purchase price allocations and impairment tests, accrual of cash generating units, the formation of pro-

visions for restructuring, for legal proceedings, pension benefits for employees and corresponding deduc-

tions, taxes, inventory valuations, price reductions, product liability and warranties.

The assumptions and estimates are based on premises that rely on the knowledge available at the time. In 

particular, the expected future business development takes account of the circumstances prevailing at the 

time when the consolidated financial statements were prepared and realistic assumptions on the future de-

velopment of the global and sector-specific environment. Any developments of these framework conditions 

deviating from these assumptions and outside the sphere of influence of the management may result in de-

viations of the actual amounts from the estimated values originally projected. If the actual development de-

viates from the projected development, the premises and, if necessary, the book values of the relevant assets 

and liabilities are adjusted appropriately. Further explanations are described under the appropriate items.

Reporting and valuation principles should be regarded as important if they significantly influence the pres-

entation of the net assets, financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the SURTECO Group and 

require a difficult, subjective and complex assessment of facts and circumstances that are often uncertain 

in nature, may change in subsequent reporting periods, and whose consequences are therefore difficult to 

estimate. The published accounting principles, which have to be based on estimates, do not necessarily ex-

ert significant effects on reporting. There is only the possibility of significant effects. The most important 

accounting and valuation principles are described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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VIII. Notes to the Income Statement

(1) Sales revenues

The sales revenues are comprised as follows:

The sales revenues are broken down into individual segments as follows:

(2) Changes in inventorie

The changes in inventories relate to work in progress amounting to € 000 +724 (2018: € 000s -270) and fin-

ished products amounting to € 000s -4,437 (2018: € 000s 2,617).

(3) Other own work capitalized

Other own work capitalized is essentially self-manufactured tools and printing cylinders.

(4) Cost of materials

Composition of the cost of materials in the Group:

(5) Personnel expenses

The following table shows personnel expenses:

Regarding the defined-contribution pension provision systems, the company pays contributions to state  

pension insurance institutions based on statutory obligations. Contributions amounting to € 000s 316 (2018: 

€ 000s 331) are also paid to welfare funds and pension schemes. The pension costs also include payments 

of € 000s 8,071 (2018: € 000s 8,061) to statutory pension annuity guarantors. These payments entail no 

further obligations for the company to make payments. 

Personnel expenses include amounts resulting from the net interest expense/income and the current ser-

vice cost for pension obligations.

The average number of employees amounts to 3,218 (2018: 3,329). 

The following table shows the employee structure:

Business (product)
€ 000s

2018 2019

Edgebandings 258,535 250,714

Foils 135,842 128,033

Decorative printing 91,002 91,056

Impregnates / Release papers 97,977 77,879

Skirtings and related products 48,793 53,397

Technical extrusions 36,141 36,315

Other 30,687 37,878

698,977 675,272

€ 000s 2019

Decoratives Profiles Technicals Total
Edgebandings 239,748 571 10,395 250,714

Foils 99,073 0  28,960 128,033

Decorative printing 91,056 0  0  91,056

Impregnates / Release papers 31,709 0  46,170 77,879

Skirtings and related products 1,601 51,796 0  53,397

Technical extrusions 3,501 32,814 0  36,315

Other 29,160 7,495 1,223 37,878

495,848 92,676 86,748 675,272

€ 000s 20181

Decoratives Profiles Technicals Total
Edgebandings 248,423 454 9,658 258,535

Foils 104,817 0  31,025 135,842

Decorative printing 91,002 0  0  91,002

Impregnates / Release papers 29,399 0  68,578 97,977

Skirtings and related products 2,074 46,719 0  48,793

Technical extrusions 4,124 32,017 0  36,141

Other 22,768 7,118 801 30,687

502,607 86,308 110,062 698,977
1 These are pro forma values which are used for better comparability

€ 000s 2018 2019

Cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies, and purchased merchandise 344,853 325,035

Cost of purchased services 4,769 1,457

349,622 326,492

€ 000s 2018 2019

Wages and salaries 155,665 156,539

Social security contributions 19,425 19,627

Pension costs 10,257 10,020

185,347 186,186

2018 2019

Industrial Salaried Total Industrial Salaried Total
Production 1,707 206 1,913 1,625 222 1,846

Sales 57 390 447 52 389 441

Engineering 136 49 185 135 40 175

Research and development, 
quality assurance 94 118 212 65 103 168

Administration,  
materials management 166 406 572 187 401 588

2,160 1,169 3,329 2,064 1,155 3,218
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The number of employees by regions is as follows:

(6) Other operating expenses 

The other operating expenses are composed as follows:

Uncapitalized research and development costs (personnel and materials costs) in the Group amounted to  

€ 000s 3,584 (2018: € 000s 4,721).

The effects of changes in exchange rate through profit and loss included in other operating expenses amount-

ed to € 000s 150 (2018: € 000s 274) in the business year 2019.  

Owing to the first-time application of IFRS 16, rental and lease expenses are no longer recognised in other 

operating expenses. We refer to our explanations in the sections (II), (VII), (8) and (22).

(7) Impairment expenses / Impairment reversal income in accordance with IFRS 9

In the business year 2019, impairment reversal incomes are recorded.  

In the business year 2019, impairment reversal income in the amount of € 000s 185 (2018: € 000s 1,078) is 

recorded for trade accounts receivable. These were determined on the basis of the simplified impairment 

model (provision matrix). 

The following financial instruments are subject to general impairment recognition in accordance with IFRS 9:

On account of the slight default risk for bank balances, no allowance should be carried out for reasons of 

materiality. 

The receivables from affiliated companies include operational receivables and a loan issued. These receiv-

ables amount to € 000s 828. They were written down in full in the business year. The impairment expense 

in the amount of € 000s 414 is attributable to operating receivables (operating result) and in the amount of  

€ 000s 414 to the loan issued (financial result).

(8) Leases

Depreciation and amortization on rights of use are broken down as follows:

The following expenses from rental/leasing obligations are included in other operating expenses: 

In the business year 2019, payments for leasing obligations amounted to € 000s 6,047 (2018: € 000s 2,474; 

finance lease in accordance with IAS 17). 

In accordance with IFRS 16, interest expense in the amount of € 000s 586 (2018: € 000s 390, interest share 

of finance lease in accordance with IAS 17) was recognized under interest expense. 

2018 2019
Germany 1,866 1,792

European Union 659 636

Rest of Europe 31 35

Asia/Australia 204 213

America 569 542

3,329 3,218

€ 000s 2018 2019
Operating expenses 27,305 26,602

Sales expenses 49,883 48,790

Administrative expenses 24,050 24,574

Expenses arising from the ending of legal disputes 1,535 73

Impairment losses on receivables 733 2,679

103,506 102,718

Credit risk Impairment recognition

Bank balances Slight 12-M-Expected Credit Loss

Receivables from affiliated companies Likely 12-M-Expected Credit Loss

€ 000s 2018 2019
Depreciation and Amortization on finance lease in accordance with IAS 17

    Land and buildings -1,061 0

    Office equipment -190 0

-1,251 0

Depreciation and amortization on rights of use

    Land and buildings - -2,642

    Land and buildings (formerly finance lease)   -1,061

    Technical plant and machinery - -63

    Office equipment - -196

    Office equipment (formerly finance)   -139

    Vehicles - -666

    IT and communication - -71

0 -4,838

€ 000s 2018 2019

IFRS 16: Expenses in other operating expense:

    Expenses in conjunction with short-term leases - -1,296

    Expenses in conjunction with leases on small ticket assets (low value) -  -10

    Expenses in conjunction with variable lease payments  
    not included in leasing liabilities

- -20

    Expenses in conjunction with payments in advance and other expenses  
    not included in leasing liabilities 

- -433

- -1,759
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(9) Other operating income

The following table shows other operating income:

(10) Financial results

Interest expenses on financial liabilities that were not measured at fair value through profit or loss in the 

amount of € 000s 15 (2018: € 000s 24) were included in the financial result.

We refer to section (7) for explanations relating to the impairment expenses or income in accordance with 

IFRS 9.

(11) Income tax

Income tax expense is broken down as follows:

An average overall tax burden of 30.00 % (2018: 28.57 %) results for the German companies. The tax rate takes 

considers the trade tax (14.17 %; 2018: 12.75 %), the corporate income tax (15.0 % unchanged by comparison 

with the previous year) and the solidarity surcharge (5.5 % of corporate income tax unchanged by compar-

ison with the previous year). The applicable local income tax rates for the foreign companies vary between 

18 % and 34 % (2018: 17 % - 34 %).

Deferred tax losses carried forward have been capitalized in the consolidated financial statements on the 

basis of a 5-year projection of earnings before income tax at the level of the individual companies. Uncer-

tainties relating to different projected premises and framework conditions have been taken into account. 

No deferred tax assets were recognized on loss carry-forwards for foreign Group companies amounting to 

€ 000s 5,559 (2018: € 000s 5,423) due to restricted utility. The loss carry-forwards amounting to € 000s 

4,894 expire within ten years, and € 000s 559 can be carried forward indefinitely.

Deferred tax liabilities amounting to € 000s 4,447 (2018: € 000s 19,405) were not recognized on temporary 

differences in connection with investments in subsidiaries, as the Group is in a position to control the timing 

of the reversal and these temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities reported in the financial statements listed below are attributable to 

differences in recognition and valuation of individual items on the balance sheet and to tax losses carried 

forward:

Non-current deferred taxes are included in the deferred tax assets in the amount of € 000s 15,209 (2018:  

€ 000s 9,124), in the deferred tax liabilities in the amount of € 000s 42,680 (2018: € 000s 56,879).

€ 000s 2018 2019

Income tax rebates (abroad) 938 1,123

Rental income 771 699

Claims for compensation 537 453

Income from reductions of allowances 288 558

Income from asset disposals 198 141

Income from allocated charges 67 296

Other operating income 1,461 1,481

4,260 4,751

€ 000s 2018 2019

Interest and similar income 1,432 460

Interest and similar expenses -7,490 -7,345

Interest (net) -6,058 -6,885

Currency gains/losses, net 1,725 1,886

Other financial earnings -706 -175

Other financial expenses and income 1,019 1,711

Impairment expenses in accordance with IFRS 9 -570 -414

Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method 540 688

Financial result -5,069 -4,901

€ 000s 2018 2019

Current income taxes

 - Germany 1,477 456

 - international 9,181 10,380

10,658 10,836

Deferred income taxes

 - from time differences -1,736 -9,353

 - from losses carried forward -718 4,979

-2,454 -4,374

8,204 6,462

€ 000s Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

2018 Change 2019 2018 Change 2019

Inventories 1,207 785 1,992 1,018 25 1,043

Receivables and other assets 1,556 -331 1,225 6,826 -4,231 2,595

Tax losses carried forward 768 4,211 4,979 0 0 0

Goodwill 0 0 0 3,216 603 3,819

Property, plant and equipment 2,260 -1,008 1,252 20,622 4,767 25,389

Intangible assets 45 1 46 11,421 -260 11,161

Other current assets 0 0 0 13 -13 0

Other non-current assets 508 -62 446 1,111 -1,111 0

Financial liabilities 21,770 -14,759 7,011 18,439 -18,247 192

Pensions and other personnel-related  
obligations 1,464 388 1,852 647 162 809

Trade accounts payable 1,158 63 1,221 661 699 1,360

Other liabilities 5,230 -1,298 3,932 1,720 884 2,604

35,966 -12,009 23,957 65,694 -16,723 48,971

Netting -17,681 -15,186 -17,681 -15,186

18,285 -12,009 8,771 48,013 -16,723 33,785
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Reconciliation between expected and actual income tax expenditure is as follows:

The average expected tax rate amounts to 30.0 % (2018: 28.57 %). 

The application of IFRIC 23 does not result in any changes in reporting because all tax items in the past have 

already been recognized in accordance with the rules of IAS 12. 

Income taxes recorded directly in other comprehensive income

Income tax which directly exerts a negative impact on, or was credited to, other comprehensive income for 

the year is comprised as follows:

(12) Earnings per share

The earnings per share are calculated by dividing the proportionate earnings of the shareholders of SURTECO 

GROUP SE by the weighted average of the issued shares. 

IX. Notes to the Balance Sheet

(13) Cash and cash equivalents

(14) Trade accounts receivable

The allowances relate to specific allowances and lump-sum allowances. The calculation of the specific allow-

ance is carried out on the basis of the age structure, and on account of knowledge about the customer-specif-

ic credit and default risk. 

The allowances developed as follows:

There is no significant concentration of risk in the trade accounts receivable on account of the diversified cus-

tomer structure of the SURTECO Group. The current values of the trade accounts receivable essentially corre-

spond to the book values.

€ 000s 2018 2019

Earnings before Taxes (EBT) 27,133 16,218

Expected income tax 7,752 4,865

Reconciliation:

Changes in tax rates -1,503 20

Differences in tax rates -716 -1,383

Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method -131 -389

Use of loss carry-forwards not including deferred tax assets 905 -458

Expenses not deductible from taxes 1,308 4,351

Tax-free income -855 -1,337

Allowance on deferred tax assets -445 130

Tax expenses / income not related to the reporting period 959 884

Permanent differences 802 -415

Other effects 128 235

Income tax 8,204 6,462

€ 000s 2018 2019

Actuarial gains/losses -57 333

Net investment in a foreign operation 214 92

157 425

2018 2019
Consolidated net profit in € 000s 18,630 9,428

Weighted average of no-par-value shares issued 15,505,731 15,505,731

Basic and undiluted earnings per share in € 1.20 0.61

€ 000s 2018 2019

Trade accounts receivable 61,008 56,152

Less allowances -3,489 -3,522

Book value 57,519 52,630

€ 000s 2018 2019

Cash in hand and bank balances 67,954 70,490

Fixed-term deposits 53,000 13,089

120,954 83,579

€ 000s 2018 2019

Specific 
allowance

Allowance 
acc. to IFRS 9

Specific 
allowance

Allowance 
acc. to IFRS 9

1/1/ 4,426 - 2,574 915

First-time application in accordance with IFRS 9 - 1,994 - -

Recourse -179 - -278

Release of unused amounts -2,198 -1,078 -120 -185

Addition (effect on expenses) 430 - 583 -

Exchange rate differences 95 - 33 -

31/12/ 2,574 915 2,792 730
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The following table shows the maturity structure of receivables and the allowances due in accordance with 

IFRS 9:

There were no indications on the reporting date that payment defaults would occur for trade accounts  

receivable which were neither overdue nor impaired.

The maximum amount exposed to default in trade accounts receivable amounts to € 000s 4,381 (2018:  

€ 000s 4,122) on 31 December 2019. The receivables of the individual companies are hedged depending on 

the size of the company, the receivable structure and the risk profile of the receivable. 

The nominal amount for all written-down assets, for which an insolvency or other proceeding is currently on-

going, amounts to € 000s 704 as at 31 December 2019 (2018: € 000s 279). 

(15) Inventories

The inventories of the Group are comprised as follows:

Impairments of € 000s 4,296 (2018: € 000s 3,195) were reported on inventories.

Of the inventories, € 000s 22,281 (2018: € 000s 54,905) were recognized under assets at the net disposal value.

(16) Current income tax receivables

Claims arising from income tax are recognized under current tax assets insofar as their due date is not twelve 

months after the reporting date.

(17) Other current financial and non-financial assets

No significant allowances were carried out on the other current assets recognized.

Other current financial assets

See section (34) for explanations of the call option (purchase option). 

The receivables recognized from factoring result from the sales of trade receivables of SURTECO GROUP SE 

to a factor. These sales of receivables led to a continuing involvement. The late payment risk from the con-

tracts sold remains with SURTECO. Apart from the continuing involvement, the receivables include the res-

ervation amount of the factor for invoice deductions by the customer. Sales of receivables with a book value 

at 31 December 2019 amounting to € 000s 10,187 (2018: € 000s 7,731) led to a partial disposal. A continuing 

involvement asset in the amount of € 000s 129 (2018: € 000s 112) was reported for this under the receiv-

ables from factoring. The associated liability in the amount of € 000s 129 (2018: € 000s 112) was reported 

under other current liabilities. The maximum amount of the receivables sold amounts to € 000s 19,825 (2018: 

€ 000s 19,915; book value € 000s 21,412) in the business year. 

In the case of other current financial liabilities, obligations of € 000s 5,454 (2018: € 000s 3,818) were addi-

tionally recognized with respect to the factor for receivables settled to the reporting date.

€ 000s 2018 2019
Raw materials, consumables and supplies 43,491 37,067

Work in progress 12,502 11,778

Finished products and goods 70,976 74,211

Payments on account for inventories 0 5

126,969 123,061

€ 000s 2018 2019

Other current non-financial assets

    Income tax assets (value added tax, wage tax) 4,482 4,873

    Prepaid expenses 2,735 2,521

    Other 473 887

7,690 8,281

Other current financial assets

Call option 4,300 4,300

Receivables factoring 799 2,218

Bonuses receivables 696 1,067

Security deposits 151 117

Creditors with debit balances 204 208

Receivables from employment relationships 99 319

Other loans 200 0

Other 929 642

7,378 8,871

15,068 17,152

€ 000s Total Receivables 
not overdue up to 3 

months
3-6 

 months
6-12  

months
over 12 
months

Overdue receivables

31/12/2019            

    1% 3% 21% 25% 29%

Book value of trade accounts receivable 38,175 33,325 4,462 231 97 59

Allowance in accordance with IFRS 9 403 181 133 48 24 17

Allowance in accordance with IFRS 9 
for factoring receivables 416      

Less lump-sum allowances -89          

Allowance in accordance with IFRS 9 
as at 31/12/2019 730          

31/12/2018            

    1% 4% 29% 35% 40%

Book value of trade accounts receivable 61,339 51,037 9,365 330 169 439

Allowance in accordance with IFRS 9 1,036 351 353 96 59 178

Less lump-sum allowances -121          

Allowance in accordance with IFRS 9 
as at 31/12/2018 915          
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(18) Assets held for sale

On the reporting date, the SURTECO Group has no assets held for sale. The assets held for sale in the previ-

ous year were disposed of in the course of the business year 2019. 

(19) Fixed assets

The fixed assets are comprised as follows: 

1 The values carried forward for acquisition costs were adjusted on account of allowances in the subledgers for property, plant and equipment in the 
amount of € 000s 8,279, for intangible assets in the amount of € 000s -350 and for goodwill in the amount of € 000s 25,478.
2 The values carried forward in accumulated depreciation and amortization were adjusted on account of allowances in the subledgers for property plant 
and equipment in the amount of € 000s -7,849, for intangible assets in the amount of € 000s 352 and for goodwill in the amount of € 000s -25,478.

(20) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are comprised as follows:

As at 31 December 2019, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of € 000s 471 (2018: € 000s 

1,221) was pledged as collateral for existing liabilities.

In the business year 2019, impairments in the amount of € 000s 1,330 were carried out on technical equipment.

€ 000s Property, 
plant and 

equipment

Intangible 
assets

Goodwill Rights of use Total

Acquisition costs

1/1/2018 664,166 118,966 208,073 0 991,205

Currency adjustment 1,042 -266 -238 0 538

Additions 45,017 2,520 0 0 47,537

Disposals -7,546 -26 0 0 -7,572

Reclassification to assets  
held for sale -25,794 -206 0 0 -26,000

Transfers -304 304 0 0 0

31/12/2018 676,581 121,292 207,835 0 1,005,708

1/1/2019 1 684,860 120,942 182,357 0 988,159

Currency adjustment 2,238 759 162 106 3,266

Additions 33,619 2,747 0 15,248 51,614

Disposals -15,771 -201 -32 -1,534 -17,538

Transfers -1,634 1,634 0 0 0

Reclassification on account  
of IFRS 16 -28,316 0 0 28,316 0

31/12/2019 674,996 125,881 182,487 42,136 1,025,501

Depreciation and amortization

1/1/2018 405,958 52,290 44,770 0 503,018

Currency adjustment 341 -80 201 0 462

Additions 30,618 9,958 0 40,576

Disposals -6,996 -12 0 0 -7,008

Reclassification to assets  
held for sale -9,091 -193 0 0 -9,284

31/12/2018 420,830 61,963 44,971 0 527,764

1/1/2019 2 428,679 61,611 19,493 0 509,783

Currency adjustment 1,033 577 182 19 1,811

Additions 32,800 8,737 0 4,838 45,175

Disposals -15,617 -130 -32 -448 -16,227

Transfers -1,319 1,319 0 0 0

Reclassifications on account  
of IFRS 16 -6,254 0 0 6,254 0

31/12/2019 438,122 72,114 19,643 10,663 540,542

Book value at 31/12/2019 236,874 53,767 162,844 31,473 484,959

Book value at 31/12/2018 255,751 59,329 162,864 0 477,944

€ 000s Land and 
buildings

Financial 
leasing for 

land and 
buildings

Technical 
equipment 

and  
machines

Other 
equipment, 

factory  
and office  

equipment

Payments 
on account 
and assets 
under con-

struction

Total

Acquisition costs

1/1/2018 143,176 26,622 391,720 89,005 13,643 664,166

Currency adjustment 5 1 1,336 -320 20 1,042

Reclassification to assets  
held for sale -6,112 0 -18,935 -747 0 -25,794

Additions 4,684 0 19,487 8,189 12,657 45,017

Disposals -358 0 -4,833 -2,310 -45 -7,546

Transfers 1,572 -278 4,208 1,039 -6,845 -304

31/12/2018 142,967 26,345 392,983 94,856 19,430 676,581

1/1/2019 3 143,127 27,067 399,624 95,613 19,430 684,860

Currency adjustment 620 0 1,494 109 15 2,238

Additions 1,669 0 12,830 4,639 14,482 33,619

Disposals -1,104 0 -10,894 -3,772 -1 -15,770

Transfers 941 0 13,242 225 -16,042 -1,634

Reclassifications on account of IFRS 16              0 -27,067 0 -1,250 0 -28,316

31/12/2019 145,252 0 416,296 95,565 17,884 674,997

Depreciation and amortization

1/1/2018 58,202 4,220 280,606 62,925 5 405,958

Currency adjustment -2 1 454 -112 0 341

Reclassification to disposals -423 0 -8,333 -335 0 -9,091

Additions 3,775 810 19,364 6,669 0 30,618

Disposals -347 0 -4,529 -2,120 0 -6,996

Transfers 252 -252 11 -11 0 0

31/12/2018 61,457 4,779 287,573 67,016 5 420,830

1/1/2019 4 61,616 5,501 293,799 67,758 5 428,679

Currency adjustment 181 0 796 56 0 1,033

Additions 3,413 1,061 21,708 6,617 0 32,800

Disposals -1,510 0 -10,585 -3,522 0 -15,617

Transfers -1,888 0 -1,448 114 1,903 -1,319

Reclassifications on account of IFRS 16              0 -6,562 0 -892 0 -7,454

Write-up -526 0 526 0 0 0

31/12/2019 61,286 0 304,796 70,131 1,908 438,122

Book value at 31/12/2019 83,966 0 111,500 25,434 15,976 236,875

Book value at 31/12/2018 81,510 21,566 105,410 27,840 19,425 255,751

3 The values carried forward for acquisition costs were adjusted similarly for land and buildings by € 000s 160, for finance leasing in respect of land and 
buildings by € 000s 722, for technical plant and machinery by € 000s 6,641, for other plant, factory and office equipment by € 000s 757.
4 The values carried forward in accumulated depreciation and amortization were adjusted similarly for land and buildings by € 000s -159, for finance 
leasing in respect of land and buildings by € 000s -722, for technical plant and machinery by € 000s -6,226, for other plant, factory and office equip-
ment by € 000s -74
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(21) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are comprised as follows:

5 The values carried forward for acquisition costs were adjusted similarly for concessions, patents, licences, technology and similar rights by  
€ 000s -52, for customer relations, trademarks and similar rights by € 000s 999 and for development expenses by € 000s -1,303.
6 The values carried forward for accumulated depreciation and amortization were adjusted similarly for concessions, patents, licences and similar 
rights by € 000s 2,575, for customer relations, trademarks, technology and similar rights by € 000s -2,695 and for development expenses by  
€ 000s 236.

(22) Rights of use

The following rights of use with the book values shown are differentiated in the SURTECO Group:

The allocations to rights of use during the business year 2019 amounted to € 000s 15,248.

(23) Goodwill

Goodwill is comprised of the following amounts from the takeover of business operations and from capital 

consideration.

Goodwill developed as follows:

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (CGU Level) for purposes of carrying out annual or event-re-

lated (triggering events) impairment tests. These correspond to the operating divisions in the business seg-

ments ‘Decoratives’, ‘Technical Foils’ ‘Dakor’ and ‘Kröning’.

The value of the significant goodwill recognized in the year under review was also evident in a variation in the 

discount rate and the growth rate by +/- 0.5 %.

€ 000s Concessions, 
patents,  

licences and 
similar rights

Customer 
relations, 

trademarks, 
technology 
and similar 

values

Development 
expenses

Payments on 
account

Total

Acquisition costs

1/1/2018 34,058 76,241 8,507 160 118,966

Currency adjustment -153 78 -191 0 -266

Reclassification to assets held 
for sale -206 0 0 0 -206

Additions 2,128 0 304 88 2,520

Disposals -26 0 0 0 -26

Transfers 402 0 49 -147 304

31/12/2018 36,203 76,319 8,669 101 121,292

1/1/2019 5 36,157 77,318 7,366 101 120,942

Currency adjustment 5 811 -57 0 759

Additions 1,335 0 632 780 2,747

Disposals -161 0 0 -41 -201

Transfers -3,073 3,308 1,532 -133 1,634

31/12/2019 34,264 81,437 9,473 708 125,881

Depreciation and amortization

1/1/2018 24,437 23,797 4,056 0 52,290

Currency adjustment -115 142 -107 0 -80

Additions 4,075 5,624 259 0 9,958

Disposals -12 0 0 0 -12

Reclassification to assets held 
for sale -193 0 0 0 -193

31/12/2018 28,192 29,563 4,208 0 61,963

1/1/2019 6 30,771 26,868 3,972 0 61,611

Currency adjustment -35 642 -30 0 577

Additions 1,826 6,010 901 0 8,737

Disposals -130 0 0 0 -130

Transfers -2,573 3,308 583 0 1,319

31/12/2019 29,860 36,828 5,426 0 72,114

Book value at 31/12/2019 4,404 44,609 4,047 708 53,768

Book value at 31/12/2018 8,011 46,756 4,461 101 59,329

T€ 31/12/2018 31/12/2019

Property, plant and equipment
    Land and buildings finance lease 21,566 0

    Office equipment 498

22,064 0

Rights of use

    Land and buildings (formerly finance lease)   20,504

    Land and buildings 0 9,009

    Technical plant and machinery 0 94

    Office equipment 0 66

    Office equipment (formerly finance lease)   358

    Vehicles 0 1,080

    IT and communication 0 362

0 31,473

€ 000s 2018 2019

1/1/ 163,303 162,864

Currency adjustment -439 -20

31/12/ 162,864 162,844
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The book value of the goodwill was attributed to the cash generating units as follows:

The value in use to be applied for carrying out the impairment test is calculated based on a company valu-

ation model (discounted cash flow). The calculation is carried out using cash flow plans which are based on 

medium-term planning for a period of five years that has been approved by the Management Board and is 

valid at the time when the impairment test was carried out. These plans include experience and expectations 

relating to the future market development. Growth rates are estimated individually for each subsidiary com-

pany on the basis of the macro-economic framework data for the regional market, the market opportunities 

and experiences in the past. The underlying growth rates applied for the impairment test are based on me-

dium-term planning for a period of 5 years amounted to an average of 3.6 % for sales and 11.7 % for EBITDA. 

For the period after the fifth year, a growth rate of 0.5 % was used for sales and for EBITDA, since the value 

in use is mainly determined by the terminal value and this responds in a particularly sensitive way to chang-

es in assumptions with respect to its growth rate and its interest rate.

The costs of capital are calculated as a weighted average of the costs of equity and debt. As far as possi-

ble, external information from the comparator group or available market data are used. The costs of equity  

correspond to the expectations of return held by investors. An increased market risk was taken account by a 

0.5 % point higher “additional risk” compared with the previous year. Market conditions for loans are taken into 

account for borrowing costs. This yielded an interest rate of 7.3 % (2018: 7.9 %) before taxes in December 2019.

Based on the impairment tests carried out in the business year 2019, the values in use of the cash generat-

ing units are estimated higher than the net asset values. As a result, no impairments have been recognized.

(24) Investments accounted for using the equity method

The investments accounted for using the equity method relate to one joint venture in the business year 2019.

The company Canplast Mexico accounted for using the equity method is not a listed company so that no 

market price is available for this investment. The joint venture company exerts no significant effect on the 

net assets, financial position and results of operations of the SURTECO Group.

The following information presents the amounts in the financial statements of the companies accounted for 

using the equity method and not the corresponding shares of SURTECO GROUP SE in them. Adjustments on 

the basis of differences between the accounting and valuation methods with the companies accounted for 

using the equity method were not carried out in the Group for reasons of materiality.

€ 000s 2018 Reconciliation 2019

   CGU Edgebandings 111,652 -111,652 0

   CGU Skirtings 36,281 -36,281 0

   CGU Technical Foils 7,939 -7,939 0

Strategic Business Unit Plastics 155,873 -155,873 0

Strategic Business Unit Paper 6,991 -6,991 0

162,864 -162,864 0

   CGU Decoratives 117,289 117,289

   CGU Profiles 36,281 36,281

   CGU Technical Foils 7,793 7,793

   CGU DAKOR 498 498

   CGU Kröning 982 982

162,864 -20 162,844

€ 000s Investments in joint ventures
Acquisition costs

1/1/2018 1,988

Currency adjustment 61

Proportionate earnings 541

Payout -212

31/12/2018 2,378

Currency adjustment 169

Proportionate earnings 688

Payout -719

31/12/2019 2,516

Name Country of 
registration

Percentage of 
shares held

Type of 
business activity

Type of 
participation

Canplast Mexico  
S.A. de C.V. Mexico 50%

Sale of 
edgebandings

Joint-venture 
company

€ 000s 2018 2019
Joint ventures Joint ventures

Current assets 4,143 5,206

Non-current assets 745 810

Current liabilities -1,045 -1,714

Non-current liabilities -23 -368

Net assets (100 %) 3,820 3,934

Share of the Group in the net assets (50 %) 1,910 1,967

Book value of the share 2,378 2,516

Sales revenues 7,890 9,427

EBT 1,509 2,294

Profit after taxes 1,082 1,376

Share of the Group in total income 541 688

Payout received from joint ventures 212 719
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The financial assets developed as follows::

(25) Income tax liabilities

Tax liabilities include the income tax due for the business year 2019 or earlier business years and not yet paid, 

and the anticipated tax payments for previous years. 

(26) Short-term provisions 

The warranty provision was formed for warranty obligations arising from the sale of products. The valuation 

is made on the basis of experience values.

The legal disputes essentially relate to a protective rights agreement and warranty matters.

The restructuring provision includes expenses which are used for an optimization programme to harmonize 

the processes and structures to the changed market conditions. 

The provision for impending losses was essentially formed for risks arising from pending sales transactions. 

It is likely that the sale of products will be below the costs of manufacture. The time of anticipated outflow 

will come with fulfilment of the sales transactions.

(27) Other current financial and non-financial liabilities

Other current financial liabilities

The liabilities from employment relationships primarily include, apart from the wage and salary payments 

not yet paid on the reporting date, obligations arising from bonuses, holiday and working time credits.

Obligations in respect of the factoring agent for receivables settled as at the reporting date are recognized 

under other current liabilities arising from factoring. Reference is made to our comments on receivables from 

factoring under section (17) “Other current assets” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for 

further details.

We refer to section (34) for explanations of the sale option (put option). 

(28) Financial liabilities

The financial liabilities are comprised as follows:

€ 000s 2018 2019

1/1/ 831 31

Participations 0 -1

Loans -800 0

31/12/ 31 30

€ 000s 1/1/2019 Currency 
adjustment

Expense Release Addition 31/12/2019

Warranty 1,389 1 -741 -410 1,322 1,561

Legal disputes 2,287 -4 -13 0 1,340 3,610

Restructuring 6,308 -19 -4,120 -1,562 12,651 13,258

Impending losses 214 0 -171 0 131 174

Other 1,400 -3 -179 -241 444 1,421

11,598 -25 -5,224 -2,213 15,887 20,023

€ 000s 2018 2019

Other current non-financial liabilities

Tax liabilities (value added tax) 1,247 1,200

Social insurance against occupational accidents 816 791

Supervisory Board remuneration 304 246

Deferred income 13 119

Other 88 54

2,468 2,410

Other current financial liabilities

Liabilities from employment relationships * 16,637 13,462

Other current liabilities factoring 3,818 5,454

Put option 3,407 3,834

Bonuses and promotional costs 1,642 1,287

Debitors with credit balances 2,095 2,118

Commissions 547 261

Payments on account received 492 808

Other 940 281

29,578 27,505

32,046 29,915

* of which social security. 611 830

€ 000s 2018 2019

    Long-term financial liabilities to banks 241,522 237,609

    Long-term financial liabilities for leases 11,062 16,926

Long-term financial liabilities 252,584 254,535

    Short-term financial liabilities to banks 64,057 4,137

    Short-term financial liabilities for leases 1,848 4,791

Short-term financial liabilities 65,905 8,928

Financial liabilities 318,489 263,463
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Long-term financial liabilities are essentially made up of the promissory note loans in the amount of € 000s 

200,000 raised in the business year 2017. This is divided into four tranches with terms of between five and 

ten years. Fixed-interest agreements have been primarily agreed for the other non-current banking liabilities 

with interest rates in a range between 1.055 % and 2.92 %.

For collateral in respect of financial debt, please refer to section (20).

The liabilities from leasing obligations are released over the contract term and are due on the reporting date 

as follows:

The increase in liabilities from leasing obligations is due to first-time application of IFRS 16. 

(29) Pensions and other personnel-related obligations

Commitments for company pensions were concluded for individual employees of the SURTECO Group. The 

defined-benefit commitments were concluded through individual contracts and in collective agreements. 

They essentially provide for pension payments when an employee retires, becomes incapacitated and/or 

in cases of death. The level of the provision payments depends on the final salary achieved taking account 

of length of service with the company and fixed pension components for each year of service. The pension 

commitments in Germany are subject to the German Company Pensions Act.

The financing of the projected benefit obligations arising from pension obligations amounts to € 000s 11,800 

(2018: € 000s 10,997) internally through the contribution to a pension provision and through pledged reinsur-

ance amounting to € 000s 212 (2018: € 000s 232), which secures the obligations partly or fully congruently.

The pension obligations, the plan assets and the provision developed as follows:

There is no active market price quotation for the plan assets.

The Group recognizes remeasurements from defined-benefit plans in shareholder’s equity (other compre-

hensive income). The amount included for 2019 before deferred taxes amounts to € 000s 969 (2018: € 000s 

168). Up to now, a total of € 000s 3,973 (2018: € 000s 3,006) has been recognized in shareholders’ equity.

The annual payments by the employer (expected pension payments) in the next business year are likely to 

be € 000s 480.

If the other assumptions remain constant, the changes which were possible, subject to an objective analysis 

on the reporting date, would have exerted an influence on the defined-benefit obligation in the event of one 

of the significant actuarial assumptions set out below (sensitivity analysis):

€ 000s 2018 2019

Leasing payments to be made in the future

    in less than one year 2,181 5,215

    between one year and five years 11,440 16,046

    after more than five years 17 1,327

Interest share

    in less than one year -334 -420

    between one year and five years -395 -398

    after more than five years 0 -52

Present value

    in less than one year 1,848 4,795

    between one year and five years 11,045 15,647

    after more than five years 17 1,275

12,910 21,717

€ 000s 2018 2019
Present value 

of obligation
Present value 
of plan assets

Provision Present value 
of obligation

Present value 
of plan assets

Provision

1/1/ 11,032 -228 10,804 10,996 -231 10,765

Pension payments on account -503 0 -503 -228 0 -228

Payments from plan  
settlements 0 7 7 0 7 7

Current service expense 65 0 65 56 0 56

Interest income 0  -6 -6 0 17 17

Interest expense 234 -4 230 0 -4 -4

Remeasurements      

Actuarial gains / losses      

From changes in demo-
graphic parameters 156 0 156 -5 0 -5

From experience  
adjustments 124 0 124 -342 0 -342

From changes in financial 
parameters -112 0 -112 1,316 0 1,316

168 0 168 969 0 969

Other changes 0   0 0  0 0 0

Currency adjustments 0  0  0  7 0 7

31/12/ 10,996 -231 10,765 11,800 -212 11,588

€ 000s Change in present value of pension obligations

2018 2019

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Increase in the interest rate by 0.25% 305  368

Decrease in the interest rate by 0.25% 321   349

Increase in future pension rises by 0.25% 256   305

Decrease in future pension rises by 0.25% 288 319
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A similar approach is adopted by determining the sensitivities and the scope of obligation. If several  

assumptions are changed at the same time, the overall effect does not necessarily have to correspond to the 

sum of the individual effects due to the changes in the assumptions. Furthermore, the effects are not linear.

The weighted average residual term of the benefit obligations is 11.3 years to 31 December 2019.

The additional personnel-related obligations include partial-retirement and long-service agreements. The 

partial-retirement obligations amount to € 000s 259 (2019: € 000s 322) on the reporting date and these 

obligations are balanced by plan assets amounting to € 000s 170 (2018: € 000s 237) because of the statu-

tory requirement for insolvency protection. The long-service obligations amount to € 000s 2,088 on the re-

porting date (2018: € 000s 1,979)

Out of the non-current obligations arising from partial-retirement arrangements € 000s 30 (2018: € 000s 

80) are due in 2020.

(30) Shareholders’ equity

The subscribed capital (capital stock) of SURTECO GROUP SE is € 15,505,731.00 and is fully paid in. It is di-

vided into 15,505,731 no-par-value bearer shares (ordinary shares) corresponding to a proportion of the cap-

ital stock of € 1.00 in each case.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of SURTECO GROUP SE includes the amounts by which the capital investment values of 

shareholdings in affiliated companies paid within the scope of capital increases against non-cash consid-

erations exceed the amounts of capital stock allocated to the SURTECO shares released for this purpose.

Netting differences capitalized as assets arising from capital consolidation on account of the pooling of in-

terests method were netted in the consolidated financial statements of SURTECO GROUP SE against the cap-

ital reserve during the year of first-time consolidation.

The capital reserve is unchanged by comparison with the previous year and amounts to € 000s 122,755. 

Retained earnings

Retained earnings include transfers from net profit and the accumulated comprehensive income resulting 

from the following items:

•	 Offsetting of actuarial gains and losses with no effect on net income

•	 Differences arising from currency translations of annual financial statements of foreign subsidiaries with 

no effect on net income

•	 Unrealized gains and losses arising from foreign-currency loans to subsidiary companies which met the 

requirement of a net investment

Reconciliation of the equity components affected by comprehensive income: 

Dividend proposal

The dividend payout of SURTECO GROUP SE is based on net profit reported in the financial statements of 

SURTECO GROUP SE in accordance with commercial law in conformity with § 58 (2) of the Stock Corpora-

tion Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). The financial statements of SURTECO GROUP SE drawn up in accordance with 

commercial law have recorded a net profit of € 000s 6,202 (2018: € 000s 8,528). The Management Board in 

consultation with the Supervisory Board of SURTECO GROUP SE will submit a proposal for the appropriation 

of the net profit of SURTECO GROUP SE at a later date on account of the current uncertain situation in rela-

tion to the coronavirus pandemic.

(31) Non-controlling interest

The following table provides an overview of financial information for companies with non-controlling inter-

ests which are important for the SURTECO Group.

The table presents balance sheet values at 31 December 2019 for the companies of the Nenplas Group be-

fore elimination of intragroup transactions and without the effect arising from the purchase price allocation:

€ 000s 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 

Fair value 
measurement 

for pension 
provisions

Currency 
translation 

adjustments

Total other 
comprehen-
sive income

Fair value 
measurement 

for pension 
provisions

Currency 
translation 

adjustments

Total other 
comprehen-
sive income

Components of other com-
prehensive income not to be 
reclassified to the income 
statement

Remeasurements of defined 
benefit obligations -225 636

Components of other com-
prehensive income that may 
be classified to the income 
statement 

Net gains / losses from a 
net investment in a foreign 
operation -498 213

Exchange differences in trans-
lation of foreign operations -408 1,050

Other comprehensive income -225 -906 -1,131 636 1,263 1,899
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€ 000s 3,548 (2018: € 000s 3,221) were attributed to non-controlling interests in the equity of the Nenplas com-

panies on 31 December 2019.

(32) Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations 

Contingent liabilities were recognized on 31 December 2019 amounting to € 000s 0 (2018: € 000s 28) and re-

late exclusively to a special-purpose entity. There are no identifiable points of reference for assuming that the 

conditions underlying the investment allowance are no longer applicable. Furthermore, guarantees were pro-

vided for non-consolidated companies (see section (37)).

Obligations arising from rental, hire and leasing contracts are explained in the disclosures relating to IFRS 16 

(see section (28)).  

Commitments amounting to € 000s 11,799 (2018: € 000s 0) were recognized arising from orders for invest-

ment projects already in progress or planned in the area of items of property, plant and equipment and intan-

gible assets (commitments from orders).

(33) Capital management

The goals of capital management are derived from financial strategy. This includes safeguarding liquidity and 

guaranteeing access to the capital market. The capital is defined as the shareholders’ equity recognized in the 

balance sheet and the net debt.

Measures for achieving the goals of capital management are optimization of the capital structure, equity capital 

measures, compliance with covenants, acquisitions and disinvestments, as well as the reduction of net debts. 

The Group is not subject to the imposition of any statutory capital requirements.

The dividend payout for the business year 2019 amounted to € 000s 8,528.

 

Our finance controlling is based on the indicators defined in our finance strategy. The interest cover factor 

was 9.6 (2018: 12.0) in 2019. The debt-service coverage ratio was 30.4 % in 2019 (2018: 30.0 %). The net debt 

amounted to € 000s 179,884 (2018: € 000s 197,535) on 31 December 2019 and the equity ratio was 45.4 % 

(2018: 41.8 %). The calculation of the indicators is presented in the management report.

The international business profile of the Group means that different legal and supervisory regulations have to be 

observed according to the region. The status and development of these regulations are tracked at local level and 

centrally, and any changes are taken into account for purposes of capital management.

(34) Financial instruments and financial risk management

The significant financial risks of the Group are described below. More extensive descriptions of the risks are includ-

ed in the risk and opportunities report provided in the management report.

1. Security guidelines and principles of financial risk management 

Due to the international activities of the SURTECO Group, changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates 

impact the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the SURTECO Group. The risks result from for-

eign currency transactions carried out in the course of operating business, from financing and from investment.

The Corporate Treasury Department of the SURTECO GROUP SE holding company controls centrally the currency 

and interest-management of the Group and also the key business transactions with financial derivatives and other 

financial instruments. In individual cases, currency hedging transactions are concluded at the foreign subsidiaries 

in close consultation with central treasury. Financial instruments and derivatives are used exclusively to hedge in-

terest and currency risks. Only commercial instruments with sufficient market liquidity are used for this purpose. 

Derivative financial positions for trading purposes are not held as at 31 December 2019. Risk assessments and 

checks are carried out continuously.

The subsidiaries report on their key currency and interest-rate risks within the scope of Group reporting. These 

risk positions are then analyzed and evaluated on the basis of the gross financial burden anticipated on EBT and 

the likelihood of occurrence. 

2. Financial risks

The refinancing of the Group and the subsidiary companies is generally carried out centrally by SURTECO GROUP SE. 

Most of the Group’s financial liabilities have residual terms of up to seven years and they are structured with fixed 

interest rates (see maturity structure section (28)). The Group operates with a wide base of lenders comprising 

insurance companies and banks. Financial indicators were agreed with lenders at standard market conditions 

in loan agreements, for example the ratio of EBITDA to interest income (Interest Coverage Factor, see Notes to 

the Consolidated Financial Statements section (31)) and these have to be complied with by the SURTECO Group. 

The key indicators are continuously monitored by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board. If there 

is an impending breach of any indicators, consultations on individual measures take place as necessary. If the 

indicators are breached, the lenders have the right to serve notice on the loan agreements. The financial indi-

cators were complied with in the business year 2019.

No risk concentration was identified for financial risks.  

3. Liquidity and credit risk

The Corporate Treasury Department of the SURTECO GROUP SE holding company monitors and controls the 

development of liquidity for the major subsidiary companies. This provides an up-to-date picture of liquidi-

ty development at any time. The high levels of free cash flow and the short payment targets mean that the 

SURTECO Group has adequate liquid funds continuously available. There is also the option of drawing on open 

credit lines and on factoring agreements.

However, there is the risk that earnings and liquidity are compromised by default on accounts receivable from 

customers and non-compliance with payment targets. The Group counters this risk by regularly reviewing credit 

€ 000s Nenplas Holding Ltd. Nenplas Ltd. Polyplas Extrusion
31/12/2019 31/12/2019 31/12/2019

ASSETS 5,571 17,464 7,642

Current assets 0 6,740 4,842

Non-current assets 5,571 10,724 2,800

LIABILITIES 5,571 17,464 7,642

Current liabilities 3,511 1,381 880

Non-current liabilities 0 979 1,436

Shareholders’ equity 2,060 15,104 5,326
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rating and carefully monitoring default with customers. The risk arising from debit balances in accounts pay-

able is low due the broad customer structure and credit insurance policies.

The following table shows the undiscounted contractually agreed cash outflows and inflows from primary fi-

nancial liabilities and derivative financial instruments with gross fulfilment. If the maturity date is not fixed, 

the liability relates to the earliest liability date.

4. Interest and currency risks

Due to the global nature of the business activities of the SURTECO Group, delivery and payment flows result 

in different currencies. Conversion of business figures and balance sheets from foreign subsidiaries into eu-

ros can entail risks which can only be hedged to a certain extent.

Interest risks are mainly incurred for short-term financial liabilities. The majority of long-term financial  

liabilities are structured with fixed-interest rates. SURTECO GROUP SE meets the remaining interest and cur-

rency risks in the business year 2019 by hedging positions with derivative financial instruments, and regu-

lar and intensive observation of a range of early-warning indicators. No derivative financial instruments are 

outstanding on the reporting date. Hedging of individual risks is discussed and decided by the Central Treas-

ury with the Management Board and the responsible Managing Directors.

The following table shows the sensitivity on the reporting date of the available derivatives and variable- 

interest primary financial instruments in the SURTECO Group to the rise or fall of interest rates by 100 basis 

points (bp):

The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular exchange rates, remain unchanged.

The Group operates in several currency areas. In particular, effects arise from the performance of the US dollar.

A rise in the key relevant foreign currencies in the Group against the euro would exert the following effects:

The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain unchanged.

No risk concentration was identified for risks relating to change in interest rates and currency.  

5. Valuations of financial instruments 

The calculation and recognition of the fair values of financial instruments is based on a fair value hierarchy 

which takes into account the significance of the input data used for the valuations and classifies it as follows:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, where the entity draw-

ing up the financial statements must have access to these active markets on the valuation date.

Level 2 – Directly or indirectly observable input factors which cannot be classified under Level 1.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs.

The following table shows the book values and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities including 

their levels in the fair value hierarchy. 

No fair value reporting is carried out in accordance with IFRS 7.29 for short-term financial instruments or finan-

cial instruments reported at acquisition cost.

2019
€ 000s

Book value 2020 2021 - 2024 2025 ff.
31/12/19 Interest Repayment Interest Repayment Interest Repayment

Financial liabilities to banks 241,747 3,679 4,138 11,046 178,672 3,770 59,569

Financial liabilities from leasing obligations 21,717 420 4,795 398 15,647 52 1,275

Financial liabilities 263,464 4,099 8,933 11,444 194,319 3,822 60,844

Trade accounts payable 62,906 - 62,906 - - - -

Other financial liabilities 27,505 - 27,505 - - - -

2018
€ 000s

Book value 2019 2020 - 2023 2024 ff.
31/12/18 Interest Repayment Interest Repayment Interest Repayment

Financial liabilities to banks 305,580 5,880 63,756 12,652 129,957 5,844 112,380

Financial liabilities from leasing obligations 12,909 334 1,848 395 11,045 0 17

Financial liabilities 318,489 6,214 65,604 13,047 141,002 5,844 112,397

Trade accounts payable 65,078 - 65,078 - - - -

Other financial liabilities 29,578 - 29,578 - - - -

€ 000s Income statement Equity / Other comprehensive income
100 bp

Rise
100 bp

Fall
100 bp

Rise
100 bp

Fall

31/12/2019

Variable interest instruments 423 -727 423 -727

423 -727 423 -727

31/12/2018

Variable interest instruments 416 -759 416 -759

416 -759 416 -759

€ 000s Income statement Equity / Other comprehensive income
10%
Rise

10%
Fall

10%
Rise

10%
Fall

31/12/2019

Primary financial instruments

in US dollars 1,453 -1,189 0 0

in other currencies 353 -289 1,802 -1,475

1,806 -1,478 1,802 -1,475

31/12/2018

Primary financial instruments

in US dollars 1,523 -1,246 0 0

in other currencies 331 -271 1,836 -1,502

1,854 -1,517 1,836 -1,502
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31/12/2019
€ 000s

Cate-
gory 
acc. 

IFRS 9

Book 
value

(amor-
tized) 

Acqui-
sition 
costs

Fair value Carrying 
amount 
acc. IAS 

17

Fair 
value 
(IFRS 

13)

Level

not 
affecting 

income
affecting 

income

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents AC 83,579 83,579 n.a. n.a.

Trade accounts receivable AC 52,630 52,630 n.a. n.a.

Receivables from affiliated companies AC 172 172 n.a. n.a.

Other current financial assets

- Continuing involvement n.a. 129 n.a. n.a.

- Receivable from loan issued AC 0 - - -

- Other current financial assets (in the scope of IFRS 7) AC 7,174 7,174 - -

- Other current financial assets 
   (not in the scope of IFRS 7) n.a. 2,305 -

- Call option FVPL 4,300 - 4,300 4,300 2

Financial assets

- Shares in affiliated companies FVPL 20 20 20 3

- Participations FVPL 10 10 10 3

Other non-current financial assets

- Other non-current financial assets AC 2,188 2,188 n.a. n.a.

Liabilities

Short-term financial liabilities

- Financial liabilities from leasing obligations n.a. 4,791 4,791 n.a. n.a.

- Liabilities to banks AC 4,137 4,137 n.a. n.a.

Trade accounts payable AC 62,906 62,906 n.a. n.a.

Other current financial liabilities n.a. n.a.

- Continuing involvement n.a. 129

- Contractual liabilities n.a. 4

- Other current financial liabilities  
   (in the scope of IFRS 7) AC 17,935 17,935 n.a. n.a.

- Other current financial liabilities  
   (not in the scope of  IFRS 7) n.a. 5,607 -

- Put option FVPL 3,834 3,834 3,834 3

Long-term financial liabilities

- Financial liabilities from leasing obligations n.a. 16,926 16,926

- Liabilities to banks AC 237,610 237,610 255,213

Aggregated according to valuation categories  
in accordance with IFRS 9

Amortized Costs (Assets) AC 145,743 145,743

Fair Value through P&L (Asset) FVPL 4,330 4,330

Amortized Costs (Liabilities) AC 322,588 322,588

Fair Value through P&L (Liabilities) FVPL 3,834 3,834

31/12/2018
€ 000s

Cate-
gory 
acc. 

IFRS 9

Book 
value

(amor-
tized) 

Acqui-
sition 
costs

Fair value Carrying 
amount 
acc. IAS 

17

Fair 
value 
(IFRS 

13)

Level

not 
affecting 

income
affecting 

income

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents AC 120,954 120,954 n.a. n.a.

Trade accounts receivable AC 57,519 57,519 n.a. n.a.

Receivables from affiliated companies AC 676 676 n.a. n.a.

Other current financial assets

- Continuing involvement n.a. 112 n.a. n.a.

- Receivable from loan issued AC 200 200 207 2

- Other current financial assets (in the scope of IFRS 7) AC 1,512 1,512 - -

- Other current financial assets 
   (not in the scope of IFRS 7) n.a. 1,254 -

- Call option FVPL 4,300 - 4,300 4,300 3

Financial assets

- Shares in affiliated companies FVPL 20 20 20 3

- Participations FVPL 10 10 10 3

Other non-current financial assets

- Other non-current financial assets AC 2,098 2,098 n.a. n.a.

Liabilities

Short-term financial liabilities

- Financial liabilities from leasing obligations n.a. 1,848 1,848 n.a. n.a.

- Liabilities to banks AC 64,057 64,057 n.a. n.a.

Trade accounts payable AC 65,078 65,078 n.a. n.a.

Other current financial liabilities n.a. n.a.

- Continuing involvement n.a. 112

- Contractual liabilities n.a. 165

- Other current financial liabilities  
   (in the scope of IFRS 7) AC 5,434 5,434 n.a. n.a.

- Other current financial liabilities  
   (not in the scope of  IFRS 7) n.a. 20,624 -

- Put option FVPL 3,407 3,407 3,407 3

Long-term financial liabilities

- Financial liabilities from leasing obligations n.a. 11,062 11,062 11,213 2

- Liabilities to banks AC 241,522 241,522 249,729 2

Aggregated according to valuation categories  
in accordance with IFRS 9

Amortized Costs (Assets) AC 182,959 182,959

Fair Value through P&L (Asset) FVPL 4,330 4,330

Amortized Costs (Liabilities) AC 376,091 376,091

Fair Value through P&L (Liabilities) FVPL 3,407 3,407

Key to abbreviations

IFRS 9: 

AC Amortised Cost

FVPL At Fair Value through Profit & Loss
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Cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, (not including those receivables which are separated in 

the framework of a factoring programme), supplies to associated companies and components of other current 

financial assets and current financial liabilities, trade accounts payable and other financial liabilities that pri-

marily have short residual terms are recognized at “Amortized Costs”. The values reported therefore correspond 

approximately to the fair values on the reporting date.

The trade accounts receivable that are separated in the framework of the factoring programme are recognized 

at fair value through profit and loss. 

The current financial assets recognized at fair value through profit or loss or respectively the Nenplas call op-

tion included therein corresponds to the fair value of the call option for the acquisition of the remaining 15 % 

of the shares in the Nenplas Group amounting to € 000s 4,300 (2018: € 000s 4,300). Correspondingly, the call 

option granted to the seller for the 15 % of the Nenplas shares in the amount of the fair value of € 000s 3,834 

(2018: € 000s 3,407) is recognized as a current financial liability. The valuation of the option is based on the 

current and expected EBITDA. The purchase and sale option was exercised on 31 December 2019 and is being 

completed in the business year 2020. 

The fair value of liabilities to banks is determined as a present value taking account of the payments associ-

ated with the liabilities based on the relevant interest structure curve in each case and the credit spread curve 

differentiated according to currencies.

During the course of this business year and the previous business year, there were no reclassifications between 

the measurement categories or reclassifications within the fair value hierarchy. The SURTECO Group decides as 

necessary with the date of the event or the change in circumstances which have caused a regrouping wheth-

er a reclassification is necessary. 

The net gains and losses in the income statement arising from financial instruments are presented in the fol-

lowing table:

The net gains and losses for assets recognized at amortized costs essentially relate to changes in allowanc-

es and currency translations, allowance reversals and interest income. The net gains and losses for liabilities 

recognized at amortized costs result from currency translation and interest expenses. The net gains or losses 

for financial liabilities reported at market value through profit and loss related to the value development of the 

put-call option. 

No derivative financial instruments were held on the reporting date. 

Interest income on financial instruments in the amount of € 000s 449 and interest expenses in the amount of 

€ 000s -6,013 relate to the net gains and losses respectively. 

6. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 

The financial assets shown in the following table are subject to offsetting, implementable global netting agree-

ments or similar agreements. 

Balance sheet offsets occurred with trade accounts payable and on which credits are granted or received.

a. Financial assets

€ 000s 2018 2019

Gains from assets recognized at amortized costs 1,704 1,538

Losses from assets recognized at amortized costs -1,007 -2,829

Gains/losses from assets recognized at amortized costs 697 -1,291

Gains from liabilities recognized at amortized costs 2,493 1,149

Losses from liabilities recognized at amortized costs -8,559 -6,688

Gains/losses from liabilities recognized at amortized costs -6,066 -5,539

Gains from liabilities recognized at fair value through profit and loss 893 -

Losses from liabilities recognized at fair value through profit and loss - -390

Gains/losses from liabilities recognised at fair value through profit and loss 893 -390

€ 000s

Gross 
amounts of 
recognized 

financial 
assets

Gross 
amounts of 
recognized 

financial 
liabilities set 

off in the 
balance sheet

Net amounts 
of finan-

cial assets 
presented in 
the balance 

sheet

Related amounts not set 
off in the balance sheet

Net 
amount

Financial 
instruments

Cash 
collateral 
received

31/12/2019
Trade accounts receivable 54,013 -1,383 52,630 - - 52,630

54,013 -1,383 52,630 0 - 52,630

31/12/2018
Trade accounts receivable 58,633 -1,115 57,518 - - 57,826

58,633 -1,115 57,518 0 - 57,826
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b. Financial liabilities

The amounts of financial assets and liabilities, which have led to no offsetting in the balance sheet, are subject 

to global netting agreements or similar agreements for which offsetting is only possible under specific prereq-

uisites (e.g. insolvency).

X. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

(35) Notes to the cash flow statement

The cash flow statement was prepared in accordance with IAS 7. It is structured on the basis of cash flows 

arising from operating activities, from investment such as financing activities. The effects of changes in the 

group of companies consolidated are eliminated in the relevant items. The cash flows arising from invest-

ment and financing activities are calculated on the basis of payments, cash flow arising from current busi-

ness operations is derived indirectly.

The financial resources only include the cash and cash equivalents of the SURTECO Group reported in the bal-

ance sheet. By contrast, financial controlling in the SURTECO Group is based on the financial balance, which 

apart from cash and cash equivalents also includes debt.

The operating expenses and income with no effect on liquidity and results from disposal of assets, are elim-

inated in cash flow from current business operations.

The cash flow from financing activities is comprised of dividend payments, borrowing and repayment of debts 

and leasing obligations, as well as interest payments from loans and financial liabilities.

(36) Segment reporting

The activities of the SURTECO Group are segmented on the basis of operating segments according to IFRS 8 

within the scope of reporting. The breakdown is based on internal controlling and reporting. It takes into account 

the customer-centric alignment of SURTECO into the Strategic Business Units (SBUs) Decoratives, Profiles and 

Technicals. Each company within the Group is assigned to the appropriate segment essentially in accordance 

with the list “Shareholdings”.

•	 The Segment Decoratives primarily serves the wood-based, flooring, door and furniture industries, and the 

caravan industry. 

•	 The Segment Profiles supplies trade floorlayers and the interior design and construction industries. 

•	 The Segment Technicals is a specialist provider supplying niche markets in the furniture, flooring and cara-

van industries, and in interior design for ships.

The segment information is based on the same recognition, accounting and valuation methods as those used 

in the consolidated financial statements. There are no changes in valuation methods compared with previous 

periods. Assets and liabilities, provisions, income and expenses, as well as earnings between the segments 

are eliminated in the consolidations. Internal sales within the Group are transacted at commercial prices.

The segment working capital describes the difference between current assets and current liabilities. The 

current assets include current liabilities and inventories. 

The Management Board holds the power of decision-making with regard to the allocation of the resources 

and the measurement of the earnings power of the reportable segments. Uniform performance and asset 

values are used in the relevant business segments for this purpose.

The business relationships between the companies in the segments are organized on the basis of dealing at 

arm’s length. Administrative services are calculated as cost allocations.

 

€ 000s

Gross 
amounts of 
recognized 

financial 
liabilities

Gross 
amounts of 
recognized 

financial 
assets set 

off in the 
balance sheet

Net amounts 
of financial 

liabilities 
presented in 
the balance 

sheet

Related amounts not set 
off in the balance sheet

Net 
amount

Financial 
instruments

Cash 
collateral 
provided

31/12/2019
Trade accounts payable 64,289 -1,383 62,906 - - 62,906

64,289 -1,383 62,906 0 - 62,906

31/12/2018
Trade accounts payable 66,193 -1,115 65,078 - - 63,174

66,193 -1,115 65,078 0 - 63,174
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*These are pro-forma values which are used to provide better comparability.

 

Sales revenues were allocated according to the destination of goods delivery. Non-current assets were record-

ed in accordance with the location of the relevant asset.

Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill. 

The non-current assets were allocated to goodwill by regions.

Segment information
€ 000s

SBU 
Decoratives

SBU 
Profiles

SBU 
Technicals

Recon- 
ciliation

SURTECO 
Group

2019

External sales 495,848 92,676 86,748 0 675,272

Internal sales within the SURTECO Group 15,583 1,256 3,318 -20,157 0

Total sales 511,431 93,932 90,066 -20,157 675,272

Depreciation and amortization -32,926 -7,416 -5,001 167 -45,175

Segment earnings (EBIT) 14,266 9,476 2,272 -4,894 21,119

Interest income 575 131 161 -407 460

Interest expenses -2,421 -1,250 -553 -3,122 -7,345

Impairment expenses/income  
in accordance with IFRS 9 0 0 0 -414 -414

Segment earnings (EBT) 14,607 8,347 2,051 -8,788 16,218

Substantial income/expense items -19,156 0 -348 0 -19,504

Share of profit of investments 
accounted for using the equity method 688 0 0 0 688

Segment working capital 98,836 22,896 10,601 -3,065 129,268

Voluntary disclosures

Income tax -7,805 -407 -422 2,172 -6,462

Investments (property, plant and equipment,  
and intangible assets) 24,313 8,960 3,024 70 36,367

Employees 2,407 491 300 19 3,217

2018 *

External sales 502,607 86,308 110,062 0 698,977

Internal sales within the SURTECO Group 16,526 1,277 3,742 -21,545 0

Total sales 519,133 87,585 113,804 -21,545 698,977

Depreciation and amortization -29,586 -5,940 -4,877 -173 -40,576

Segment earnings (EBIT) 25,543 9,345 3,897 -6,582 32,203

Interest income 465 1,113 144 -290 1,432

Interest expenses -2,223 -429 -572 -4,267 -7,491

Impairment expenses/income  
in accordance with IFRS 9 0 0 0 -570 -570

Segment earnings (EBT) 24,406 9,947 3,650 -10,869 27,134

Substantial income/expense items -5,400 -700 0 -6,100

Share of profit of investments accounted for 
using the equity method 541 0 0 0 541

Segment working capital 107,601 19,933 11,984 -3,386 136,132

Voluntary disclosures:

Income tax -6,807 -909 -303 -185 -8,204

Investments (property, plant and equipment,  
and intangible assets) 36,820 7,021 3,576 119 47,536

Employees 2,563 468 277 21 3,329

Segment information by regional markets

€ 000s 2018 2019

Sales  
Revenues

Non-current 
assets Investments

Sales  
Revenues

Non-current 
assets Investments

169,990 233,139 30,877 168,181 239,825 26,967

Rest of Europe 325,193 166,542 6,928 315,573 163,125 5,332

America 141,648 47,869 7,932 133,757 50,414 3,223

Asia/Australia 54,984 30,394 1,800 51,774 31,595 844

Other 7,162 0 0 5,987

698,977 477,944 47,537 675,272 484,959 36,366

Reconciliation of balance sheet total with net segment assets
€ 000s 2018 2019

Balance sheet total 844,541 780,325

Less financial assets

 - Cash and cash equivalents 120,954 83,579

 - Financial assets and investments accounted for using the equity method 2,462 2,627

 - Tax assets / deferred tax assets 23,727 13,958

Segment assets 697,398 680,161

Current and non-current liabilities 491,336 425,692

Less financial liabilities

 - Short-term and long-term financial liabilities 318,489 263,463

 - Tax liabilities / deferred tax liabilities 51,109 35,378

 - Pensions and other personnel-related obligations 12,828 13,765

Segment liabilities 108,910 113,086

Net segment assets 588,488 567,075
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(37) Transactions with non-controlling interests and related companies 
and persons

The following table shows the scope of relationships between the SURTECO Group and the company account-

ed for using the equity method.

The following table shows the scope of relationships between the SURTECO Group and the non-consolidat-

ed companies.

Outstanding items in respect of these companies are not secured. 

The exchange of services essentially comprises the delivery of inventories at market conditions.

On 31 December 2019, the SURTECO Group issued guarantees amounting to € 000s 106 (2018: € 000s 106) 

to a non-consolidated company for the fulfilment of individual contracts by non-consolidated companies. It 

is assumed that no obligations will arise as a result of these guarantees.

(38) Compensation for executive officers and former executive officers 

Supervisory Board

Total compensation of the Supervisory Board for the business year 2019 amounted to € 000s 245 (2018: 

€ 000s 280). It includes basic remuneration of € 000s 206 (2018: € 000s 242) and compensation for  

audit-committee activities of € 000s 39 (2018: € 000s 38). 

Management Board

Most of the remuneration for members of the Management Board is performance based. It includes a fixed 

element and a variable element. The variable element is a bonus based on performance and is calculated 

on the basis of the Earnings Before Tax (EBT) of the Group in accordance with IFRS, taking into account the  

return on sales. It also includes a basis of assessment over several years. The total guaranteed remuneration 

for the active members of the Management Board amounted to € 000s 1,516 (2018: € 000s 1,728) for the 

business year 2019. Out of this amount, € 000s 767 (2018: € 000s 730) were attributable to the fixed com-

pensation, € 000s 520 (2018: € 000s 784) to the performance-based compensation and € 000s 79 (2018:  

€ 000s 114) to fringe benefits and € 000s 150 (2018: € 000s 100) to pension expenses. Out of the total com-

pensation of the active members of the Management Board, € 000s 0 (2018: € 000s 127) are long term,  

€ 000s 520 (2018: € 000s 1,501) are short term and € 000s 150 (2018: € 000s 100) are pension expenses. 

The former Member of the Management Board Dr.-Ing. Gereon Schäfer receives for 2019 an ex gratia pay-

ment totalling € 000s 600 (2018: (April to December) € 000s 450).

The information about individual compensation and the information in accordance with IAS 24 is provided in 

the compensation report of the Management Report of the SURTECO Group and SURTECO GROUP SE.

(39) Auditor’s fee

At the Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2019, professional services firm PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, was appointed as the auditor of the financial statements and au-

ditor to carry out the audit inspection of the interim financial reports for the business year 2019. 

The total fee for the business year amounted to € 000s 778 (2018: € 000s 873). Out of this € 000s 528 (2018: 

€ 000s 661) was attributed to services for auditing the financial statements, € 000s 0 (2018: € 000s 3) to 

other assurance services, € 000s 249 (2018: € 000s 134) to tax consultancy services and € 000s 1 (2018: 

€ 000s 75) to miscellaneous services. The auditing services include auditing of the consolidated financial 

statements and auditing of the separate financial statements of SURTECO GROUP SE and the domestic sub-

sidiary companies. Other confirmation services in the previous year included voluntarily commissioned con-

firmation services. The tax consultancy services essentially relate to consultancy services for the prepara-

tion of tax returns. The other services include project-related consultancy services.  

(40) Events after the reporting date

The novel coronavirus, as a result of which the respiratory disease COVID-19 can be triggered, quickly spread 

across the world with a significant number of infections during the course of 2020. The government meas-

ures taken to prevent the spread of the virus have exerted impacts on the economic activities of companies 

and hence also on their financial reporting. Substantial negative effects can also be expected for the net 

assets, financial position and results of operations of the SURTECO Group.

No further events or developments occurred up to 15 April 2020 which could have resulted in a significant 

change to the recognition or valuation of individual assets or liabilities at 31 December 2019.

€ 000s 2018 2019

Services rendered (income) 1,132 1,905

Services received (expense) 0 0

Receivables (31/12/) 139 149

Liabilities (31/12/) 0 0

€ 000s 2018 2019

Services rendered (income) 805 747

Services received (expense) 0 324

Receivables (31/12/) 537 23

Liabilities (31/12/) 0 0
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XI. Executive Officers of the Company

XII. Declaration of Compliance with the German Corporate 
Governance Code pursuant to § 161 Sentence 1 Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) 

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of SURTECO GROUP SE have submitted the Declaration 

of Compliance in respect of the Corporate Governance Code pursuant to § 161 Sentence 1 Stock Corporation 

Act (AktG) on 19 December 2019 and made this declaration available to shareholders on the website of the 

company at: www.surteco-group.com. 

Management Board
(in the business year 2019)

Name Main activity
Supervisory Board Memberships of other companies 
and other mandates

Wolfgang Moyses
Business Manager,
Munich
(from 1 October 2019)

Chairman of the  
Management Board 

•	Member of the Advisory Board Brabender Inc., South 
Hackensack, USA

•	Customer Member of the Advisory Board Landesbank 
Rheinland-Pfalz, Mainz

•	Member of the Advisory Board of Simona America
•	Member of the Advisory Board of Simona Asia

Dr.-Ing. Herbert Müller
Engineer,
Heiligenhaus
(until 30 September 2019)

Chairman of the  
Management Board, 
Group Strategy

•	Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Ewald Dörken 
AG, Herdecke

Andreas Riedl
Business Administrator,
Donauwörth

Board Member
CFO

-

Members of the Supervisory Board  
(in the business year 2019)

Name Main activity
Supervisory Board Memberships of other companies 
and other mandates

Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Großmann
Engineer,
Hamburg 
(Chairman)

Shareholder of the GMH 
Group, Georgsmarienhütte

•	Member of the Board, Hanover Acceptances Limited, 
London

•	Chairman of the Board of Trustees of RAG Stiftung, 
Essen

Björn Ahrenkiel
Lawyer,
Hürtgenwald 
(until 27 June 2019)

Lawyer -

Dr. Markus Miele
Industrial Engineer,
Gütersloh
(until 27 June 2019)

Managing Shareholder of 
Miele & Cie. KG, Gütersloh

•	Member of the Supervisory Board  
of ERGO Versicherungsgruppe AG, Düsseldorf

•	Chairman of the Advisory Board  
of Wilhelm Böllhoff GmbH & Co. KG, Bielefeld 

Dr. Christoph Amberger
Independent Businessman,
Utting am Ammersee
(Vice Chairman)

Independent Businessman •	Member of the Advisory Board  
of Frischpack GmbH, Mailling

•	Member of the Advisory Board  
of Detia Degesch Gruppe, Laudenbach

•	Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board  
of Klöpfer & Königer GmbH und Co. KG, Garching 

•	Member of the Supervisory Board  
of Erber AG, Getzersdorf, Austria

Andreas Engelhardt
Personally liable  
Shareholder, 
Bielefeld
(Deputy Chairman)

Personally liable shareholder 
of Schüco International KG, 
Bielefeld

•	Member of the Supervisory Board  
of SAINT-GOBAIN ISOVER G+H AG, Ludwigshafen

•	Member of the Supervisory Board  
of BDO AG WPG, Hamburg

Tim Fiedler
Economist, 
Düsseldorf
(from 14 October 2019)

Managing Shareholder of  
G. Schürfeld + Co. (GmbH & 
Co.) KG, Hamburg 

•	Member of the Advisory Board  
of Smart Coloring GmbH, Aachen

•	Member of the Advisory Board of  
Drewsen Spezialpapier GmbH & Co. KG, Lachendorf

•	Member of the Board of Trustees of  
Gustav & Catharina Schürfeld-Stiftung, Lachendorf

Members of the Supervisory Board  
(in the business year 2019)

Name Main activity
Supervisory Board Memberships of other companies 
and other mandates

Jens Krazeisen*
Process Mechanic,
Buttenwiesen 

Chairman of the Works 
Council of SURTECO GmbH, 
Buttenwiesen

-

Tobias Pott
Business Administrator, 
Gütersloh
(from 27 June 2019)

Managing Shareholder of 
Reifen Pott Autoservice 
GmbH, Gütersloh

-

Wolfgang Moyses
Business Manager,
Munich
(until 30 September 2019)

Chairman of the Manage-
ment Board of SIMONA AG, 
Kirn
(until 15 August 2019)

•	Member of the Supervisory Board  
of Brabender Inc., South Hackensack

•	Customer Advisory Board  
of Landesbank Rheinland-Pfalz, Mainz

Udo Sadlowski*
Training Manager, Essen
(until 21 January 2019)

Chairman of the Works 
Council of SURTECO GmbH, 
Gladbeck
(until 21 January 2019)

-

Heinz Dieter Stöckler*
Chairman of the Works 
Council, Essen
(from 5 February 2019)

Chairman of the Works 
Council of SURTECO GmbH, 
Gladbeck

-

Thomas Stockhausen*
Specialist in Safety at Work,
Sassenberg

Chairman of the Works 
Council of SURTECO GmbH, 
Sassenberg

-

Jörg Wissemann
Business Manager,
Schlossborn
(from 27 June 2019)

Managing Director of MSU 
Consulting GmbH, Bad 
Homburg

-

* Employee Representatives

Committees of the Supervisory Board
(as at 31 December 2019)

Presiding Board

Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Großmann (Chairman) Dr. Christoph Amberger Andreas Engelhardt Tobias Pott

Personnel Committee

Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Großmann (Chairman) Andreas Engelhardt Dr. Christoph Amberger Tobias Pott

Audit Committee

Andreas Engelhardt (Chairman) Dr.-Ing. Jürgen Großmann Jörg Wissemann Tobias Pott
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Shareholdings as at 31/12/2019
Town/City Country Consoli-

dated
Percentage 

of shares 
held

Partici-
pation

Parent Company

100 SURTECO GROUP SE Buttenwiesen Germany

BUSINESS UNIT DECORATIVES

401 SURTECO GmbH Buttenwiesen/ Germany F 100.00 100

    Gladbeck/Sassenberg        

321 SURTECO art GmbH Willich Germany F 100.00 401

341 SÜDDEKOR LLC Agawam USA F 100.00 401

405 SURTECO UK Ltd. Burnley United Kingdom F 100.00 401

441 BauschLinnemann North America Inc. Myrtle Beach USA F 100.00 401

443 SURTECO North America Inc. Myrtle Beach USA NC 100.00 401

470 SURTECO Italia s.r.l. Martellago Italy F 100.00 401

501 Global Abbasi, S. L. Madrid Spain F 100.00 401

502 Probos - Plásticos, S. A. Mindelo Portugal F 100.00 501

503 Proadec Brasil Ltda. Sao José dos Pinhais Brazil F 100.00 502

504 Chapacinta, S. A. de C. V. Tultitlán Mexico F 99.99 502

          0.01 501

505 Proadec UK Ltd. Greenhithe (Kent) United Kingdom F 100.00 502

506 Proadec Deutschland GmbH Bad Oeynhausen Germany F 100.00 502

512 SURTECO Australia Pty Limited Sydney Australia F 100.00 401

513 SURTECO PTE Ltd. Singapore Singapore F 100.00 401

514 PT Doellken Bintan Edgings & Profiles Batam Indonesia F 99.00 401

          1.00 513

516 SURTECO France S.A.S. Beaucouzé France F 100.00 401

517 SURTECO DEKOR Ürünleri Sanayi Istanbul Turkey F 99.75 401

   ve Ticaret A.Ş.       0.25 520

518 SURTECO OOO Moscow Russia F 100.00 401

519 SURTECO Iberia S.L. Madrid Spain NC 100.00 401

550 SURTECO USA Inc. Greensboro USA F 100.00 401

560 SURTECO Canada Ltd. Brampton Canada F 100.00 401

561 Doellken-Canada Ltd. Brampton Canada F 100.00 560

572 Canplast Mexico S.A. de C.V. Chihuahua Mexico E 50.00 561

Town/City Country Consoli-
dated

Percentage 
of shares 

held

Partici-
pation

BUSINESS UNIT TECHNICALS

200 Surteco Beteiligungen GmbH Buttenwiesen-
Pfaffenhofen

Germany F 100.00 100

410 Kröning GmbH Hüllhorst Germany F 100.00 200

330 DAKOR Melamin Imprägnierungen GmbH Heroldstatt Germany F 100.00 200

610 SURTECO Svenska AB Gislaved Sweden F 100.00 100

611 Gislaved Folie AB Gislaved Sweden F 100.00 610

       

BUSINESS UNIT PROFILES

520 Döllken Profiles GmbH 
(formerly: Döllken Weimar GmbH)

Nohra Germany F 100.00 100

531 Döllken Sp.z o.o. Katowice Poland F 100.00 520

532 Döllken CZ s.r.o. Prague Czech Republic F 100.00 520

540 Nenplas Holdings Ltd. Ashbourne United Kingdom F 85.00 520

541 Nenplas Ltd. Ashbourne United Kingdom F 100.00 540

542 Polyplas Extrusions Ltd. Stourport-on-Severn United Kingdom F 100.00 541

  JORNA Grundstücks-Verwaltungs-
gesellschaft mbH & Co. KG

Grünwald Germany F   520

  SANDIX Grundstücks-Vermietungs-
gesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt  
Weimar KG

Düsseldorf Germany F   520

F = Full Consolidation   E = Consolidation at Equity   NC = Not Consolidated  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To SURTECO GROUP SE, Buttenwiesen

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AND OF THE GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Audit Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SURTECO GROUP SE, Buttenwiesen, and its subsidiaries 

(the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2019, and the consolidated income 

statement, statement of comprehensive income, consolidated cash flow statement and consolidated statement of 

changes in equity for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2019, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the group manage-

ment report of SURTECO GROUP SE, which is combined with the Company’s management report, for the financial year 

from January 1 to December 31, 2019. In accordance with the German legal requirements, we have not audited the 

content of those parts of the group management report listed in the “Other Information” section of our auditor’s report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

•	 the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as adopt-

ed by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § [Article] 315e Abs. 

[paragraph] 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] and, in compliance with these require-

ments, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial position of the Group as at December 

31, 2019, and of its financial performance for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2019, and

•	 the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position. 

In all material respects, this group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial state-

ments, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of 

future development. Our audit opinion on the group management report does not cover the content of those 

parts of the group management report listed in the “Other Information” section of our auditor’s report.

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations re-

lating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report.

Basis for the Audit Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report in accord-

ance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to subsequently as “EU Audit Regula-

tion”) in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by 

the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those 

requirements and principles are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consoli-

dated Financial Statements and of the Group Management Report” section of our auditor’s report. We are inde-

pendent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of European law and German commercial and 

professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we 

have not provided non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the con-

solidated financial statements and on the group management report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2019. These 

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 

forming our audit opinion thereon; we do not provide a separate audit opinion on these matters.

In our view, the matter of most significance in our audit was as follows:

➊  Recoverability of goodwill

Our presentation of this key audit matter has been structured as follows:

➀  Matter and issue 

➁  Audit approach and findings

➂  Reference to further information

Hereinafter we present the key audit matter:

➊  Recoverability of goodwill

➀	 In the Company’s consolidated financial statements goodwill amounting in total to EUR 162.8 million 

(20.9 % of total assets or 45.9 % of equity) is reported under the “Goodwill” balance sheet item.

	 Goodwill is tested for impairment by the Company once a year or when there are indications of impairment 

to determine any possible need for write-downs. The impairment test is carried out at the level of the groups 

of cash-generating units to which the relevant goodwill is allocated. As at January 1, 2019, a change in the 

Group’s internal management and reporting system resulted in a redefinition of the business segments as 

well as an adjustment of the groups of cash-generating units.. The carrying amount of the relevant cash-gen-

erating units, including goodwill, is compared with the corresponding recoverable amount in the context of 

the impairment test. The recoverable amount is generally determined using the value in use. The present 

value of the future cash flows from the respective group of cash-generating units normally serves as the 

basis of valuation. Present values are calculated using discounted cash flow models. For this purpose, the 

adopted medium-term business plan of the Group forms the starting point which is extrapolated based on 

assumptions about long-term rates of growth. Expectations relating to future market developments and 

assumptions about the development of macroeconomic factors are also taken into account. The discount 

rate used is the weighted average cost of capital for the respective group of cash-generating units. The im-

pairment test determined that no write-downs were necessary.

	 The outcome of this valuation is dependent to a large extent on the estimates made by the executive direc-

tors with respect to the future cash inflows from the respective group of cash-generating units, the discount 

rate used, the rate of growth and other assumptions, and is therefore subject to considerable uncertainty. 

Against this background and due to the complex nature of the valuation, this matter was of particular sig-

nificance in the context of our audit.

➁	 As part of our audit, we assessed the methodology used for the purposes of performing the impairment 

test, among other things. After matching the future cash inflows used for the calculation against the 

adopted medium-term business plan of the Group, we assessed the appropriateness of the calculation, 

in particular by reconciling it with general and sector-specific market expectations. Furthermore, we 

evaluated the redefinition of the business segments as of January 1, 2019 on the basis of the internal re-

porting to the Executive Board and satisfied ourselves by inspecting the minutes of the Executive Board 

SURTECO Annual Report 2019      SURTECO GROUP   |   INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT   |      

142 143



In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going 

concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there 

is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the group management report that, 

as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects, consistent with 

the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents 

the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive directors are responsible for such 

arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a group 

management report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to pro-

vide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group Manage-

ment Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group management 

report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is consist-

ent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the Ger-

man legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well 

as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and 

on the group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for 

Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a ma-

terial misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 

in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these consolidated financial statements and this group management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of the 

group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 

to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one re-

sulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal controls. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and 

of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the group management report in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

audit opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the reasonableness 

of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures.

meetings that the new segment structure corresponds to the internal, regular reporting. In this context, 

we have also understood the resulting adjustment of the groups of cash-generating units. In addition, we 

assessed the appropriate consideration of the costs of Group functions. In the knowledge that even rel-

atively small changes in the discount rate applied can have a material impact on the value of the entity 

calculated in this way, we focused our testing in particular on the parameters used to determine the dis-

count rate applied, and assessed the calculation model. In order to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the 

projections, we evaluated the sensitivity analyses performed by the Company. Taking into account the 

information available, we determined that the carrying amounts of the respective cash-generating units, 

including the goodwill, were adequately covered by the discounted future cash flows.

	 Overall, the valuation parameters and assumptions used by the executive directors are in line with our 

expectations and are also within the ranges considered by us to be reasonable.

➂ 	The Company’s disclosures on goodwill are contained in section IX (23) of the notes to the consolidated fi-

nancial statements.

Other Information

The executive directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the follow-

ing non-audited parts of the group management report:

•	 the statement on corporate governance pursuant to § 289f HGB and § 315d HGB

•	 the separate non-financial group report pursuant to § 315b Abs. 3 HGB

The other information comprises further the remaining parts of the annual report – excluding cross-referenc-

es to external information – with the exception of the audited consolidated financial statements, the audited 

group management report and our auditor’s report. 

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report do not cov-

er the other information, and consequently we do not express an audit opinion or any other form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to consider 

whether the other information

•	 is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the group management report or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

•	 otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial State-

ments and the Group Management Report

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that com-

ply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German com-

mercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with 

these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial perfor-

mance of the Group. In addition the executive directors are responsible for such internal control as they have 

determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from ma-

terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or con-

ditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related dis-

closures in the consolidated financial statements and in the group management report or, if such disclosures 

are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 

cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabil-

ities, financial position and financial performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the 

group management report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions.

•	 Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the consolidated financial statements, its 

conformity with German law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides.

•	 Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors in the group 

management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the sig-

nificant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate 

the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate 

audit opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial 

unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 

we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant in-

dependence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reason-

ably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 

of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are there-

fore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 

public disclosure about the matter.

OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation

We were elected as group auditor by the annual general meeting on June 27, 2019. We were engaged by the 

supervisory board on October 18, 2019. We have been the group auditor of SURTECO GROUP SE, Buttenwiesen, 

without interruption since the financial year 2011.

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional report to 

the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).

German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Jürgen Schumann.

Munich, 15 April 2020

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Jürgen Schumann		  ppa. Bernhard Obermayr

Wirtschaftsprüfer		  Wirtschaftsprüfer

(German Public Auditor)		  (German Public Auditor)

Responsibility Statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial 

statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group, and the 

group management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the po-

sition of the group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 

development of the group.

Buttenwiesen, 15 April 2020

The Management Board

Wolfgang Moyses                       Andreas Riedl 	                      Manfred Bracher
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BALANCE SHEET (HGB) (SHORT VERSION) INCOME STATEMENT (HGB) (SHORT VERSION)

Annual Financial Statements    |   SURTECO GROUP SE    |   

€ 000s 31/12/2018 31/12/2019

ASSETS

Intangible assets 17 27

Tangible assets 403 318

Investments

- Interest in affiliated enterprises 297,767 297,767

- Notes receivable to affiliated enterprises 16,526 16,221

- Participations 1 1

Fixed assets 314,714 314,334

Receivables and other assets

 - Receivables from affiliated enterprises 221,431 191,712

 - Other assets 8,094 8,545

Cash in hand, bank balances 102,067 59,782

Current assets 331,592 260,039

Prepaid expenses 712 612

647,018 574,985

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

Subscribed capital 15,506 15,506

Additional paid-in capital 170,177 170,177

Retained earnings 103,394 101,580

Net profit 8,529 6,202

Equity 297,606 293,465

Tax accruals 1,341 0

Other accruals 4,719 2,050

Accrued expenses 6,060 2,050

Liabilities to banks 304,891 241,149

Trade accounts payable 295 75

Liabilities to affiliated enterprises 33,333 33,191

Other liabilities 4,820 5,051

Liabilities 343,339 279,466

Deferred income 13 4

647,018 574,985

The Annual Financial Statements of SURTECO GROUP SE have been published in the Federal Gazette  
(Bundesanzeiger) and filed at the Company Register of the Local Court Augsburg (Amtsgericht Augsburg). 
The Balance Sheet and the Income Statement (short version) from these Annual Financial Statements are 
published here. PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, audited the Annual 
Financial Statements and provided them with an unqualified auditor’s opinion.

The Annual Financial Statements can be requested from SURTECO GROUP SE, Johan-Viktor-Bausch-Str. 2, 
86647 Buttenwiesen, Germany.

€ 000s 1/1/-31/12/
2018

1/1/-31/12/ 
2019

Sales revenues 2,161 1,643

Income from profit and loss transfer agreements 14,733 13,820

Other operating income 1,663 690

Personnel expenses -6,576 -3,894

Amortization and depreciation on intangible assets  
and property, plant and equipment -172 -132

Other operating expenses -4,487 -3,902

Income from long-term securities and loans 
from financial assets 441 429

Interest income -5,216 -4,074

Income taxes -1,652 -260

Earnings after tax 895 4,320

Other taxes -95 67

Net income 800 4,387

Transfer from retained earnings 7,729 1,815

Net profit 8,529 6,202
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GlossarY

Calendering
Calendering is used for the manufacture of plastic foils. Calenders are comprised of two or more heatable 

rollers which are configured in parallel and rotate in opposite directions. The polymer being processed is first 

mixed, then gelled (pre-heated) and finally calendered. The foil is then taken over by other rollers. This ena-

bles the thickness to be further reduced. The foil is also embossed. This is again a calender. The embossing 

roller is tempered, the counter-roller is cooled. After the embossing process has been carried out, the foil is 

cooled and rolled up.

Calenders are also used for embossing, smoothing, compressing and satinizing papers and textiles. In the 

paper industry, surface properties such as gloss and smoothness are improved while at the same time re-

ducing the thickness. An array of different effects can be achieved by changing the pressure, temperature 

and roller speed.

Corporate Governance
Corporate Governance is understood as the legal and factual regulatory framework for the management and 

supervision of an enterprise.

Dealing-at-arm’s length principle
Services between legally independent companies of a group are exchanged at intercompany prices. Inter-

company prices must be subject to the test of dealing-at-arm’s length, which would involve an offset of an 

exchange of services between affiliated companies at conditions that were agreed or would have been agreed 

under comparable circumstances with or among third parties.

Derivative financial instruments
Financial products in which the market value can be derived from classic underlying instruments or from 

market prices such as interest rates or exchange rates. Derivatives are used for financial management at 

SURTECO in order to limit risk.

EBIT
Earnings before financial result and income tax

EBITDA
Earnings before financial result, income tax and depreciation and amortization

EBT
Earnings before income tax

Equity-Methode
Method for presenting participations in companies whereby a controlling influence can be exerted over their 

business and financial policy. The participation is initially valued at acquisition cost and this value is then 

adjusted on a pro rata basis to reflect performance of the companies accounted for using the equity method.

Extrusion
The process of extrusion involves plastics, being squeezed through a nozzle in a continuous procedure. The 

plastic is initially by the application of heat and internal friction, and homogenized. The necessary pressure 

for extruding the material through the nozzle is built up in the extruder. After the plastic has been extruded 

from the nozzle, it generally sets in a water-cooled calibration. The merging of like or unlike plastic melts 

before exiting from the extruder nozzle is also known as coextrusion.

Fully impregnated paper 
During the process of full impregnation, papers are saturated in a resin bath and then dried. The impregnated 

papers are generally varnished and they can then be applied as finish foils to substrate materials, such as 

MDF boards or fibre boards. 

German Corporate Governance Code
The German Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contains principles, recommendations and sugges-

tions for the Management Board and the Supervisory Board that are intended to ensure that the company 

is managed in the enterprise’s best interests. The Code highlights the obligation of Management Boards 

and Supervisory Boards – in line with the principles of the social market economy – to take into account 

the interests of the share-holders, the enterprise’s workforce and the other groups related to the enterprise 

(stakeholders), to ensure the continued existence of the enterprise and its sustainable value creation (the 

enterprise’s best interests).

Hybrid products
This product group includes finish foils that combine the technical and visual advantages of several different 

base materials such as paper, plastic or real metal in a multi-layered structure.

Impairment test
Periodic comparison of an asset´s book value with its fair value. A company must record an impairment charge 

if it determines that an asset´s fair value has fallen below its book value. Goodwill, for example, is tested for 

impairment on at least an annual basis.

Impregnated products
Impregnates are special papers (generally decorative papers) which are saturated in a resin bath in the 

same way as fully impregnated materials. However, in contrast to these materials, the impregnates are not 

provided with a final varnish coating. They only receive their final surface when they are compressed with 

the wood-fibre boards.

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
IASB has been the abbreviation for the International Accounting Standards Board. The function of the IASB is 

the development and revision of international accounting standards (IFRS - International Financial Reporting 

Standards).
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Three-month report January – March 2020
Six-month report January – June 2020
Nine-month report January – September 2020

Annual Report 2020
Three-month report January – March 2021
Annual General Meeting 
Dividend payout
Six-month report January – June 2021
Nine-month report January – September 2021

15 May 2020
14 August 2020

13 November 2020

30 April 2021
14 May 2021

23 June 2021
28 June 2021

13 August 2021
12 November 2021

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
The IFRIC is a committee in the International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation. The function of 

the IFRIC is to publish interpretations of accounting standards in cases where different or incorrect inter-

pretations of the standard are possible, or new factual content was not adequately taken into account in the 

previous standards.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are international accounting standards. They comprise 

the standards of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the International Accounting Standards 

(IAS), the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) and the interpretations of the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the former Standing Interpretation Committee (SIC).

Preimpregnated paper 
In contrast to fully impregnated materials, the raw paper has already been impregnated with resin when it is 

supplied as a preimpregnated material. The paper is printed and then varnished. 

Release papers
These are an auxiliary material used in the compression of melamine impregnates with wood-fibre boards. 

The release papers form a separating layer between the hot pressed boards and the material. The release 

paper controls the texture and the degree of gloss finish to be provided on the surface being generated. 

SE
Abbreviation for Societas Europaea – legal form of a European joint-stock company 
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TEN YEAR OVERVIEW

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Sales revenues in € 000s 388,793 408,809 407,720 402,115 618,469 638,394 639,815 689,651 698,977 675,272

Foreign sales in % 67 67 69 70 72 72 73 75 76 75

EBITDA in € 000s 62,547 56,116 51,699 59,660 62,842 64,957 74,338 83,093 72,779 66,294

Depreciation and amortization in € 000s -20,934 -21,099 -22,045 -22,613 -35,235 -33,847 -33,461 -38,423 -40,577 -45,175

EBIT in € 000s 41,613 35,017 29,654 37,047 27,607 31,110 40,877 44,670 32,202 21,119

Financial result in € 000s -9,520 -12,089 -8,463 -9,056 -5,344 -4,293 -5,840 -11,155 -5,069 -4,901

EBT in € 000s 32,093 22,928 21,191 27,991 22,263 26,843 35,037 33,515 27,133 16,218

Consolidated net profit in € 000s 21,754 12,484 15,028 21,876 18,464 17,721 23,867 26,192 18,630 9,428

Balance sheet total in € 000s 480,996 482,135 467,250 626,109 636,669 655,727 673,869 842,596 844,541 780,325

Equity in € 000s 212,969 216,504 223,178 311,025 321,101 334,381 346,552 349,236 353,205 354,633

Equity ratio in % 44 45 48 50 50 51 51 41 42 45

Average number of employees for the year 1,990 2,050 1,994 2,114 2,682 2,727 2,736 3,091 3,329 3,217

Number of employees at 31/12 2,003 2,005 1,967 2,664 2,705 2,695 2,833 3,295 3,304 3,174

Capital stock in € 11,075,522 11,075,522 11,075,522 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731

Number of shares at 31/12 11,075,522 11,075,522 11,075,522 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731 15,505,731

Earnings per share in €
(by weighted average of shares issued) 1.96 1.13 1.36 1.86 1.19 1.14 1.54 1.69 1.20 0.61

Dividend per share in € 0.90 0.45 0.45 0.65 0.70 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.55 *

Dividend payout in € 000s 9,968 4,984 4,984 10,079 10,854 12,405 12,405 12,405 8,528 *

PROFITABILITY INDICATORS

Return on sales in % 8.2 5.6 5.3 6.9 3.6 4.2 5.5 4.8 3.8 2.4

Return on equity in % 10.8 5.9 6.9 7.3 6.0 5.5 7.2 7.8 5.5 2.7

Total return on total equity in % 8.9 6.8 6.6 5.9 5.1 5.5 6.5 5.0 4.1 3.0

* (Proposal by the Management Board and Supervisory Board at a later date)
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Contact 

Martin Miller
Investor Relations and Press Office
T: +49 (0)8274/9988-508
F: +49 (0)8274/9988-515
ir@surteco-group.com
www.surteco-group.com

SURTECO GROUP SE 
Johan-Viktor-Bausch-Straße 2
86647 Buttenwiesen
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